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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements in this Form 10-K arevérd-looking statements within the meaning of Bnivate Securities Litigation Reform Act
of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1988¢ Section 21E of the Securities Exchange A&98#. The words "estimate," "plan,”
"intend," "expect,"” "anticipate,” "believe" and sian expressions are intended to identify forwavdKing statements. These forward-looking
statements are found at various places through@utdport and in the documents incorporated hdrgireference. EarthLink, Inc. disclaims
any intention or obligation to update or revise &myvard-looking statements, whether as a resutiest information, future events or
otherwise. Although EarthLink, Inc. believes thatéxpectations are based on reasonable assumjticas give no assurance that its goals
will be achieved. Important factors that could @astual results to differ from estimates or prigers contained in the forward-looking
statements are described under "Safe Harbor Statémdtem 7.

PART |
Iltem 1. Business.
Overview

EarthLink, Inc. ("EarthLink," "we," "us" dour") is a leading Internet service provider I3, providing nationwide Internet access and
related value-added services to its individual basiness customers. Our primary service offerimgsarrowband, broadband or high-speed,
and wireless Internet access services; web hostimdjadvertising and related services. We provigdebooad range of services to more than
five million paying customers through a nationwidgtwork of dial-up points of presence ("POPs")atianwide broadband footprint and
wireless technologies. We have grown our custorase lorganically through traditional marketing chedarsuch as direct marketing; media
advertising; alliances with strategic partners ardinal equipment manufacturers; retail outletsj &ord of mouth and referral marketing.
We have also grown our customer base through atignsof businesses and subscriber bases.

Our corporate offices are located at 13&&dAtree St., Atlanta, Georgia 30309, and our lvele@ number at that location is (404) 815-
0770.

Business Strategy

Our business strategy is to sustain anid loyion our strong position in the U.S. Internetems market by focusing on high-growth
opportunities such as broadband and value-pricedwhand access to generate organic subscribertigrgwoviding a high-quality customer
experience, including a full range of Internet asceervices and innovative applications; improwpgrating margins to fund growth; and
emphasizing customer service.

Focus on high-growth opportunities

We provide broadband Internet access ses\it markets throughout the U.S., and as of Deee3ib, 2003, we had approximately
1.1 million broadband subscribers. We have estaddis national broadband footprint via multiple Vésale vendors, enabling us to deploy
digital subscriber line ("DSL"), cable, fixed wiesls and/or satellite broadband solutions in meltiphrkets throughout the U.S. We believe
the broadband market will continue to grow, andwilecontinue our efforts to expand our broadbaadtprint by pursuing new partnerships
and relationships with wholesale broadband progidéfe are also exploring the commercial feasibditgmerging alternative broadband
access technologies, including power line, fixetelgiss or other non-terrestrial based means ofact@expand our broadband footprint
and/or deliver broadband services more cost effelgti

By acquiring PeoplePC Inc. ("PeoplePC"Juity 2002, we acquired a platform that acceleratadoarticipation in the growing value
segment of the narrowband Internet access marketenprice is a significant factor in the buyingid®n. Continued declines in
telecommunications costs have allowed companiesgin offering Internet access services with lichitenctionality and support services at
comparatively lower prices. We have grown our vagitieed narrowband subscriber base with the Pe@ptefering from 68,000 subscribers
at December 31, 2002 to 424,000 subscribers atrbleee31, 2003. We anticipate the market for valtieeg narrowband access will
continue to grow, and we anticipate an increasmies and marketing efforts to increase our v-priced narrowband customer ba



Deliver the highest quality, user- controlled experience on the Internet

We continue to focus significant resourgesttracting and retaining subscribers by progdhem with fast and reliable access to the
Internet through a variety of platforms and sersjéecluding broadband, premium-priced narrowbamadlje-priced narrowband and wireless
Internet access services. We are focused on deplgydducts and services that enhance customegsét experiences, such as
spamBlocker, Pop-Up Blocké&M , EarthLink Spyware BlocketV, TotalAccess® 2004 with Parental Controls (inchgdthe EarthLink Kid
Patrol Browser), web browsing acceleration-relapplications for value-priced and premium narrowbanbscribers and email-by-phone. In
addition, we provide a customizable Personal $tage™ that lets subscribers create their own lapogtt to the Internet. As a result,
subscribers can search, organize, shop and comatesniwia email, chat or Instant Messaging—all frome aonvenient location. We are
devoted to delivering innovative products, serviaed applications that customers can use to enlihagdnternet experience and believe
customer adoption of these innovative tools impsomestomer loyalty and reduces churn.

Improve operating margins to fund growth

We are intensely focused on delivering emvices more cost effectively by capitalizing ba tontinuing decline in telecommunications
costs, leveraging the benefits of scale througbautbusiness, reducing and more efficiently hamgtire number of calls to our contact
centers, exploring cost effective outsourcing opyoaties and streamlining our internal processebaperations. We leverage our national
footprint by continuing to migrate customers to éeost telecommunications networks, utilizing votudiscounts and managing the netv
to increase its efficiency. We are also focuseihgoroving our marketing effectiveness and utilizowgt effective distribution channels.

In January 2003, we closed four contacterefacilities to reduce overall costs. In Janu2094, we announced a plan to further
restructure our contact center operations andaelgutsourced contact center service providersedtite plan, we will close contact center
operations in Harrisburg, Pennsylvania; Rosevillalifornia; San Jose, California; and Pasadenafddaib and reduce our contact center
operations in Atlanta, Georgia by the end of thet fjuarter of 2004. We will continue to managerapeg expenses, leveraging our
infrastructure as we continue our efforts to graw customer base and revenues.

Emphasize customer service, fostering increased customer loyalty and lower churn

We have always been committed to delivehig-quality customer service and technical suppod have been recognized by several
industry publications and groups as a leader inighog excellent customer service. We believe thhigh level of customer satisfaction
allows us to compete more effectively. We focugtencustomer relationship in an effort to increlasalty and reduce churn.
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Service Offerings

Our primary service offerings include navband Internet access, including premium and vphiged dial-up access over traditional
telephone lines and wireless access through atyaridandheld and laptop devices; high-speed oadiband access via DSL, cable modem,
satellite and dedicated circuits; web hosting; addertising and related marketing services. Wevdesubstantially all revenues from services
and related fees, and such amounts representedtinaor®7% of total revenues for the year ended BDbee 31, 2003. The remaining
revenues relate to sales of equipment and deviss by our customers to access our services.

Narrowband access

Narrowband access revenues consist of mofetbs charged to customers for dial-up and wazlaternet access; installation fees; early
termination fees; equipment revenues associatddseglting personal computers, handheld deviceo#imet Internet access devices; and fees
charged for the shipping and handling of the desvared other equipment. We had approximately 4.Domiharrowband subscribers at
December 31, 2003. Narrowband access revenuesp®880 million, or 69% of total revenues, for theay ended December 31, 2003.

We anticipate value-priced narrowband astegontribute significantly to future subscrilaed revenue growth; however, we expect
modest declines in our premium-priced narrowbarx$siiber base and revenues. We also anticipaténceuot differentiation of narrowband
access and related services in pricing and seoffeeings designed to meet the unique needs obousts.

Broadband access

Broadband access revenues consist of mofees charged for high-speed, high-capacity aceeséces including DSL, cable, satellite
and dedicated circuit services; installation fezsly termination fees; reactivation fees; shippng handling fees; and proceeds from the
of modems and other access devices to our substritde had approximately 1.1 million broadband stibsrs at December 31, 2003. For
the year ended December 31, 2003, broadband aesesaies were $361.1 million, or 26% of total raxes

We expect broadband access to contribgtefigiantly to future subscriber and revenue groadtthe market for broadband servi



continues to increase and as we continue our efforéxpand our broadband footprint and the vanépccess methods we use to deliver
broadband services.

Web hosting

We lease server space and provide webnrgpsérvices to companies and individuals wishinigaiee an Internet or electronic commerce
presence. For the year ended December 31, 2003hegting revenues were $49.9 million, or 3% ofltodgenues. We had approximately
161,000 web hosting accounts at December 31, 2003.

Content, commerce and advertising

We generate content, commerce and advegtisvenues by leveraging the value of our custdrase and user traffic; through paid
placements for searches, powered by the Googlefélseagine; fees generated through revenue shamraggements with online partners
accessed through our properties; commissions red¢érem partners for the sale of partners' sericesir subscribers; and sales of
advertising on our various online properties, sashhe Personal Start Page. Our content, commedcadyertising revenues were
$25.9 million, or 2% of total revenues, for the yeaded December 31, 2003.
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Marketing Channels
Our sales and marketing efforts consigheffollowing programs:

Advertising. We advertise our services in print, billboat&ctronic and broadcast media. During the fa@®3, we launched a new
advertising campaign featuring the tagline, "EainklRevolves Around YogM." The campaign highlights EarthLink's suite ofinaltools
and services which are designed to enhance therast overall experience. The campaign includéeme and regional television, radio,
print and online ads.

Direct Marketing.  We promote our services directly to customerhé form of direct mail offers, which generalijvartise a free or
discounted trial period to attract consumers to sig for our services, and through promotionaliitssia packages, periodicals and
newspapers.

Original Equipment Manufacturers.  We have marketing arrangements with a numbkrasfing hardware and software manufacturers
to include our Internet access software pre-iredadin or included with their products. Our hardweamd software manufacturing partners
include, among numerous others, Apple Computet, Blellett Packard and IBM.

Sorint Partnership.  We have a marketing relationship with Sprintg@@weation ("Sprint"). During the year ended Decentiie 2003,
our relationship with Sprint generated approximafe)% of our total gross organic subscriber addgio

Retail. We market our products and services througdil retitlets such as Best Buy, Circuit City, Radia&k Micro Center, Staples,
Fry's and OfficeMax.

Affinity Marketing.  Our affinity marketing partners include many A&lubs, AARP and several airlines including DeNmrthwest
and Southwest. Partners typically bundle our Ireeatcess software with their own goods or sentizeseate a package that promotes
EarthLink to potential customers.

Member Referral Program.  We believe existing customers are among out mgsortant marketing tools. We currently waive one
month of standard Internet access service feesaftin customer who refers a new customer to Eaitts_gervice.

Customer Service and Technical Support

We believe reliable customer service aetnéal support are critical to attracting new aeihining existing customers. We provide the
following services for our premium-priced narrowlabroadband and wireless Internet access subssribe

. toll-free, live telephone assistance available selagys a week, 24 hours a day;
. email-based and live chat assistance availablenstags a week, 24 hours a day;

. help sites and Internet guide files on the Eartklvieb site; and



. printed reference materi:

For our value-priced narrowband Interneteas services, we provide free email-based custsampgort and technical assistance seven
days a week, 24 hours a day. We also offer fremmey billing and software installation support tetephone seven days a week from 9 a.m.
to 9 p.m. EST, and we offer fee-based technicgbsripria telephone for technical matters other thaftware installation seven days a week,
24 hours a day.

Technical Developments and Service Enhancements
Total Access 2004

In September 2003, we launched TotalAc26€sgl, the newest version of EarthLink's Interneeas software, which provides new tools
and email features to enhance customers' Intexpetiences. Key features of TotalAccess 2004 ireldp-Up Blocker, spamBlocker,
Spyware Blocker, EarthLink Accelerator, parentaitecols, privacy tools and Easy Switch, a tool @lidws customers to make the switch
from AOL, MSN and other competitors easier by intjmgy their address book and sending change-of-addretifications. Other features
include a task panel that provides aiek access to the Internet, email and personal space; automatic notification when newer versiif
relevant software are available; improved emailuiezs; and enhanced search features powered bylé&oog

Pop-Up Blocker

Pop-Up Blocker, offered to subscribers@tadditional charge, is software designed to preadwertising windows from appearing
above (pop-up) or under (pop-under) a customeris brawser window. In June 2003, we launched thestaversion of Pop-Up Blocker,
equipped with a feature that combats rich mediaoadbie Internet. Rich media ads are pop-ups onateid and audio-enabled cartoons that
move across web pages.

spamBlocker

In May 2003, we began offering, at no addil charge, a spaimlocking feature that enables EarthLink subscribemsiminate virtually
100 percent of all junk email. spamBlocker invoképermission-based' auto-response to spam andagmieed email addresses, asking the
sender to fill out a short, easy-to-complete foongain access to the EarthLink subscriber's inthdlkeaEarthLink subscriber's discretion.
EarthLink has been a leader in the fight againatspnd aggressively combats spam through tectsvbaions, litigation and customer
education.

EarthLink Accelerator

In July 2003, EarthLink began offering Edink Accelerator in its premium-priced narrowbdnternet access service offering at no
extra charge. This enables faster surfing speedsilising a web acceleration technology that rezhuthe size of web pages and page
elements sent to customers' browsers.

Soywar e Blocker

Spyware Blocker, introduced in October 208ffers customers protection against spyware. Spgis a type of software that secretly
forwards information about a computer user's ordictivities to another individual or company withdoe user's knowledge or permission. In
January 2004, EarthLink began offering a spywatedadi®n program, SpyAudit, to all Internet useesfiof-charge.

Virus Blocker

Virus BlockePMis a server-side, anti-virus tool that helps préwemscribers from downloading Internet-borne é8jsvorms and other
malicious code via email messages and attachmentdastheir EarthLink email accounts. EarthLinlgae offering Virus Blocker in
November 2003

PeoplePC

PeoplePC's access software is distincsapdrate from TotalAccess 2004, which is used ligadeservice to the EarthLink-branded
premium narrowband subscribers. The PeoplePC sdfthas less features and applications than Totaeksc2004 and uses Smart Dialer
technology that allows customers to access thegaahd most reliable connection. PeoplePC's asodtsgare also includes spam filtering
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and other applications to enhance the customedesnet experience. In addition, PeoplePC begaminffe fee-based web accelerator service
using technology similar to that used in EarthLidcelerator late in 2003.

POPs and Network Infrastructure

We provide subscribers with Internet acdébssugh both EarthLink managed facilities anddparty telecommunications POPs for dial-
up and DSL services. Using a combination of own@@®®and vendor-managed POPs, we provide Internétas on a nationwide basis,
while managing the timing and magnitude of captgdenditures. Approximately 92% of the U.S. popalatan access EarthLink's dial-up
Internet service, including both premium-priced aatue-priced access services, through a locghielee call.

We use a strategy of buying Internet actress third-party providers in locations wherestmore economical to do so. These are
typically less densely populated areas or regiamsre/the provider can achieve greater economissabé. We continually evaluate owned
versus outsourced decisions and, if warranted, insigll an EarthLink POP to replace or overlap adag-managed POP. Customers located
in a geographic area not currently serviced bycallBOP can access the Internet through EarthLdi&laup toll free service.

We have access to POPs with third-partlugiaproviders through network service agreemeritis lievel 3 Communications, Inc.,
Sprint, UUNet, Qwest Corporation ("Qwest") and otbarriers. We have agreements with BellSouth Qarpan ("BellSouth™), Covad
Communications Group, Inc. ("Covad"), SBC Commutiaes Inc. ("SBC"), Qwest, Verizon Communications.|("Verizon"), and
WorldCom, Inc. ("WorldCom") that allow us to pro@dSL services. We also have agreements with Tiraen&f Cable and Comcast
Corporation ("Comcast") that allow us to providedutband services over each company's cable netwaftkTime Warner Cable markets
and certain Comcast markets.

Regulatory Environment
Overview

The regulatory environment relating to business and operations is evolving. A number gitlative and regulatory proposals under
consideration by federal, state and local goverrad@mtities may lead to the repeal, modificatioiinéroduction of laws or regulations which
do or could affect our business. Significant aaggulation for our business include telecommatiins industry regulation in general,
broadband access and Internet taxation.

Telecommuni cations Regulation

Neither the Federal Communications Commis$iFCC") nor any other governmental agency diyeetgulates ISPs, which are
classified as providers of unregulated "informatsenvices" rather than regulated "telecommunicatgesrvices" under the terms of the
Telecommunications Act of 1996. Accordingly, masgulations which apply to telephone companies @her@ommon carriers do not apply
to us. For example, we are not currently requicecantribute a percentage of gross revenues tetsalservice funds used to support local
telephone service and advanced telecommunicaterngss for schools, libraries and rural healtredacilities. However, we are permittec
bill our customers to recover universal servicefeassed through to us by our telecommunicationdors. The classification of Internet
access services as "information services" may disge states from regulating ISPs as telecommuoitsatarriers or imposing similar
subsidy obligations.

Nevertheless, Interneglated regulatory policies are continuing to depebnd it is possible that we could be exposeddalation in the
future. For example, the FCC could subject cedaivices offered by ISPs to regulation as telecomaations services. Among other things,
the FCC could decide to regulate voice servicesigea over the Internet as "telecommunicationsd ttelecommunications
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service" even though Internet access itself mightie regulated. Such a decision could result ibaisg subject to universal service fees,
access fees and other fees imposed on regulatmbiemunications providers as well as heightenets @dsegulatory compliance.

We could also be affected by any changherability of customers to reach our network tigtodial-up telephone connections without
any additional charges. The FCC has ruled that #®gnhanced service providers and are thus eXemnptaccess charges that apply to
traditional telecommunications companies. Locaphbne companies typically assess charges on listapide companies for the use of the
local telephone network to originate and termidaigy-distance calls, generally on a per-minuteshasfe could be adversely affected by any
regulatory change that would result in the impositdf access charges on ISPs because this woulthsdillly increase the cost of using the
Internet.

State public utility commissions generdigve declined to regulate enhanced or informatomices. However, some state commissi



continue to review potential regulation of theseviees. There can be no assurance that state tegukuthorities will not seek to regulate
aspects of these activities as telecommunicatiensces.

Broadband Access

We purchase last mile broadband accessiftoombent local exchange carriers ("ILECs"); cotitpwe local exchange carriers
("CLECs"); and cable providers. The term "last thdenerally refers to the element of telecommuinicest networks that is directly connec
to homes and businesses. ILECs are required bgrduaw to make last mile access available on adiscriminatory basis to ISPs like
EarthLink, although there are currently regulatergposals which could change this requirement. €plividers, for the most part, have not
been required to make last mile access availal®Rs like EarthLink. However, an October 2003nglby the U.S. Court of Appeals for the
Ninth Circuit held that the provision of cable bdband Internet services includes a "telecommurmnatservice." This ruling may ultimate
require cable providers to make last mile acceagiable on a non-discriminatory basis to ISPs; heavewe cannot predict the outcome of
any appeals of this decision. We are also unalyeddict the outcome of any further legal, regulatr legislative proceedings or the impact
of any such regulations or rulings on our busireassoperations. Time Warner Cable makes last mdess available to EarthLink and other
ISPs as a condition of the AOL-Time Warner mergearthLink also offers broadband Internet access cable to Comcast customers in the
Seattle and Boston area markets.

In August 2003, the FCC issued its UNE fimial Review Order which, among other things, efiatés line sharing. Line sharing allows
CLECs such as Covad to purchase the High Frequeorion of the Loop (HFPL) from an ILEC for lesaththe cost of purchasing the en
line. Purchasing the HFPL as a separate Unbundétadtk Element allows Covad to offer wholesale Bs®kvices to EarthLink on a cost-
effective basis. The UNE Triennial Review Orderlhaffect Covad (and other CLECSs) as follows:

. All of Covad's existing customers provisioned thghiine sharing as of October 2, 2003 (the effectiate of the order) are
"grandfathered" indefinitely at current rates, teramd conditions.

. Covad may also sign up new customers using lingrehduring the first year of a three year trawsitperiod, i.e., until
October 2, 2004. However, the rate Covad will geg/ILECs for these customers will increase from 25% full unbundled
loop rate for the first year, to 50% of a full umiiled loop rate for the second year, and to 75%fafl unbundled loop rate for
the third year.

. After this three year transition period, these mexstomers will have to be served through line Spjtarrangements (line
sharing with another CLEC which provisions the ldoap), through the use of a stand-alone coppap,lor through a
negotiated arrangement with an ILEC.

. Covad would have to make negotiated arrangemetttstiag ILECs for any line sharing beyond Octobe2@)4 or would have
to purchase a separate telephone line to servaemyustomers beyond this date.

Various parties, including Covad and Eaitlkl_have filed appeals and petitions for reconsitien of the portion of the FCC's UNE
Triennial Review Order which eliminates line shgrirlowever, there is no guarantee that any of thffeets will be successful. If Covad is
unable to obtain reasonable line sharing rates fr@MLECs, its wholesale DSL offerings for new tomsers may become uneconomic or it
may cease selling wholesale broadband servicesefercustomers. In either event, we may use otheteshle broadband providers'
networks, including ILECs' and/or cable provideetworks, for new subscribers. While EarthLink emtty has contractual arrangements
with other broadband vendors, such an event magecBarthLink to incur additional costs and/or pagréased rates for wholesale broadband
services from other vendors in the future.

The availability of and charges for lastertiroadband access with most ILECs are governambbiracts with up to three years remail
on current contract terms. Two of our ILEC broadbproviders set availability and prices based oifféd rates, which are subject to change
from time to time. We do not believe our contragith the ILECs are subject to the aforementionad-kharing regulations; however, future
regulatory actions regarding lirstraring as well as the competitive environment adersely affect our ability to extend or renew oumren
contracts with ILECs on terms acceptable to us.haie agreements with varying terms with all of significant CLECs and broadband
network providers. The following table summarizes éxpiration dates for these agreements:

Contract Expiration

Broadband Network Provider Month Year

Covad Communications Group, Ir July 2004
Comcast Corporatio July 200¢
Subsidiaries of SBC January 200¢

Septembe 200¢
Subsidiaries of BellSouth Corporati March 200¢



Verizon Communications In October 200¢
Time Warner Cabli Decembe 200¢

The availability and/or pricing of last midccess with our wholesale broadband providechjding ILECs, CLECs, and cable providers,
among others, at the expiration of current termsugifs cannot be assured, and may reflect regojair legislative as well as competitive ¢
business factors. There can be no assurance thatlMe able to extend our current contracts amteacceptable to us. The inability to
extend current contracts with last mile broadbacwtas providers or to expand the availability ef laile broadband access could materially
adversely affect our business.

In light of regulatory and market developss our strategy for gaining continuing accesstiolesale broadband DSL and cable sen
at favorable prices is to create active and heatmpetition for our business between ILECs andecpimviders in major markets. To do tl
we are attempting to gain access to more cablemsgsbver which we can offer our services and toahestnate our ability to deliver
meaningful volumes of customers to our DSL andeabbviders by continuing to actively grow our ifebmoadband subscriber base. We are
also exploring the commercial feasibility of emegialternative broadband access technologies,dimgdpower line, fixed wireless and ott
technologies, to gain wholesale broadband accesasan added means of creating wholesale broadttaeds competition.

Internet Taxation

The tax treatment of Internet access aedtenic commerce is currently unsettled. Variotgppsals at the federal and state levels could
impose taxes on Internet access and the onlineégleods and services. The federal Internet Taéed#om Act, which was signed into law in
1998, placed a

moratorium on taxes on Internet access and mulijderiminatory taxes on electronic commerce. Thisatorium expired in

November 2003. The U.S. Congress is currently dadpsiie Internet Tax N¢-Discrimination Act which would extend and possikikpand
the moratorium. Certain states have enacted vatéxgs on Internet access and/or electronic conenard selected states' taxes are being
contested on a variety of bases, including thertddeternet Tax Freedom Act. Nonetheless, the toeoran resulting from the federal Inter
Tax Freedom Act may not be renewed, state tax laasnot be successfully contested, and future ataddederal laws imposing taxes or
other regulations on Internet access and electamiomerce may arise, any of which could increasectst of providing Internet services ¢
could materially adversely affect our business.

Competition
ISP Market

We operate in the Internet services maskbich is extremely competitive. Current and praspe competitors include many large
companies that have substantially greater marlestemce and greater financial, technical, marketirjother resources than we have. We
compete directly or indirectly with the followingitegories of companies:

. established online services companies, such as Wareer (AOL) and the Microsoft Network (MSN);

. local and regional ISPs;

. free or value-priced ISPs such as United Online,; In

. national telecommunications companies, such as Aa&d WorldCom;

. regional Bell operating companies, such as SBCizgrrand BellSouth;

. fixed wireless service providers such as Sprint;

. content companies, such as Yahoo!, who are expalir service offerings;

. cable television companies providing broadband ss;dacluding, among others, Comcast, Charter Camgations, Inc. and

Cox Communications, Inc.; and

. utility and local and long-distance telephone conigs

Competition is likely to continue increagimparticularly as large diversified telecommunimas and media companies provide ISP
services and as ISPs consolidate into larger, wamgetitive companies. Diversified competitors reagtinue to bundle other content,
services and products with Internet access servpgsntially placing us at a significant compeétidisadvantage



Increased competition for users of Integevices and content may result in lower subscdbawth rates for our Internet services.
Lower subscriber growth rates may result in lowersg organic subscriber additions or increasednctaies. We continue implementing
plans to address churn, including adding new feattm enhance our premium narrowband service pffsriHowever, we can provide no
assurance that our plans will be successful ingatiitng the adverse impact increased churn may tiaveir subscriber base and operating
results. In addition, competitive factors outsid®war control may also adversely affect future satécustomer churn.

The pricing of our Internet access servisesibject to competitive pressures that are beyom control. As the market for Internet
access remains competitive, some providers havgetidess for their Internet services to maintaimorease their market share, causing us
to reduce (or preventing us from raising) feesaAssult, our revenues may not grow at anticipedégs, and our business may suffer.

As the ISP market continues to develop@ndpetition intensifies, competitors may mergeasnt strategic alliances that would incre
their ability to compete with us for subscribersjtors to our

websites and advertisers. These relationships tsaynagatively impact our ability to form or maiimaur own strategic relationships.
Telecommunications Industry

The intensity of competition in the teleaaomications industry has resulted in significartlishes in pricing for telecommunications
services that we purchase, and such declines taa/a favorable effect on our operating performahimavever, the price declines have
caused some telecommunications companies to erperfsmancial difficulty. Our business could be at¥gely affected if one or more of our
telecommunications providers were to experienc@sggienough difficulties to impact service availdpior if telecommunications
bankruptcies generally reduced the level of conipatamong telecommunications providers.

Proprietary Rights

We rely on a combination of copyright, ®athrk, patent and trade secret laws and contra@siictions to establish and protect
technology and proprietary rights and informatidfe require employees and consultants and, wherbp@ssuppliers and distributors to si
confidentiality agreements. However, there candoassurance that the steps taken to protect temiesland trade secrets will be sufficient
to prevent misappropriation of our technology and mroprietary rights and information or that cottijees will not independently develop
technologies that are substantially equivalentupesior to our technologies. From time to timegdiparties have alleged that certain of our
trademarks and technologies infringe on their iatélial property rights. None of these claims hed én adverse effect on our ability to
market and sell services. However, there can bessorance that those claims will not have an adwdfect in the future or that others will
not assert infringement claims against us in theréu

Employees

As of December 31, 2003, we employed 3{8&®anent and temporary employees, including 1s@0& and marketing personnel, 1,
operations and customer support personnel and @@&astrative personnel. None of our employeesepeesented by a labor union, and we
have no collective bargaining agreement.

In January 2004, as part of our efforteduce support costs and improve efficiencies, weanced we will increase our reliance on
outsourced contact center service providers antsezpiently, will close four contact centers. Thesate of the four contact centers is
expected to impact approximately 1,300 employes\guily customer support personnel.

Available Information

EarthLink files annual, quarterly, and emtrreports, proxy statements, and other docunvéttishe Securities and Exchange
Commission (the "SEC") under the Securities Exckaiet. The public may read and copy any matertas we file with the SEC at the
SEC's Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, Ml&shington, DC 20549. The public may obtain infation on the operation of the
Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-8B@-$330. Also, the SEC maintains an Internet wibthiat contains reports, proxy and
information statements, and other information rdiay issuers, including EarthLink, that file elextically with the SEC. The public can
obtain any documents that we file with the SECtt: Hwww.sec.gov.

We also make available free of charge atfnaugh our Internet web site (http://www.eartklimet) our Annual Report on Form 10-K,
Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reportfam 8-K, and, if applicable, amendments to theg®rts filed or furnished pursuant to
Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act as ssareasonably practicable after we electronidadiysuch material with, or furnish it to,
the SEC.

We also provide a copy of our Annual Rep@atmail, at no cost, upon receipt of a writtequest to the following addres



Investor Relations
EarthLink, Inc.

1375 Peachtree Street
Atlanta, GA 30309
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Item 2. Properties.

We maintain facilities and offices at varsdocations throughout the U.S. for general cafmopurposes, including technology centers,
customer contact centers, office space and ouocatg headquarters. Our principal executive offaresin Atlanta, Georgia, where we lease
approximately 328,000 square feet. We also leagmajnately 141,000 square feet of office spaceaftministrative personnel in Pasadena,
California. As of December 31, 2003, we maintainad occupied leased space for contact centersfiod purposes in Atlanta, Georgia;
Pasadena, California; Harrisburg, Pennsylvaniagiitls, California; and San Francisco, CaliforriaJanuary 2004, we announced a plan to
restructure our contact center operations andaelgutsourced contact center service providerseWtite plan, we will close contact center
operations in Harrisburg, Pennsylvania; Rosevillalifornia; San Jose, California; and Pasadenafddaib and reduce our contact center
operations in Atlanta, Georgia by the end of thet fjuarter of 2004.

Certain of the above leases include scleedibhse rent increases over the respective leass. tEhe total amount of base rent payments
is being charged to expense on the straight-lingnogeover the terms of the leases. In additioméottase rent payments, we generally pay a
monthly allocation of the buildings' operating erpes. We believe we have adequate facilities td meefuture growth needs.

We have three technology centers at vafimeegions in the U.S. which contain computer aledteonic equipment. We own one and
lease two of our three technology centers. Thentglolgy centers have a combined square footagepbajmately 28,000 feet. Our
technology centers host and manage Internet coraenatil, web hosting and authentication applicatiand services. We may acquire
additional amounts of storage and processing cgpacielatively small increments and, consequemly expect our future capital
expenditures for processing and storage capacltg fargely variable to our needs.

EarthLink has developed, maintains and atesra network of approximately 7,000 access nwsrdoed maintains additional access
numbers for backup and other purposes. We use hination of owned POPs and vendor-managed POPthLEs maintains a leased
backbone connecting 18 cities and our three tecigyatenters. Through a combination of backboneiipgand transit, EarthLink's network
is capable of supporting more than five Gigabitsgeeond of traffic at peak.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

We are a party to various legal proceedthgsare ordinary and incidental to our businbsmagement does not expect that any
currently pending legal proceedings will have aemat adverse effect on our results of operatiarfinancial position.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Securityolders.
During the quarter ended December 31, 20@3¢ were no matters submitted to a vote of dgdunlders.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters.

EarthLink's common stock is traded on tlaesdaq National Market under the symtelLNK." The following table sets forth the high ¢
low sale prices for EarthLink's common stock fa¥ fferiods indicated, as reported by the Nasdagh&tMarket.

EarthLink, Inc.

High Low




YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002

First Quartel $ 1352 $ 7.81
Second Quarte 10.3¢ 5.44
Third Quartel 6.8t 4.4C
Fourth Quarte 7.24 4,32
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

First Quartel $ 6.34 $ 4.5C
Second Quarte 8.7t 5.3t
Third Quartel 9.3¢ 6.5¢
Fourth Quarte 10.7¢ 7.2¢
YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2004

First Quarter (through February 27, 20 $ 114¢ $ 8.9¢
Price

The last reported sale price of EarthLidenmon stock on the Nasdaqg National Market on lrlr27, 2004 was $9.13 per share.

Holders

There were 2,107 holders of record of Hantkis common stock on February 27, 2004.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid cash divisem our common stock. We intend to retain allfeitearnings to finance future growth a
therefore, do not anticipate paying any cash diuildan the foreseeable future.

Equity Compensation Plans

Information regarding securities authorifedissuance under our equity compensation plaref ®ecember 31, 2003 is set forth under
the caption "Executive Compensation—Executive @ffi€ompensation—Amended Equity Compensation Plamriration” in our Proxy
Statement referred to in Item 10 or in a subseqaer@ndment to this report. Such information is ipoocated herein by reference.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following selected consolidated finahciata should be read in conjunction with "Managetis Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations" #redconsolidated financial statements and notastinécluded elsewhere in this Report.

Year Ended December 31,

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Statement of operations data:

Revenue! $ 670,43 $ 986,63( $ 1,244,921 % 1,357,42 $ 1,401,931
Operating costs and expenses 866,11: 1,381,43: 1,601,45! 1,517,44. 1,468,89.
Loss from operations (195,68() (394,80)) (356,53() (160,02) (66,964
Net loss (173,69¢) (345,92) (341,06.) (148,03)) (62,199
Deductions for accretion dividends (1) (14,106 (23,730 (29,88() (19,98Y) (4,586€)
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $ (187,800 $ (369,65) $ (370,94) $ (168,020 $ (66,780

(169 $ (299 $ 79 % 1) s (0.42)

@

Basic and diluted net loss per share (2)

Weighted average shares outstanding 113,63° 123,59: 135,73t 151,35! 157,32

Cash flow data:

Cash provided by (used in) operating activi $ 44217 $ (127,169 $ 47,38¢ % 18,95¢ % 101,72¢
Cash used in investing activities (339,749 (351,73) (287,98¢) (36,437) (45,177)
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities 672,68: 467,88t (10,119 (24,48%) (88,887

As of December 31,




1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

(in thousands)
Balance sheet data:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 685,75 $ 674,74t  $ 42402¢ $ 382,06 $ 349,74(
Investments in marketable securities — — 169,99} 133,37: 138,12¢
Cash and marketable securities 685,75 674,74t 594,02: 515,43 487,86!
Total assets 1,109,14 1,486,13 1,182,78: 1,023,55: 827,02(
Long-term debt, including long-term portion of capieases 188,36° 13,472 2,427 937 342
Total liabilities 350,69:- 303,88t 331,72 331,25! 283,35'
Accumulated deficit (328,379 (698,03() (1,068,97) (1,236,99) (1,303,77)
Stockholders' equity 758,45: 1,182,25: 851,05 692,30( 543,66
) Reflects the accretion of liquidation dividends®eries A and Series B convertible preferred stéek3 annual rate, compounded quarterly, and¢beetion of a dividend

related to the beneficial conversion feature inoadance with Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITFyuésNo. 98-5. During 2003, the holder convertedestiaining shares of
Series A and Series B convertible preferred statdk common stock. Consequently, there are currentighares of Series A or Series B convertiblegorefl stock outstanding

and no associated dividend obligations.
@) In Ferl)ruary 2000, each outstanging share of thistieg EarthLink Network, Inc. common stock was leawged for 1.615 shares of common stock of Earthaird each

outstanding share of then existing. MindSprin ises,. Inc. common stock \ exchanged for one ommon stock of EarthLjnk. . .
@) Investmen?ssln mar(f<eta le securities con |rst %tEgg rslﬁes clasrsw(]ecpas aval\f\é%?e-for-sglg aﬂ&l‘matusrjg%s greater than %0 (?ays 1l'r0m the diadéequisition. EarthLink has

invested primarily in U.S. corporate notes and tabaeked securities, all of which have a minimuweistment rating of A, and government agency notes.
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion of our financiaralition and results of operations should be reazbnjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto included elsewhéhésiReport.

Safe Harbor Statement

The Management's Discussion and Analydisadiner portions of this report include "forwararking” statements (rather than historical
facts) that are subject to risks and uncertairttiascould cause actual results to differ matgrifsthm those described. Although we believe
that the expectations expressed in these forwankifg statements are reasonable, we cannot prah@aseur expectations will turn out to be
correct. Our actual results could be materiallyedént from and worse than our expectations. Wapect to such forwaldoking statement
we seek the protections afforded by the Privatei@®ges Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These riskslude, without limitation, (1) that we
may not be able to successfully implement our bbaad strategy which would materially and adverséigct our subscriber growth rates
future overall revenues; (2) that we may not susfcdly enhance existing or develop new products serdlices in a cost-effective manner to
meet customer demand in the rapidly evolving maideenternet services; (3) that our service ofigd may fail to be competitive with
existing and new competitors; (4) that competifiveduct, price or marketing pressures could cagge lose existing customers to
competitors, or may cause us to reduce pricesuoservices; (5) that our commercial and alliancarggements, including a marketing
arrangement with Sprint, may be terminated or n@tybe as beneficial to us as management anticip@gethat declining levels of economic
activity, increasing maturity of the market forémet access, or fluctuations in the use of therhat could negatively impact our subscriber
growth rates and incremental revenue levels; @)we may experience other difficulties that limitr growth potential or lower future ovet
revenues; (8) that service interruptions could hammbusiness; (9) that we have historically narbprofitable and we may not be able to
sustain profitability; (10) that our third-partytaerk providers may be unwilling or unable to prilnternet access; (11) that we may be
unable to maintain or increase our customer lef@is do not have uninterrupted and reasonablyepriccess to local and long-distance
telecommunications systems for delivering dial-ng/ar broadband access, including, specificallgt thtegrated local exchange carriers and
cable companies may not provide last mile broadlzacess to us on a wholesale basis or on terntgoicas that allow the company to gr
and be profitable in the broadband market; (12) weamay not be able to protect our proprietarhmetogies or successfully defend
infringement claims and may be required to ent&msing arrangements on unfavorable terms; (18gthaernment regulations could force
to change our business practices; (14) that wermagxperience the level of benefits we expecbimection with restructuring our contact
centers and may not otherwise be able to contailcaats; and (15) that some other unforeseen diffés may occur. This list is intended to
identify some of the principal factors that coultise actual results to differ materially from thdsecribed in the forward-looking statements
included herein. These factors are not intendedpgoesent a complete list of all risks and uncetigs inherent in our business, and should be
read in conjunction with the more detailed cautrgregatements included in our other filings witle thecurities and Exchange Commission.

Overview

EarthLink, Inc. ("EarthLink," "we," "us" dour") is a leading Internet service provider I3, providing nationwide Internet access and
related value-added services to its individual lamsiness customers. Our primary service offerimgsarrowband, broadband or high-speed,
and wireless Internet access services; web hoséingdces; and advertising and related marketingses. We provide our broad range of
services to more than five million paying customérsugh a nationwide network of dial-up pointpoésence ("POPs"), a nationwide
broadband footprint and wireless technologies. \&fivd
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substantially all revenues from services, primadriernet access services, and related fees, amdreuenues represented 97% or more of
total revenues for each of the three years in gimgd ended December 31, 2003. The remaining reaserelate to sales of equipment and
devices used by our subscribers to access ourcsstvi

The Internet access market in the U.S. ghamatically from the mid-1990's through 2000 lhat experienced slower growth since as
the market has reached a mature stage of growtbroXjmately 70 million households are estimatetidee had Internet access services at
December 31, 2003, and about three to four miltiew households are currently adding Internet aceasis year. Within the total Internet
access market, the market for traditional, fullgtteed, unlimited narrowband dial-up access sesyistich are typically priced at $17.95 to
$23.95 per subscriber per month, is shrinking btihé most common service. Focused, value-pricedwband access providers offer
services with a limited set of features priced dgfly at $9.95 to $14.95 per month and are culyedgmonstrating an ability to grow by
attracting households new to the Internet or cuiimernet users interested in reducing their ob$tternet access. Broadband or high-speed
access is typically priced at $30 to $50 per mamith is growing rapidly, having added an estimabedndllion households in 2003 to an
estimated total of 22 million households at the eh#003. The largest competitors in broadband ssceee the cable companies and regional
bell operating companies ("RBOCs") offering broaubaccess over their own cable or telephone lines.

EarthLink provides all three types of ascdescribed above (traditional, fully-featured nasvand access; value-priced narrowband
access; and broadband access). Our subscribegizgdérom approximately 5.0 million paying subsetig at December 31, 2002 to
approximately 5.2 million paying subscribers at Brmber 31, 2003. Total revenues increased from $43&illion during the year ended
December 31, 2002 to $1,401.9 million during tharyended December 31, 2003. While our overall sitieschase grew over the last year,
the mix of customers has shifted toward broadbandices, reflecting the growth of this componenthaf Internet access market and our
expanding broadband footprint and offerings, amnehtol value-priced Internet access services regultom the acquisition of PeoplePC Inc.
("PeoplePC"). Our traditional, premiupriced narrowband subscriber base has been deglieflecting the increasing maturity of this seeu

Our goal is to sustain and build upon drorgy position in the U.S. Internet access markgbbusing on high-growth opportunities such
as broadband and value-priced narrowband accegntrate organic subscriber growth; providing &itgality customer experience,
including a full range of Internet access servimed innovative applications; improving operatingrgiigs to fund growth; and emphasizing
customer service.

We operate in a highly competitive marlatdach of our service offerings, and the competiginvironment impacts the churn rates we
experience as well as the number of new customerarevable to add. Churn measures the percentagestoimers that discontinue EarthL
services, and management uses churn rates to #ssepsality of EarthLink's service offerings andi estimate the life of a customer.
Because we operate in a highly competitive enviremiywe may experience high levels of churn asaltref events beyond our control. In
addition, competitors may use aggressive marketffagts to attract new subscribers which may adgrsnpact the number of customers
are able to add. However, to attract and retaitoousrs, we continue to focus on improving the higiadity Internet experience EarthLink
offers, including providing superior customer aadhnical service and differentiating our productd aervices with innovative and useful
tools that improve the Internet experience. We afsginue to seek out new marketing partners, ssdBest Buy and RadioShack, in our
efforts to compete more effectively in adding cuas¢os and expand our distribution opportunities. &baless, we expect our customer mix
will continue to shift from premium narrowband talwe-priced narrowband and high-speed Internetsaceervices, although more modestly
than the rates experienced over the previous taosy&Ve also expect competitive pressures willltésontinued aggressive promotional
pricing
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offers on our premium narrowband and broadbandsaceervice offerings, which may adversely impactadility to grow revenues.

One component of EarthLink's strategy faréasing its broadband customer base is to eitstar cost-effectively purchase wholesale
broadband access. EarthLink's strategy for gaiogrdinuing, cost-effective wholesale broadband s€c®to create active and healthy
competition for EarthLink's business between incanibocal exchange carriers ("ILEC"s) (including ®8s) and cable providers in major
markets. However, we continue to experience resistffom RBOCs and cable providers in gaining effgetive, wholesale access to their
networks over which we could provide our high-spaecess services. We have agreements with maig &®BOCs for wholesale access;
however, we continue to observe competitive r@idding by the RBOCs for high-speed access witltoatesponding declines in the prices
for wholesale access, which inhibits our abilityctimpete on a costffective basis. Cable providers have generallistes granting EarthLin
wholesale access to their networks to provide Isiglied access services. Cable providers have notrégeaired by law to make access
available. While an October 2003 ruling by the WC8urt of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit may ultine$t require cable providers to make last
mile access available to ISPs, we cannot predicbtlicome of any appeals of this decision. Earthisralso exploring the commercial
feasibility of emerging alternative broadband asdeshnologies to gain wholesale broadband aceesasaan added means of creating
wholesale broadband access competit



We have been intensely focused on and bage successful in improving operating margin2dé3, we reduced telecommunications
cost per subscriber by optimizing network capaaiiy entering into more favorable agreements widttenmunications service providers.
We also improved the efficiency of our customerparpefforts by closing four contact centers. TdHer reduce costs and increase
efficiencies, in January 2004, we announced plamedgtructure our contact center operations anttidurely on outsourced contact center
service providers. Under the plan, we will closatagt center operations in Harrisburg, PennsylydaRéseville, California; San Jose,
California; and Pasadena, California and reducecontact center operations in Atlanta, Georgiaheyend of the first quarter of 2004. We
continue to analyze opportunities to more costotiffely deliver our Internet access services witrgacrificing the quality of services we
provide and, consequently, we expect to continudetmte resources to evaluate the cost structuserdbusiness. However, we may not
experience the level of benefits and related cagings we have historically realized or expectdalize in connection with further
restructuring our contact center operations orafrour other cost reduction efforts.

We generate lower percentage gross prafgimns on our broadband access services than astloer principal forms of Internet access
and related services. Based on management's essinbabadband gross margins are not currentlycserii to generate positive operating
profits. Despite broadband access services becomlager percentage of our business, we have weproverall operating profit margins to
date by reducing telecommunications costs per oustén all product lines; reducing total operati@msl customer support expenses; and
increasing other operating expenses, including @¢aed administrative expenses and acquisitioatedlamortization, more slowly than
revenues. We believe gross margins on our broadbdecebs services will become sufficient over timeesult in broadband access services
contributing positively to overall operating praofitargins as a result of our continuing to redufectenmunications costs per customer,
customer support costs, and direct sales and niragkexpenses required to add new broadband cussoiMer can provide no assurance that
we may experience the overall cost savings thagxpect or that we have experienced historically.

Specifically, we believe the most importéatttors for us to deliver continued improvementsverall profits are the following:

. Containing the rate of decline of our traditionaemium-priced narrowband access subscribers atues, avoiding more
aggressive promotional pricing than currently eigrazed and continuing to reduce and leverage dpgrapsts
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. Continuing the growth of our PeoplePC-branded, exgdticed narrowband access offering in spite of metition from current
and new competitors
. Renewing, extending or otherwise entering into whale broadband access agreements with telecormationi& providers,

including RBOCs and cable providers, at competitimd improved wholesale broadband access pricesratige event there
are adverse changes in the retail pricing envirarirfee broadband access services, at wholesalelbaval access prices that
decrease sufficiently to at least coincide withliges in retail prices

However, the factors we believe are insental to the achievement of our goals, includirgfdctors identified above, may be subjec
competitive, regulatory, and other events and oistances that are beyond our control. Consequeaitfygugh we have successfully
improved overall profits during the three-year pdrended December 31, 2003, we can provide noasseithat we will be successful in
achieving any or all of the factors identified abpthat the achievement or existence of such faetdl result in profit improvements, or that
other factors will not arise that would adversdfget future profits.

Strategic Alliances

We have a marketing relationship with Sp@orporation ("Sprint"). During the years endeccBmber 31, 2002 and 2003, our
relationship with Sprint generated approximatel$ol@f EarthLink's total gross organic subscriberitias. Sprint may pursue relationships
with other ISPs, and a significant decrease imtimaber of gross subscriber additions generatedi¢iirour relationship with Sprint would
adversely affect our results of operations.

We have an agreement with Time Warner CahteBright House Networks, companies whose netsvpass more than 22 million
homes, to offer our broadband Internet services thadr systems. In connection with the agreenmiginbe Warner Cable and Bright House
Networks receive compensation from EarthLink fargiag the EarthLink service and related Intermaffic. In the third quarter of 2001, v
started providing services to subscribers via timeteorks, and as of June 30, 2002, our full paelafdhigh-speed Internet access, content,
applications and functionality was available in38Imarkets served. As of December 31, 2003, ninare 20% of our broadband subscribers
were serviced via either the Time Warner Cablerigl House Networks network.

We have a strategic alliance with Apple @ater, Inc. ("Apple"). In connection with this afice, we serve as the default ISP in Apple's
setup software on its Macintosh branded line of mat@rs through January 4, 2005. We are the exdusivault ISP for dial-up, ISDN and
digital subscriber line ("DSL") services on Macisitiocomputers sold in the U.S., and we pay Appleé&mh gross organic subscriber addition
generated as a result of our alliance. Apple mayiteate the agreement at any time with 90 daysracivaotice. There can be no assurance
that Apple will not terminate the agreement or thatwill be able to extend our arrangement with ledpeyond January 4, 2005, and a
significant decrease in the number of gross subscedditions generated through our relationshtp vipple would adversely affect our
results of operation:



Acquisitions and Asset Purchases

In December 2001, we acquired Cidco Incaafeml ("Cidco"), a developer, distributor and pdwriof email appliances and related
services. Since our acquisition of Cidco, we hawvided Cidco's affordable, portable and easy-®amail appliances such as the
MailStation and related Internet services. Durimg year ended December 31, 2003, we ceased adnketimg of the MailStation products
and services but intend to continue providing sEwito MailStation customers that are currentlivat#d or may activate in the future.
Accordingly, we reduced the carrying value of M&lt®n hardware by $4.8 million to its estimated mealizable value, and the writwn is
included in telecommunications service and equigroests for the year ended December 31, 2003.
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In January 2002, we acquired the propryesaftware platform of OmniSky Corporation ("OmnySkin a Bankruptcy Code Section 363
purchase of assets. OmniSky was a provider of egeetlata applications and services for use on edbitices. During 2003, we decided to
discontinue providing services to certain custonsergported by and to cease adding subscriberg t@tmniSky platform. Accordingly, we
reduced the carrying value of the acquired softveaue: hardware by $2.4 million based on the estichaiteire cash flows of the customers
who continue to be supported by the OmniSky platfaand the writedown is included in telecommunications service agdipment costs f
the year ended December 31, 2003.

In July 2002, we acquired PeoplePC. Pedplg@vides value-priced Internet access using aeftisient technology platform and a st
page customizable for marketing partners. PeopkB&provides a membership package that includearad-name computer, unlimited
Internet access, customer support and an in-hormamtyg ("Membership Package"). In the transactwa,acquired approximately 518,000
PeoplePC prepaid, bundled subscribers ("Membefshgiomers") and approximately 55,000 value-priceshthly billed subscribers. The
PeoplePC business accelerated our efforts to capatenarket a value-priced access service andnipete in the value-priced Internet access
market. Beginning in the first quarter of 2004, ple®C discontinued sales of Membership Packageshwg@nerated revenues from the sale
of personal computers but did not contribute megfity to gross margins, and, as a result, PeoplisR©ow focused solely on the sale of
value-priced, monthly billed access services.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth consolidafedncial and operating data as well as the peagenof total revenues represented by certain
items in our Consolidated Statements of Operationthe periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

% of % of % of
2001 Revenues 2002 Revenues 2003 Revenues

(in thousands, except employee data)
Statement of operations data:

Revenues
Narrowband acces $ 999,25 80 $ 1,037,82! 76 $ 965,02! 68
Broadband access 167,93! 13 250,59: 19 361,12: 26
Web hosting 59,26 5 53,21( 4 49,90: 8
Content, commerce and advertis 18,47¢ 2 15,79 1 25,87¢ 2
Total revenues 1,244,92i 10C 1,357,42: 10C 1,401,93 10C
Operating costs and expenses:
Telecommunications service and equipment costs 509,51« 41 543,98 40 519,14¢ 37
Sales incentive 67,91¢ 5 37,66¢ 3 21,17¢ 2
Total cost of revenues 577,43. 46 581,65( 43 540,32! 3¢
Sales and marketing 327,95 26 373,48: 28 382,96 27
Operations and customer support 339,49( 28 324,55! 24 297,04! 21
General and administrative 127,84 10 123,37¢ 9 127,66+
Acquisitior-related amortization (1 217,48: 18 110,88 8 84,29¢ 6
Facility exit costs (2) — — 3,492 — 36,59¢ 3

Intangible asset write-off (3) 11,25: 1 — — — —



Total operating costs and expenses 1,601,45: 12¢ 1,517,44; 112 1,468,89. 10t

Loss from operation (356,53() (29) (160,02 12) (66,969 (5)

Write-off of equity investments in other compan(éy (10,000 — (65C) — (202) —

Interest income and other, net 25,46¢ 2 12,63¢ 1 4,972 —

Net loss (341,06:) (27) (148,03)) (11) (62,199 (5)

Deductions for accretion dividen (29,88() ) (19,987 @) (4,58¢6) —

Net loss attributable to common stockholc $ (370,94) (30 $ (168,020 12) $ (66,780 (5)
. =& N 5 N N |

Cash flow data:

Cash provided by operating activities $ 47,38t $ 18,95¢ $ 101,72¢
| | |

Cash used in investing activities $ (287,98¢) $ (36,43) $ (45,179
| | |

Cash used in financing activiti $ (10,119 $ (24,485 $ (88,887
| | |

Member data:

Narrowband subscribe 4,20 4,03t 3,98¢

Broadband subscribers 471 779 1,061

Web hosting accounts 16¢ 173 161

Total subscribers at end of year (5) 4,84 4,987 5,20¢

Member activity:

Subscribers at beginning of year 4,69( 4,847 4,987

Gross organic subscriber additic 2,20z 2,04: 2,70¢

Acquired subscribers (5) 42¢ 816 76

Adjustment (6) — — (152)

Churn (2,477) (2,21%) (2,41

Subscribers at end of year (5) 4,84: 4,987 5,20¢

Average monthly subscriber churn 4.3% 3.8% 4.0%

Employee data:

Number of employees at year end 6,73¢ 5,10¢ 3,33¢

Represents the amortization of intangible asséte(dhan software) acquired in the acquisitionstber companies and subscriber bases.

(€Y
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@) In 2002, facility exit costs resulted from closiagr Phoenix contact center facility. In connectigith the closing of the facility, we incurred apgimately $3.5 million of costs,
including $1.7 million for employee, personnel arthted costs; $0.5 million for real estate anddemmunications service termination costs; and #ili&n in asset write-
downs.

In 2003, facility exit costs resulted from closiogntact center facilities in Dallas, Texas; SacnaimeCalifornia; Pasadena, California; and Seaftlashington. In connection w
the closing of these facilities, we incurred appneately $36.6 million of costs, including $10.7 hiah for employee, personnel and related costs;Z8llion for real estate and
telecommunications service termination costs; ahd #illion in asset write-downs.

@) In February 2001, we renegotiated our commercidlgovernance arrangements with Sprint and our sk@umarketing and co-branding arrangements witinSpere
terminated. Accordingly, we recorded a non-cashighaf approximately $11.3 million to write-off umartized assets related to the marketing anbreoing arrangements w

Sprint.

(4) We have made equity investments in a number ofr @tbpanies. Management regularly evaluates thevezability of its equity investments in other ccamges based on the
performance and the financial position of those panies as well as other evidence of market valbe.Write-off of equity investments in other commniepresents losses
incurred to write those investments down to thetimeated realizable value. The company's equitgstiments include an investment in eCompanies Ver@uoup, L.P.,
("EVG"), a limited partnership formed to investdomestic emerging Internet-related companies. Skytd@h, EarthLink's Chairman of the Board of Direstas a founding
partner in EVG. EVG also has an affiliation witha@panies, LLC ("eCompanies"). Sky Dayton is a feemahd director of eCompanies. The write-offs afigginvestments
included charges of $6.0 million, $0.6 million ad@.2 million during the years ended December 30,12@002 and 2003, respectively, to write-down Bairtk's investment in
EVG.

(5) The amount of acquired subscribers reported foyése ended December 31, 2002 does not includexzippately 518,000 Membership Customers that puthasMembership
Package prior to the date of our acquisition off&®C, and the reported amount of subscribers Beoémber 31, 2002 and 2003 excludes approxima&1y000 and 160,000
Membership Customers (including 99,000 internatidd@mbership Customers), respectively, that pureddembership Packages prior to the acquisitioa trett we continued
to provide service to as of December 31, 2002 &@82We have excluded these Membership Customeesibe they prepaid for service for periods of ufotw years prior to
the date of our acquisition of PeoplePC.

(6) Due to the reduction in revenue per subscribemduttie transition period under our arrangement @itlarter Communications ("Charter"), EarthLink ext#d approximately
152,000 Charter wholesale broadband subscribenms ifsototal paying subscriber count as of the thjudrter of 2003. See discussion below under "Braad access revenues”
for more information.

@ Represents full-time equivalents.
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Year Ended December 31, 2003 Compared to Year Endé&kcember 31, 2002
Narrowband access revenues

Narrowband access revenues primarily con$isionthly fees charged to customers for diakogd wireless Internet access and
equipment revenues associated with selling persmmaputers, handheld devices and other InternételevThe following table identifies
financial and non-financial data associated withrmarrowband access revenues for the years endeghiber 31, 2002 and 2003:

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2003 Change % Change

(in thousands, except monthly revenue
per average subscriber amounts)

Service revenue $ 1,011,88 $ 928,73¢ $ (83,14¢) -8%

Revenues associated with acquired Membership

Customers (deferred service liabilil 9,14: 13,95 4,80¢ 53%

Equipment and related revent 16,80( 22,33¢ 5,53¢ 33%
Narrowband access revent $ 1,037,82' $ 965,02 $ (72,80¢) -7%

Ending subscribet 4,03t 3,98¢ (52) -1%

Average subscribel 4,06¢ 3,93( (13€) -3%

Monthly revenue per average subsctri
Service revenue $ 20.7C $ 19.7C $ (1.00 -5%
Total revenue 2127 $ 20.4¢ $ (0.8)) -4%
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Narrowband revenues decreased $72.8 milio%, from $1,037.8 million during the year edd@ecember 31, 2002 to $965.0 million
during the year ended December 31, 2003. The dexreflects a decrease in the average number imwizand subscribers and average
monthly narrowband access service revenue per shescThese decreases were partially offset bgmaes associated with the PeoplePC
deferred service liability for acquired PeoplePCnbership Customers (discussed below), from $9.liamitluring the year ended
December 31, 2002 to $14.0 million during the y&aded December 31, 2003. Revenues associatedheifPebplePC deferred service
liability will decline to $1.8 million in 2004 asé number of acquired, prepaid Membership Custonetknes, as described later. The
decreases were also offset by an increase in eguipralated revenues, from $16.8 million during ylear ended December 31, 2002 to
$22.3 million during the year ended December 30320Ve expect our equipment-related revenues wilide in future periods as a result of
our decisions to cease active marketing of Mail&taproducts and services and to discontinue tleeagersonal computers bundled with
prepaid, value-priced narrowband Internet accessces (Membership Packages).

Average narrowband subscribers decrease®@, or 3%, from 4.1 million during the year edd#ecember 31, 2002 to 3.9 million
during the year ended December 31, 2003, includmincrease in average PeoplePC subscribers did®#om 24,000 to 216,000 during
the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003, rasgechs of December 31, 2003, we had 4.0 millrrowband subscribers, a decrease
of 51,000 from December 31, 2002. Total narrowbsutascribers at December 31, 2003 includes 424,86pI8PC subscribers, an increase
of 356,000 from December 31, 2002. These decréadetal narrowband subscribers resulted from tigration of narrowband subscriber:
broadband services, and the continued maturingpagding competitiveness of the market for narroveblawernet access. The number of
narrowband subscribers we are able to add mayngéeatid/or the number of customers who discontiheeise of our service (churn) may
increase as the market continues to mature onifpedition becomes more intense.

Average monthly narrowband access seraeenue per subscriber decreased 5% from $20.70%F & during the years ended
December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively, duecte@sed promotional
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pricing for our premium service offerings and &ftsini customer mix from premium narrowband to vahreeed access services, which were
generally priced at $10.95 per month during 2(



The following table summarizes narrowbaubisgriber activity for the years ended Decembe2B02 and 2003:

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2003

(in thousands)

Subscribers at beginning of ye 4,20z 4,03t
Gross organic subscriber additic 1,607 2,087
Acquired subscriber 30¢ 76
Narrowband subscribers converted to our broadbandcges (989) (54
Churn (1,98%) (2,160
Subscribers at end of ye 4,03¢ 3,98¢

The subscriber amounts above and in sulesgdables do not include the Membership Custottertspurchased a Membership Package
from PeoplePC prior to the date of our acquisitdiPeoplePC that continue to receive service feir threpaid terms. As of December 31,
2002 and 2003, there were 487,000 and 160,000Mealbership Customers, respectively, receiving sesjidown from 518,000 at the date
of the acquisition. Both amounts include 99,00@iin&tional Membership Customers that EarthLink dessntend to target in our efforts to
convert these Membership Customers to paying sililessr We have excluded these Membership Custobbeeause they prepaid for service
for periods of up to four years prior to the datewr acquisition of PeoplePC. We will include thequired Membership Customers in our
reported subscriber amounts if and when they ébeconvert to paying subscribers at the end of threipaid terms. At the acquisition date,
we established a liability for the estimated diremst to deliver services to these Membership @uste pursuant to their contract terms, and
we reduce the liability and record noash revenue as we deliver services to these Meimipe€ustomers. Such reduction is intended to t
the cost of delivering the services. EarthLink relenl revenues during the years ended Decembe082,&hd 2003 of $9.1 million and
$14.0 million, respectively, associated with théwey of services to Membership Customers acquikatthLink expects to record
approximately $1.8 million of revenues during treayended December 31, 2004 associated with theraddMembership Customers.

Our results of operations are significaatifiected by subscriber cancellations, or "chu@ut average monthly churn rates for
narrowband subscribers were 4.5%, 4.1%, 4.1% &% for the four quarters in the year ended DecerBbeP002 and 4.5%, 4.5%, 4.6%
and 4.8% for the four quarters in the year endeckBwer 31, 2003. The increase in churn from thesrakperienced in 2002 is due to early-
life churn related to the higher level of grosssautber additions during 2003, an increased nurobsubscribers who migrated to broadband
services and discontinuing service to certain wiglsubscribers in the third and fourth quarte)68. If churn rates continue to be at or
above the rates experienced in late 2003, our whand subscriber base may continue to decreaseoWmue to implement plans to addr
churn, including adding new features such as spaokBl, acceleration-related applications and PoBldpkerSMto enhance our service
offerings. However, we can provide no assurancedh@aplans will be successful in mitigating thevase impact increased churn may have
on our subscriber base and operating results.diiiad, competitive factors outside our control nago adversely affect future rates of
customer churn.

The number of narrowband subscribers wahbleto add, which is our primary means of offagtthe adverse impact churn has on our
narrowband subscriber base, may decline and/ardbieof acquiring
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new subscribers through our own sales and markefiiogis may increase as the market continues tamaar if competition becomes more
intense.

Broadband access revenues

Broadband access revenues consist of feged for high-speed, high-capacity access seruncduding DSL, cable, satellite and
dedicated circuit services; installation fees; teation fees; and fees for equipment. Broadbandmegs increased $110.5 million, or 44%,
from $250.6 million during the year ended Decenier2002 to $361.1 million during the year endeddeber 31, 2003. The increase was
due to a higher average number of broadband siblessyifrom 610,000 during the year ended Decembe2(2 to 931,000 during the year
ended December 31, 2003. The increase in averdgerdners was due to continued growth in the maidbroadband access via DSL and
cable and our efforts to promote broadband services

The effect of the increase in average il was partially offset by a decrease in averagnthly revenue per broadband subscriber
during the same period, which declined 6% from $34luring the year ended December 31, 2002 to $3fi8ng the year ended
December 31, 2003. The decrease in average maetrgyiue per broadband subscriber was due to arslhiifé mix of our broadband
subscriber base from frame relay, dedicated cianit business sDSL subscribers (who generally fragheer monthly fee) to retail cable
subscribers. The decrease also resulted from mttody pricing offered to new retail broadband onstrs to stimulate increased sales



fewer gross subscriber additions for our satedlée/ices. New satellite service subscriptions gamesignificant first month revenues
associated with the installation and sale of eqeiptmThe decrease is also a result of lower avesdgdesale broadband revenues per
subscriber due to the restructuring of our relafop with Charter. However, the restructuring of mlationship with Charter also increased
the proportion of retail customers in our broadbsmbiscriber base, which had the effect of increasirerage monthly revenue per broadband
subscriber.

The following table summarizes broadbanusstiber activity for the years ended Decembe2802 and 2003:

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2003

(in thousands)

Subscribers at beginning of ye 471 77¢
Gross organic subscriber additic 32z 57t
Acquired subscriber 7 —
Narrowband subscribers converted to our broadbandces 98 54
Adjustment (a — (152)
Churn (119 (195)
Subscribers at end of ye 77¢ 1,061

(@ Due to the reduction in revenue per subscribemdutie transition period under our arrangement @hlarter, we
excluded approximately 152,000 Charter wholesabadiivand subscribers from our total paying subscdbent as of
the third quarter of 2003. See discussion belowrfore information.

Our broadband subscriber base consistetbfietail and wholesale customers. In a retadti@hship, we market the service directly to
consumers under the EarthLink brand, have latitndsstablishing price, and are responsible for mspects of providing the service,
including first tier customer support. In a wholes@lationship, a telecommunications partner (idizig cable companies) markets the
service, has latitude in establishing price, presithe communications link to the consumer's
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home, and pays EarthLink to provide underlying imé¢ services such as authentication, email, wabesmmews and varying degrees of
customer support. While retail services are gehepaiced above $40 per month per subscriber tecall of the costs of the service,
wholesale relationships are priced between $4 40dpBr month recognizing the limited set of acigtperformed by EarthLink. In a retail
relationship, EarthLink recognizes the amount thigssriber is billed as revenue, but in a wholesgligionship, EarthLink recognizes the
amount due from the wholesale partner as revensief ®ecember 31, 2003, our broadband subscritser ta@nsisted of approximately 68%
retail customers and 32% wholesale customers, cardpa 57% and 43%, respectively, at December @02 2The number of customers
being added or served at any point in time thromghwholesale efforts is subject to the businessraarketing circumstances of our
telecommunications partners.

The pricing of our retail broadband accaswices is subject to competitive pressures tfeabayond our control. Two ILECs, Verizon
Communications Inc. ("Verizon") and SBC Communica$ Inc. ("SBC") have reduced the retail pricethefr broadband service offerings
over the past nine months. Verizon and SBC hawedsdsreased, to a lesser degree, the wholesaésmidroadband services they provid
and other high-speed service providers. Such cativegbressures may cause us to decrease theqirie retail broadband access services
resulting in a decrease in our average monthlymeeger broadband subscriber, and potentially actéxh in gross margin dollars per
subscriber, and/or may result in fewer new broadtsrbscribers from our sales and marketing programg of these could have a materi:
adverse effect on the profitability of our business

We have agreements with varying terms witlof our significant broadband network providerae following table summarizes the
expiration dates for these agreements:

Contract Expiration

Broadband Network Provider Month Year

Covad Communications Group, Ir July 2004
Comcast Corporatio July 200t
Subsidiaries of SBC January 200¢

Septembe 200¢



Subsidiaries of BellSouth Corporati March 200¢
Verizon Communications In October 200¢
Time Warner Cabl Decembe 200¢

We have historically had wholesale relagiips with Sprint and Charter. Our contract withiggo provide wholesale broadband
services is not exclusive and has annual windowtefonination and renegotiation. While we anticgataintaining a relationship with Sprint
by extending or otherwise entering into a new arifrthe nature of our relationships with our Spriholesale broadband subscribers may
change and the number of customers served an@&@virage revenue per subscriber in any new comiag be less than current levels.
Nonetheless, we cannot be certain of renewal o-termination of our contracts with Sprint and othiey channel partners.

Our contract with Charter to provide whalesbroadband services expired in July 2003. Iy 2003, we signed a new agreement with
Charter pursuant to which we intend to transitiamT providing wholesale broadband services to @namtcertain markets to offering a
premium, add-on Internet service to Charter subscsiin these markets for a smaller monthly fee gfemium Internet service would
include functionality available in our current riét@arrowband and broadband service offerings siscRop-Up Blocker and spamBlocker.
During the transition period, we will continue prdwng wholesale broadband services to Chartematnainal rate. Due to the reduction in
revenue per subscriber during the transition peuioder this arrangement, we excluded approximdtg®/000 Charter wholesale broadband
subscribers from our total paying subscriber casnof the third quarter of 2003. We have subsetjugrdiuded approximately 22,000
Charter customers who have subscribed as of Deae®ibe
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2003 to the premium, add-on Internet service ingross organic subscriber additions and in out fEging subscriber count.

The availability of and charges for lasterdccess with these and other last mile broadhatdork providers at the expiration of current
terms cannot be assured and may reflect legislativegulatory as well as competitive and busifi@stors. Our business could be materially,
adversely affected if we are unable to renew oemkicontracts with our current broadband netwoadkigiers on acceptable terms, renew or
extend current contracts with broadband networkigers at all, acquire similar broadband networnazity from competing ISPs, or
otherwise extend our broadband footprint.

We purchase broadband access from ILEQS8petitive local exchange carriers ("CLECS"); antlegroviders. Please refer to
"Regulatory Environment" in the Business sectiothif 10-K for further discussion of the regulaterwironment and discussion regarding
our contracts with broadband access providers.

Web hosting revenues

We earn web hosting revenues by leasingesepace and providing web services to individaald businesses wishing to present a web
or e-commerce presence on the Internet. Web hostirenues decreased 6% from $53.2 million duriegysar ended December 31, 2002 to
$49.9 million during the year ended December 3032ue to decreases in average web hosting accanttgverage monthly revenue per
account.

Average web hosting accounts declined 49%nft 73,000 during the year ended December 31, 20086,000 during the year ended
December 31, 2003. Average monthly revenue penextateclined 2% from $25.61 during the year endeddinber 31, 2002 to $25.01
during the year ended December 31, 2003, reflethiagontinued migration to lower price points todmmpetitive in the market for web
hosting services.

Content, commer ce and advertising revenues

Content, commerce and advertising revenaasist of revenues from our partnerships, whiehpaomotional arrangements with
advertisers, retailers, service providers and camgmviders. We earn these revenues by paid plestnfor searches; delivering traffic to our
partners in the form of subscribers, page views-oommerce revenues; advertising our partnersugtedind services in our various online
properties and electronic publications, including Personal Start Page™; and referring our custotoayur partners' products and services.

Content, commerce and advertising revemasased $10.1 million, or 64%, from $15.8 millidaring the year ended December 31,
2002 to $25.9 million during the year ended Decen®ige 2003 due primarily to increased search atbiegt revenues.

Cost of revenues

Telecommunications service and equipmestscare the primary component of EarthLink's céseeenues and consist of
telecommunications fees, set-up fees and netwarlpegent costs incurred to provide our Internet as@®rvices. Telecommunications
service and equipment costs also include the ddsternet appliances sold, including wireless desgiand personal computers.
Telecommunications service and equipment costsedsed 5% from $544.0 million during the year enidedember 31, 2002



$519.1 million during the year ended December 8032 and decreased as a percentage of total revéone 40.1% to 37.0%.
Telecommunications service and equipment costgtoyear ended December 31, 2003 includes a $2idrmarite-down of the OmniSky
platform related to our decision to discontinuevidling services to certain customers supportechbyQmniSky platform and a $4.8 million
write-down of MailStation hardware related to oeci$ion to cease actively marketing MailStationduats and services. The decrease in
telecommunications service and equipment costsdwado an 8% decrease in average monthly telecorngations service and equipment
cost per subscriber offset by a 3% increase inameesubscribers.
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The decrease in average monthly costsytecsiber was due to improvements in both narrowlzard broadband telecommunications
costs. This was a result of more favorable agreésneith telecommunications service providers ad a&bptimizing network capacity to
reduce costs. In general, the telecommunicatioaspmr subscriber has declined over time, resuftimg improvements in communications
technology, the increasing scale of Internet-reldtgsiness, and competition among telecommunicafiooviders. However, the intensity of
competition and wholesale telecommunications pgicwhich have benefited EarthLink, have caused smheeommunications companies to
experience financial difficulty. EarthLink's progpe for maintaining or further improving telecomnations costs, particularly for
narrowband services, could be negatively affedtedé or more of EarthLink's key telecommunicatipnsviders were to experience serious
enough difficulties to impact service availability, if telecommunications bankruptcies generalijueed the level of competition among
telecommunications providers.

Based on management's estimates, broadizards has both a higher telecommunications costefiue per subscriber and a lower
gross profit margin percentage than our other gaidorms of Internet access and related serviEesn though broadband subscribers
increased from 16% of total subscribers at DecerBbeR002 to 20% of total subscribers at DecemtefB03, telecommunications cost per
subscriber decreased sufficiently in both our naband and broadband offerings to cause total aearanthly telecommunications service
and equipment cost per subscriber to decrease Xpéeethat there will be additional opportunities¢duce such costs by continuing to
eliminate higher cost providers, reducing costeftbe remaining vendors, and achieving higherzatiion of existing telecommunications
capacity. We expect these initiatives will offde¢ hegative effect on our gross profit margin petage of broadband continuing to grow as a
portion of our overall business. As a result, wpeet to be able to maintain or slightly increasegross profit margin percentage during
2004. Beyond 2004, gross profit margin percentagag decrease as a result of the expected contiguowgth of broadband as a percentage
of our total business.

EarthLink's principal providers for narroavid telecommunications services are Level 3 Comeations, Inc. and Sprint, and our larg
provider of broadband connectivity is Covad Comroations Group, Inc. We also do lesser amounts sifless with a wide variety of local,
regional and other national providers. EarthLinkghases broadband access from ILECS, CLECs and patWiders. Please refer to
"Regulatory Environment" in the Business sectiothif 10-K for a discussion of the regulatory eamiment as well as a discussion regarding
our contracts with broadband access providers.

Cost of revenues also includes sales inentWe frequently offer sales incentives sucfres Internet access on a trial basis, modems
and starter kits as introductory offers. Salesritives decreased 44% from $37.7 million duringytbar ended December 31, 2002 to
$21.2 million during the year ended December 3032ue to declines in broadband equipment prioefjding support provided by
broadband network partners to offset such costsaashift in emphasis from sales incentives to cedprice introductory offers to attract
new subscribers.

Sales and marketing

Sales and marketing expenses consist @frising, direct response mailings, bounties paidhannel partners, sales and marketing
personnel costs, and promotional materials. Saldsrarketing expenses increased 3% from $373.tomilluring the year ended
December 31, 2002 to $383.0 million during the yeradted December 31, 2003, but decreased slightypascent of total revenues from 2
to 27%. The increase in total sales and marketpgrses was primarily due to direct and performdrased sales and marketing efforts for
our narrowband, broadband and value-priced acesg®as and increased support for new sales chawifleése increases were partially
offset by declines in sales and marketing expeasssciated with our EarthLink Everywhere initiatasgd our MailStation products and
services.
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Operations and customer support

Operations and customer support expensesstof costs associated with technical suppaitarstomer service, providing our
subscribers with toll-free access to our techrscglport and customer service centers, maintendrmestomer information systems, software
development and network operations. Operationscastbmer support expenses decreased from $324i6mduring the year ended
December 31, 2002 to $297.0 million during the yerated December 31, 2003. The decrease was aoédeltreased personnel &



occupancy related costs resulting from closing fmmtact centers and a decrease in depreciatiensgpwhich was partially offset by an
increase in professional fees associated withdhéact center reconfiguration and increased outsollabor costs associated with
outsourcing certain contact center activities. \Xjgeet total operations and customer support exgeioseontinue to decline as we increase
our utilization of outsourced contact center se\peoviders.

General and administrative

General and administrative expenses coaffsily burdened costs associated with the exeeufinance, legal and human resources
departments; outside professional services; payprecessing; credit card fees; collections anddedit. General and administrative expel
increased $4.3 million from $123.4 million durirftetyear ended December 31, 2002 to $127.7 millising the year ended December 31,
2003. The increase was primarily due to increasémsgal fees and related costs and bad debt expense

Acquisition-related amortization

Acquisitionrelated amortization represents the amortizatiotiedihite life intangible assets acquired in cowmjion with the purchases
businesses and customer bases from other ISPstaBgnsuch definite-life intangible assets are atized on a straight-line basis over three
years from the date of their respective acquisitidkcquisitior-related amortization decreased 24% from $110.8amituring the year ended
December 31, 2002 to $84.3 million during the yeaded December 31, 2003. The decrease was due saltscriber bases acquired in the
NETCOM Or-Line Communications Services, Inc. ("NETCOM"),iMét.com, Inc. and OneMain.com, Inc. ("OneMaingrtsactions
becoming fully amortized in February 2002, May 2@0@ September 2003, respectively. This decreasguarially offset by amortization «
the PeoplePC subscriber base acquired in July 208Z&ubscriber acquisitions in the fourth quarf&092.

Facility exit costs

During the first quarter of 2003, we ex@clia plan to streamline our contact center faedlifthe "Contact Center Plan"). The Contact
Center Plan was designed to further increase apeeadtefficiencies and reduce overall costs in@wstomer support organization while
maintaining our commitment to customer servicecdnnection with the Contact Center Plan, we clasedact centers in Dallas, Texas;
Sacramento, California; Pasadena, California; amite, Washington during the months of Februad/March 2003. The closure of the four
contact centers resulted in the termination of @ @2 ployees and a net reduction of 920 employe&saply customer support personnel. In
connection with the Contact Center Plan, we reabfdeility exit costs of approximately $36.6 milti@uring the first quarter of 2003. These
costs included approximately $10.7 million for eoyme, personnel and related costs; $18.2 milliomeal estate and telecommunications
service termination costs; and $7.7 million in asagte-downs.

During the fourth quarter of 2002, we clbseir Phoenix, Arizona contact center facility tmsolidate operations and reduce overall
costs. The closure of the Phoenix facility resultethe termination of 259 employees. In connectidth the closing of the Phoenix facility,
we recorded facility exit costs of $3.5 million. 8de costs included approximately $1.7 million fopéoyee, personnel and
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related costs; $0.5 million for real estate anddeinmunications contract termination costs; an@ #fillion in asset write-downs.
Interest income and other, net

Interest income and other, net, decreaétl ffom $12.6 million during the year ended Decengie 2002 to $5.0 million during the
year ended December 31, 2003 due to a decrease average cash and marketable securities balamcka decrease in investment yie
Our cash and investment balances decreased aslteofele repurchase of 14.8 million shares of cmmon stock during the year ended
December 31, 2003 for $90.2 million, capital exgamds and the purchases of subscriber bases ®uaral companies, which was partially
offset by an increase in cash provided by operati@ur weighted average investment yields haveedsed from approximately 2.6% during
the year ended December 31, 2002 to approximat&¥ Huring the year ended December 31, 2003 ad.theFederal Reserve Bank has
reduced interest rates.

Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared to Year Endé&kcember 31, 2001
Narrowband access revenues

Narrowband revenues increased $38.5 mjlbod%, from $999.3 million during the year end@etember 31, 2001 to $1,037.8 million
during the year ended December 31, 2002. The fallgwable identifies financial and non-financiatalassociated with our narrowband
access revenues for the years ended December @I agd 2002:

Year Ended December 31,




2001 2002 Change % Change

(in thousands, except monthly revenue
per average subscriber amounts)

Service revenue $ 994,68. $ 1,011,888 $  17,10¢ 2%
Revenues associated with acquired Membership Cessor
(deferred service liability — 9,14: 9,14: N/A
Equipment and related revent 4,57( 16,80( 12,33( 276%
Narrowband access revent $ 99925. $ 1,037,822 $  38,57¢ 39%
Ending subscribet 4,20z 4,03t (16¢) -4%
Average subscribel 4,26 4,06¢ (199 -5%
Monthly revenue per average subsctri
Service revenue $ 194: $ 20.7C $ 1.2¢ 7%
Total revenue $ 19.5¢ $ 2127 $ 1.78 9%

The increase in narrowband revenues wasaae increase in average monthly service reveeu@arrowband subscriber from $19.42
to $20.70 during the years ended December 31, 2082002, respectively. Also contributing to ther@ase was an increase in equipment-
related revenues from $4.6 million during the yeraded December 31, 2001 to $16.8 million duringyther ended December 31, 2002, and
the inclusion of $9.1 million of revenues relatedte deferred service liability for PeoplePC Mensh@ Customers previously noted.

The effect of the increase in average nigrgérvice revenue per narrowband subscriber waglaoffset by a decrease in the average
number of narrowband subscribers during the yedeémecember 31, 2002 as compared to the year @etmsinber 31, 2001. Average
narrowband subscribers decreased 199,000, or 5%,4r3 million during the year ended December 80120 4.1 million during the year
ended December 31, 2002.
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The following table summarizes narrowbaubisgriber activity for the years ended Decembe2B01 and 2002:

Year Ended December 31,

2001 2002

(in thousands)

Subscribers at beginning of ye 4,30¢ 4,20z
Gross organic subscriber additic 1,85¢ 1,607
Acquired subscriber 42¢ 30¢
Narrowband subscribers converted to our broadbandcges (62) (98)
Churn (2,325 (1,985)
Subscribers at end of ye 4,20z 4,03t

Our quarterly average monthly churn ratesfirrowband subscribers were 4.0%, 4.0%, 5.4%4&8%b for the four quarters in the year
ended December 31, 2001 and 4.5%, 4.1%, 4.1% &4 #r the four quarters in the year ended DecerBbeP002. On December 31, 2002,
we had 4.0 million narrowband subscribers, a deered 168,000 from December 31, 2001. This decneaswrily resulted from churn
caused by a price increase effected in July 20@tbtional EarthLink customers as well as thevewaion of acquired subscribers to stan
EarthLink pricing plans, the migration of narrowhasubscribers to broadband services, and the ematimaturing and ongoing
competitiveness of the market for narrowband Iréeatcess which resulted in fewer new customers fror sales and marketing programs.

Broadband access revenues

Broadband revenues increased $82.7 milboAd9%, from $167.9 million during the year endetember 31, 2001 to $250.6 million
during the year ended December 31, 2002. The isergebroadband revenues was due to an incredise average number of broadband
subscribers from 355,000 during the year ended idbee 31, 2001 to 610,000 during the year ended idkee 31, 2002. The increase in
average subscribers was due to the continued griowtfarket demand for broadband access via DSlcabtg, the introduction of EarthLink
broadband service over the Time Warner Cable syktnin 2001, and continued EarthLink marketinfpre$ to promote broadband servic



The effect of the increase in subscribeas partially offset by a decrease in average mpmévenue per broadband subscriber durin
same period. Average monthly revenue per subsadiseimed 13% from $39.38 during the year endedeDder 31, 2001 to $34.23 during
the year ended December 31, 2002. The decreaserage monthly revenue per broadband subscribeduaso a continued shift in the mix
of our broadband subscriber base from frame ref@yddicated circuit subscribers to retail DSLaitetable and wholesale broadband
relationships. The decrease also resulted frorodntrtory pricing offered to new retail broadbandtomers in 2002 to stimulate increased
sales.
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The following table summarizes broadbanusstiber activity for the years ended Decembe2801 and 2002:

Year Ended December 31,

2001 2002

(in thousands)

Subscribers at beginning of ye 21t 471
Gross organic subscriber additic 2717 322
Acquired subscriber — 7
Narrowband subscribers converted to our broadbandces 62 98
Churn (83 (119
Subscribers at end of ye 471 77¢

Web hosting revenues

Web hosting revenues decreased 10% fronB8$&Blion during the year ended December 31, 200453.2 million during the year
ended December 31, 2002. The decrease in web dastienues was due to a decrease in average repenaecount during the year ended
December 31, 2002 as compared to the year endeshiber 31, 2001.

Average monthly revenue per account dedliti% from $28.70 during the year ended Decembge?P@11 to $25.61 during the year
ended December 31, 2002. The decline in averagéhiyomeb hosting revenue per account reflects tigration to lower price points to be
competitive in the SOHO (small office/ home offitm)siness market. Average web hosting accounts ¥#&@®00 during the year ended
December 31, 2001 and 173,000 during the year eDdedmber 31, 2002.

Content, commer ce and advertising revenues

Content, commerce and advertising revedeeseased $2.7 million, or 15%, from $18.5 millauring the year ended December 31,
2001 to $15.8 million during the year ended Decen3ig 2002 due to a decline in the market for mé¢advertising.

Cost of revenues

Telecommunications service and equipmestscacreased 7% from $509.5 million during therysaded December 31, 2001 to
$544.0 million during the year ended December 8D22 Telecommunications service and equipment assgspercentage of revenues
decreased slightly from 40.9% for the year endecedder 31, 2001 to 40.1% for the year ended DeceB81he2002. The increase in
telecommunications service and equipment costaduhie year ended December 31, 2002 as compatbkd y@ar ended December 31, 2001
was due to a slight increase in average subscrilmenbined with a 5% increase in average monthgctehmunications service and
equipment cost per subscriber.

Average monthly telecommunications senand equipment costs per subscriber increased dhe facreasing portion of our business
represented by broadband subscribers, which isra oostly service to deliver. Broadband subscribene 10% and 16% of total subscribers
at December 31, 2001 and 2002, respectively. Awenagnthly telecommunications service and equiproests per subscriber also increased
due to costs associated with personal computeosded in connection with the sale of MembershipkBges. The increase in overall average
monthly telecommunications service and equipmestscper subscriber was partially offset by a decimaverage monthly
telecommunications service costs per narrowbansdcsilier, which resulted from improvements in comioations technology, the increas
scale of Internet-related business and competi#tinang telecommunications providers.
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Sales incentives decreased 45% from $6#l@mduring the year ended December 31, 200136.% million during the year ended
December 31, 2002. The decrease in sales incengiagibutable to declines in the prices of bitwattd modems provided to new customers,
including support provided by broadband networkngens to offset such costs, and a shift in empHemis sales incentives to reduced price
introductory offers to attract new subscribers.

Sales and marketing

Sales and marketing expenses increasedrbff$328.0 million during the year ended DecenBier2001 to $373.5 million during the
year ended December 31, 2002. The increase waaiiirdue to sales and marketing expenses incutueithg the year ended December
2002 associated with the products and servicesrachand developed in connection with the acquisgiof Cidco (MailStation), the
OmniSky platform and PeoplePC in December 2001yalg2002 and July 2002, respectively, as wellreiierease in sales and marketing
costs associated with our EarthLink Everywherddtiite. The increase was also due to an increasgganses associated with enhancing the
customer relationship in an effort to reduce clasmwell as direct and performance-based sales ankkting expenses. As a percentage of
revenues, sales and marketing expenses increase®6% to 28% of total revenues for the years emdtszbmber 31, 2001 and 2002,
respectively.

Operations and customer support

Operations and customer support expensgsated from $339.5 million during the year endedédnber 31, 2001 to $324.6 million
during the year ended December 31, 2002. The dezinaperations and customer support costs wasodagroved efficiencies in custon
service operations.

General and administrative

General and administrative expenses deetdeb4.4 million from $127.8 million during the yeamded December 31, 2001 to
$123.4 million during the year ended December 8D22 The decrease is due to a reduction in persamc®ipancy and tax expenses offset
by higher professional fees and higher paymentgssiog and bad debt costs, which are largely Vartalrevenues.

The reduction in personnel and related loe@d costs during the year ended December 31,&006@8mpared to the same period of the
prior year is due to the integration of OneMainidgrthe first quarter of 2001. A substantial pantif the integration costs incurred in the
quarter of 2001 represented the salaries and ltepeaiid to legacy OneMain personnel and the overasaociated with the personnel during
the integration period. Subsequent acquisitionewagnificantly smaller, and we incurred minimati@mental integration costs during the
year ended December 31, 20

Acquisition-related amortization

Acquisition-related amortization decread@@o from $217.5 million during the year ended Deben81, 2001 to $110.9 million during
the year ended December 31, 2002. Acquisitionedlamortization declined $77.4 million as a restithe intangible assets acquired in the
Spry, Inc. and NETCOM transactions in October 1808 February 1999, respectively, becoming fully grsed in November 2001 and
February 2002, respectively. Acquisition-relatecbaimation also decreased $42.3 million as a redfute adoption of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 142, "Goodwilta@ther Intangible Assets," which required us taseeamortization of goodwill and
other indefinite life intangible assets on Janugrg002. These decreases were offset by the amitotizof definite-life intangible assets
resulting from our acquisitions of Cidco and Pe&@ean December 2001 and July 2002, respectively,odimer subscriber acquisitions.
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Facility exit costs

During the fourth quarter of 2002, we clbs®ir Phoenix, Arizona contact center facility tmsolidate operations and reduce overall
costs. The closure of the Phoenix facility resultethe termination of 259 employees. In connectiath the closing of the Phoenix facility,
we recorded facility exit costs of $3.5 million. 83e costs included approximately $1.7 million fopéoyee, personnel and related costs;
$0.5 million for real estate and telecommunicatioostract termination costs; and $1.3 million isetswrite-downs.

Intangible asset write-off

In February 2001, we renegotiated our corasiakand governance arrangements with Sprint. Uttderenegotiated arrangements, our
exclusive marketing and co-branding arrangemernits 8print were terminated. Accordingly, we recordetbneash charge of approximate
$11.3 million to write-off unamortized intangiblesets related to the marketing and co-brandingigeraents with Sprint.

Write-off of equity investmentsin other companies



We made equity investments in several congsaprior to December 31, 2001. During the yeaded December 31, 2001 and 2002,
management determined that the full recovery daaeinvestments was unlikely. Accordingly, we reded a charge of $10.0 million and
$0.6 million during the years ended December 30124hd 2002, respectively, to write equity invesitaelown to their estimated net
realizable value.

Interest income and other, net

Interest income and other, net, decrea6étl fiom $25.5 million during the year ended Decendide 2001 to $12.6 million during the
year ended December 31, 2002. The decrease wdse dwdecrease in our average cash and marketahlgtis balances and a decreas
investment yields. Our cash and investment baladeeseased as a result of the purchases of subsbakes from several companies; the
acquisitions of Cidco, the OmniSky platform and fleBC; the repurchase of 2.6 million shares ofamummon stock; and capital
expenditures. Our weighted average investment yigétreased from approximately 4.2% during the grded December 31, 2001 to
approximately 2.6% during the year ended DecembeP@02 as the U.S. Federal Reserve Bank reduteest rates. The decrease in inte
income and other, net, was partially offset byducndion in interest expense attributable to a deserén the average balance of obligations
under capital lease from $22.5 million during tleayended December 31, 2001 to $8.7 million duttregyear ended December 31, 2002.

Restructuring Charges and Facility Exit Costs
PeoplePC

Our acquisition of PeoplePC included coslated to a formal EarthLink plan (the "PeopleR&nP to integrate PeoplePC's operations
into our operations and to exit PeoplePC's intéwnat operations. The PeoplePC Plan called fon#taeduction of 13 positions in operatit
and customer support, sales and marketing, andriargl and administrative departments. The origgstilates for costs associated with the
PeoplePC Plan included $2.1 million related towhige-off of duplicative and abandoned assets, $filBon related to employee termination
benefits and $1.8 million related to exiting Pe®flés international operations, including $0.6 roilfor the writeeff of abandoned assets ¢
$1.2 million related to costs associated with a-oancelable lease. The costs of the PeoplePC R¥anduded in the purchase price of
PeoplePC and are included in the fair values dfitda assets acquired and liabilities assumedaratiyuisition. The costs associated with the
PeoplePC Plan were less than original estimatesasnal result, we decreased our liability relateselverance costs and the non-cancelable
lease during the year ended December 31, 2003 Byriilion resulting in a decrease in goodwill. 8sDecember 31,
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2003, we have paid all exit costs and written loff impaired assets associated with the PeopleRPCTite following table summarizes the
status of the restructuring and exit costs andelsed reserves for the PeoplePC Plan as of arttidgears ended December 31, 2002 and
2003:

Purchase Balance Balance
Related Non-Cash December 31, December 31,
Costs Items Payments 2002 Payments Adjustments 2003

(in thousands)

Write-off duplicative and abandoned softw. $ 2,13¢ $ (2,136) $ — 3 — 3 — 3 — $ —

Severance costs 76¢ — (579 191 (62) (129) —
International operations exit cos

Write-off abandoned asse 57€ (576€) — — — — —

Non-cancelable lease 1,19¢ — (60C) 59€ (233 (36%) —

Total international exit costs 1,772 (576€) (600) 59€ (233 (369) —

$ 4,671 $ (2,719 $ (1,179 $ 787 $ (295) $ (492) $ —]

Facility exit costs

During the fourth quarter of 2002, we clbseir Phoenix, Arizona contact center facility. Tihesure of the Phoenix facility resulted in
the termination of 259 positions, primarily custaraapport personnel. In connection with the closimg recorded facility exit costs of
$3.5 million in the fourth quarter of 2002. Thesssts included approximately $1.7 million for empey personnel and related costs;
$0.5 million for real estate and telecommunicatioostract termination costs; and $1.3 million isetswrite-downs. We have paid all exit
costs and written off the impaired assets assatiatth the Phoenix facility.

During the first quarter of 2003, we ex@clia plan to streamline our contact center faedlifthe "Contact Center Plan") and utilize
outsourced contact center service providers. Imeotion with the Contact Center Plan, we closedamrtenter facilities in Dallas, Tex:



Sacramento, California; Pasadena, California; agaite, Washington during the months of Februad/March 2003. The closure of the four
contact center facilities resulted in the termioatdf 1,220 employees and a net reduction of 928l@yees, primarily customer support
personnel. In connection with the Contact CentanPlve recorded facility exit costs of approximat86.6 million. These costs included
approximately $10.7 million for employee, personaedi related costs; $18.2 million for real estaie #®lecommunications service
termination costs and $7.7 million in asset writevds. As of December 31, 2003, we have paid attghmunications service termination
costs and employee and personnel related costsxgmedtt to incur future cash outflows for real estatligations through 2010. We have
realized reduced costs in 2003 as a result of cetinglthe Contact Center Plan.
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The following table summarizes the statthe accrued costs associated with the Phoenitacboenter facility exit costs as well as the
facility exit costs associated with the Contact teePlan as of and for the years ended Decembe&(BP, and 2003:

Facility Balance Balance
Exit Non-Cash December 31, December 31,
Costs Iltems Payments 2002 Payments 2003
(in thousands)
Phoenix contact center facility exit cos

Severance and personnel related costs $ 1,72¢  $ — 3 (1,429 $ 29€ $ (296) $ —
Real estate and telecommunications contract
termination costs 48€ — (48€) — — —
Write-off abandoned and disposed
assets 1,282 (1,2872) — — — —

$ 349: % (1,28, $ 1919 3 29€ $ (29¢) $ —]

IEEEEE——" S S S S S

Facility Balance
Exit Non-Cash December 31,
Costs Items Payments Adjustments 2003
(in thousands)
Facility exit costs associated with the Contactt€eRlan:
Severance and personnel related c $ 10,737 $ — 3 (11,220 $ 483  $ —
Real estate and telecommunications contract tetininaosts,
including non-cancelable leases 18,20 — (7,837) (483) 9,89z
Write-off abandoned and disposed assets 7,652 (7,652 — — —
$ 36,59 $ (7,652 $ (19,059 $ —  $ 9,897
IEEEEE——" IS e S

2004 facility exit cost plan

In January 2004, we announced plans toustsire our contact center operations and furtélgran outsourced contact center service
providers to further reduce costs and increaseiefities. Upon execution of the plan, we will @élioutsourced contact center service
providers for substantially all of our customer jgogi operations. Under the plan, we will close eshtenter operations in Harrisburg,
Pennsylvania; Roseville, California; San Jose,fGalia; and Pasadena, California and reduce oulacbnenter operations in Atlanta,
Georgia by the end of the first quarter of 2004e Plan will impact approximately 1,300 employeesid/we expect to realize future expe
reductions as a result of executing our plan, wg nw experience the level of benefits and relatest savings we have historically realized

or expect to realize in connection with furthertmesturing our contact center operations.

In connection with the 2004 facility exdst plan, we expect to record facility exit costapproximately $36.0 million in the first quar
of 2004, including $13.0 million for employee, pangel and related costs, $14.0 million for leasmieation costs and $9.0 million for non-
cash asset write-offs. We expect cash outflowsifoployee and personnel related costs to occur phynia the first and second quarters of
2004 and cash outflows for real estate obligattbnsugh 2008. Please see "Liquidity and CapitaloReses" below for a discussion of our

plans for funding expected future cash payments.
Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2003

Our operating activities provided cash d®%.7 million. Our net loss of $62.2 million was mdhan offset by depreciation and
amortization expenses relating to our network litees and intangible assets of $164.2 million aet-cash disposals and impairments of
fixed assets primarily associated with the Con@eniter Plan of $7.8 million. Additional cash wasyided as a result of a $17.6 million
decrease in receivables and an $8.5 million deerigagrepaid expenses and other assets. In additenecognized $14.0 million of narash
revenues associated with the acquired Membershspo@iers, which is included in the change in deterexenue. Approximatel



$9.9 million of facility exit costs were accrueddan
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unpaid as of December 31, 2003, primarily relatedan-cancelable operating lease payments accutguhlgable in future periods, net of
estimated sublease income. Excluding the accroalhé facility exit costs and the change in defémevenue associated with the non-cash
revenues, we used approximately $30.4 million thuoe accounts payable, accrued and other liakilitied deferred revenue. In order to
continue improving cash flows from operating ati&g, we must continue to increase revenues wadaaing telecommunications costs per
subscriber, improving the efficiency of our custorsepport efforts, leveraging the cost structurewfbusiness and effectively managing our
working capital.

Our investing activities used cash of $4%iltion. This consisted primarily of $28.4 millicior capital expenditures, primarily associa
with network and technology center related projedéte have invested significantly in our network aachnology center infrastructure and
will continue to invest capital to enhance theatelity and capacity of our network. We also usé&d.$ million for the acquisition of
subscriber bases from other ISPs, of which $6.8anitelates to acquisitions completed in the fougtiarter of 2002. Management
continuously reviews industry and economic condgito identify opportunities to pursue acquisitiofisubscriber bases. Additionally, we
used $5.4 million for purchases of investments arkatable securities, net of sales and maturifié@svestments in marketable securities.

Financing activities used cash of $88.9iaml This consisted primarily of $90.2 million ws&o acquire 14.8 million shares of our
common stock. We may use cash in the future tohl@ase shares of our common stock pursuant to oulr.@18illion share repurchase
program. Proceeds from the exercise of stock optiomd from the sale of common stock pursuant temployee stock purchase program
were $4.4 million. Principal payments on capitalde agreements were $3.1 million. Our strategy theepast three years has been to reduce
the number of our capital leases, and we anticipat¢inuing to do so. We had $0.9 million of capliémse obligations as of December 31,
2003.

Cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2002

Our operating activities provided cash 889 million. Our net loss of $148.0 million wagthrimary component of cash used in
operating activities. However, the effect of thed@n cash was more than offset by depreciatioraamaitization expenses relating to our
network, facilities and intangible assets of $21WiBion. Additional cash was used as a result 728 million increase in receivables and a
$0.5 million increase in prepaid expenses and atheets. In addition, the decreases in accountbfiyaccrued expenses, other liabilities
and deferred revenue used $44.5 million in cash.

Our investing activities used cash of $36illion. This consists of proceeds realized fromtumities, including sales, of marketable
securities, net of purchases, of $37.2 million #reduse of $73.6 million for capital expenditures she acquisitions of subscriber bases and
businesses. Capital equipment purchases were 88Hdn. Cash used in the purchase of subscribsebérom ISPs was $21.7 million. We
used $19.2 million to purchase PeoplePC, whichuohetl approximately $7.5 million related to the papiof acquisition-related and other
liabilities assumed in the transaction, and we $ed million to acquire the final 20% of the oatstling stock of Cidco in January 2002.

Financing activities used cash of $24.9iaml Proceeds from the exercise of stock optiarsfaom the sale of common stock pursuant
to our employee stock purchase program were $ll®miPrincipal payments on capital lease agredmesrere $11.9 million. Additionally,
we used $14.2 million to acquire 2.6 million shavésur common stock.

Cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2001

Our operating activities provided cash 478 million. Our net loss of $341.1 million was radhan offset by depreciation and
amortization expenses relating to our network lit&s and intangible assets of $329.2 million #mel non-cash write-off of investments and
Sprint-related intangibles of $10.0 million and Liillion, respectively. Additional cash was prded by a $9.8 million reduction in
receivables and a
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$10.0 million reduction in prepaid expenses anéo#ssets. In addition, the net increase in acsquatable, accrued expenses, other
liabilities and deferred revenue provided $18.Jiamilin cash.

Our investing activities used cash of $288illion. This consists of net purchases of meaakkt securities of $170.0 million and the use
of $116.0 million for capital expenditures and surfiger base and business acquisitions. Capitapesgmt purchases were $69.5 million. C
used in the purchase of subscriber bases fromiW@&B$40.7 million. In the fourth quarter of 200% used cash of $5.8 million to acquire
80% of the outstanding stock of Cidt



Financing activities used cash of $10.1iaml Proceeds from the exercise of stock optiamswarrants were $8.0 million, and we
financed the acquisition of data processing and@fquipment amounting to $0.9 million throughipquent leases and sale-leaseback
agreements. Principal payments on capital leaseaggnts were $19.0 million.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

At December 31, 2003, we had the followdogtractual commitments:

Payments due by Period

Total Less than 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 years
(in millions)
Capital lease obligations (n-discounted ~ $ 08 $ 08 $ — $ — 3 —
Non-cancelable operating leases, net of
sublease 86.¢ 26.2 20.c 17.1 23.2
Non-cancelable network service agreeme 137.% 117.5 16.5 2.€ 1.1
$ 2255 % 1445 $ 36.6 $ 197 $ 24.¢

We lease certain facilities and certainipapent under non-cancelable operating leases egpimi various years through 2011. We also
lease equipment, primarily data communicationsggent, under non-cancelable capital leases. Mastio€apital leases include purchase
options at the end of the lease term.

Access to the Internet for customers oetsidour base of owned POPs is provided throughapleased from a number of third-party
providers under non-cancelable network serviceeageats expiring in various years through 2008.

Other

At December 31, 2003, we had approxima849.7 million in cash and cash equivalents. Intamd we held short- and long-term
investments in marketable securities valued ati$88llion and $49.0 million, respectively. Shortsteinvestments in marketable securities
consist of investments that have maturity datagpao one year from the balance sheet date, angdtiym investments in marketable
securities consist of investments that have matdetes of more than one year from the balancet slage. We believe our available cash and
marketable securities, together with our resultspEfrations, are sufficient to meet our operatixgeases and capital requirements for the
foreseeable future. Our capital requirements depemiumerous factors, including the rate of madoseptance of our services, our ability to
maintain and expand our customer base, the rarpafnsion of our network infrastructure, the sizé gypes of acquisitions in which we may
engage, the level of resources required to expandiarketing and sales programs, and general edordevelopments. We may use a
portion of our cash to acquire companies with deproducts, service capabilities, marketing chelapand/or subscriber bases that
complement ours, and we may use cash to repurshases of our common stock.
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We will also use cash to execute our plans touesire our contact center operations in the fiusirter of 2004, including payments for
employee and personnel related costs and reaéesigations. We have no commitments for any aalalil financing and have no lines of
credit or similar sources of financing, and we aarive sure that we can obtain additional commitsientfavorable terms, if at all. Additior
equity financing may dilute our stockholders, aethtfinancing, if available, may restrict our afyilio declare and pay dividends and raise
future capital. If we are unable to obtain addiibneeded financing, we may be required to redueetope of operations or anticipated
expansion, which could materially and adverselgéftis.

Share repurchase program

During 2003, the Board of Directors incieshe amount authorized to repurchase our commock ander our share repurchase
program by $125.0 million to a total of $150.0 ioifl. As of February, 27, 2004, we have utilizedragpnately $69.5 million pursuant to the
authorizations and have $80.5 million availablearttie current authorization. We may repurchaseommon stock from time to time in
compliance with the Securities and Exchange Coniarissregulations and other legal requirements,safiject to market conditions and
other factors. The share repurchase program ddeeaquire us to acquire any specific number of sband may be terminated at any time.

During 2003, we also purchased 9.0 milbares of our common stock from Sprint for $53.lliom pursuant to a separate authoriza
by the Board of Director:



Income taxes

We have historically reported net losses, @maccordance with accounting principles gemgrdcepted in the United States, have not
recorded any income tax benefits from those lodstesrteported net income for the third and fourtarntgers of 2003 but reported a net loss for
the year ended December 31, 2003. Therefore, we leorded income taxes at an effective tax ra@®othroughout 2003 in consideration
of the benefit of prior year losses. We have predlid valuation allowance against our deferred $arts, consisting primarily of net operat
loss carryforwards, and may recognize additionakfies of deferred tax assets in periods when #reyestimated to be realizable.

Related Party Transactions

Through its ownership interest in EarthLiSlprint is considered a related party. Our mankgetelationship with Sprint generated
approximately 10% of our total gross organic subscradditions during the years ended Decembe2@12 and 2003. In connection with «
marketing relationship with Sprint, we provide wisdle broadband and other services to Sprint. \é&ved approximately $22.0 million,
$26.4 million and $27.3 million during the yearsled December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectieelthese services. As of
December 31, 2002 and 2003, we had accounts réxdeirelated to these arrangements with Sprint @3 $6llion and $5.2 million,
respectively.

Sprint is one of our principal telecommuations service providers. We paid Sprint approxétya$75.2 million, $75.4 million and
$74.0 million during the years ended December 80122002 and 2003, respectively, associated veitivork service agreements. The
aggregate amount due to Sprint pursuant to thesenreservice agreements was $11.0 million and $i&llion at December 31, 2002 and
2003, respectively.

See Item 13 of this Form X)-'Certain Relationships and Related Transacticmsg Note 17, "Related Party Transactions," inNloges
to Consolidated Financial Statements for furthésrimation related to transactions with related ipart
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Set forth below is a discussion of the aatimg policies and related estimates that we belae the most critical to understanding our
consolidated financial statements, financial caadijtand results of operations and which requiraglex management judgments,
uncertainties and/or estimates. The preparatidimaifcial statements in accordance with accountiiciples generally accepted in the
United States requires management to make estimateassumptions that affect the reported amodrassets and liabilities, the disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities, and the reggbamounts of revenues and expenses during airepperiod; however, actual results could
differ from those estimates. Management has digcugse development, selection and disclosure o€titieal accounting policies and
estimates with the Audit Committee of the BoardDafctors. Information regarding our other accongpolicies is included in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Revenue recognition

Gross versus net revenue recognition.  EarthLink maintains relationships with certtéfecommunications partners (including cable
companies) in which it provides services to custenusing the "last mile" element of the telecommations providers' networks. The term
"last mile" generally refers to the element of ¢elemmunications networks that is directly conned¢tedomes and businesses. In these
instances, management evaluates the criteria edtimEmerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") Issue 38319, "Reporting Revenue Gross ¢
Principal versus Net as an Agent,"” in determinirfgether it is appropriate to record the gross amofirgvenue and related costs or the net
amount due from the telecommunications partneeesue. Generally, when EarthLink is the primarlgal in the transaction with the
subscriber, has latitude in establishing pricethasparty determining the service specificationkas several but not all of these indicators,
EarthLink records the revenue at the amount bitedsubscriber. If EarthLink is not the primaryigbl and/or the telecommunications
partner has latitude in establishing prices, Eartkltecords revenue associated with the relatedasiliers on a net basis, netting the cost of
revenue associated with the service against thesgnmount billed the customer and recording themetunt as revenue. The determinatic
whether EarthLink meets many of the attributes igelcin EITF No. 99-19 for gross and net reveneeognition is judgmental in nature and
is based on an evaluation of the terms of eacimgeraent. A change in the determination of grossugenet revenue recognition could have
an impact on the gross amounts of revenues andtostenues EarthLink recognizes and the grosft pnargin percentages in the period in
which such determination is made; however, sudmaage in determination of revenue recognition waudtleffect net income (loss).

Multiple element arrangements.  Certain customer arrangements encompass neuttgdiverables, such as Internet access services,
hardware and installation. We account for thesergements in accordance with EITF Issue No2D0'Revenue Arrangements with Multi
Deliverables." If the deliverables meet the craen EITF No. 00-21, the deliverables are separitedseparate units of accounting and
revenue is allocated to the deliverables basethein itelative fair values. The criteria specifi@daITF Issue No. 00-21 are that the delivered
item has value to the customer on a stand-aloris, lthere is objective and reliable evidence offtievalue of the undelivered item, and if
the arrangement includes a general right of retelative to the delivered item, delivery or perfamse of the undelivered item is considered
probable and substantially in the control of thedar. For our purpose, fair value is generally wedi as the price at which a customer cc



purchase each of the elements independently frber @endors. Applicable revenue recognition critésiconsidered separately for each
separate unit of accounting. Management appliegnjight to ensure appropriate application of EITF 021, including value allocation
among multiple deliverables, determination of wieethndelivered elements are essential to the fomality of delivered elements and timing
of revenue recognition, among others.
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Allowance for doubtful accounts

EarthLink maintains allowances for doubtiatounts for estimated losses resulting fromheility of EarthLink's customers to make
payments. With respect to receivables due fromwmess, EarthLink's policy is to specifically resefor all consumer receivables 60 day:
more past due and provide a general reserve feiviaaes less than 60 days past due. EarthLinkiges\a general reserve for commercial
accounts receivable and periodically evaluates ceroial accounts receivable and provides specifemaes when accounts are deemed
uncollectible. Commercial accounts receivable aigen off when management determines there isassipility of collection.

In judging the adequacy of the allowanaedmubtful accounts, we consider multiple factorduding the aging of our receivables,
historical bad debt experience and the general@oanenvironment. Management applies consideralolgment in assessing the realization
of receivables, including assessing the probabilitgollection and the current creditworthinesgaéh customer. If the financial condition of
EarthLink's customers were to deteriorate, reqylitinan impairment of their ability to make paynsradditional allowances may be requil

Deferred tax asset valuation allowance

EarthLink accounts for income taxes ushngltability method in accordance with SFAS No. 108%counting for Income Taxes," whic
requires that deferred tax assets and liabiliteesgoognized using future tax rates for the efdé¢emporary differences between the book and
tax bases of recorded assets and liabilities. SRASL09 also requires that deferred tax assetedieced by a valuation allowance if it is m
likely than not that a portion of the deferred &sset will not be realized.

Based on management's assessment, a valasibwance has been established for all of Eanttié deferred tax assets, primarily net
operating loss carryforwards, due to uncertaingjarding their realization. We consider future tdgabcome in assessing the amount of the
valuation allowance. However, adjustments coulddogiired in the future if we estimate that the amaf deferred tax assets to be realize
more than the net amount we have recorded. Anyedserin the valuation allowance could have an itn@aour income tax provision
(benefit) and net income (loss) in the period inchtsuch determination is made.

Restructuring and facility exit costs

From time to time, EarthLink acquires besises and identifies personnel of the acquireenttidie terminated and facilities used by the
acquiree that it will close and exit. EarthLink@lsas closed its own facilities to streamline itsibess. Restructuring-related liabilities,
including reserves for facility exit costs, incluéstimates for, among other things, severance patgnamd amounts due under lease
obligations, net of estimated sublease incomenyf &ey variables in determining such estimatetuthe anticipating the commencement of
sublease agreements as well as estimates of selsbraial payment amounts, tenant improvement eostdrokerage and other related costs.
For acquired facilities to be closed that are stthijelong-term lease agreements, the remainitgitiaunder the lease, estimated tenant
improvement costs and brokerage and other relaists oet of expected sublease recovery, is recegaig a liability at the date of
acquisition, and the liability is included in therfvalues of identifiable assets acquired andlite@s assumed. If the facility to be closed ig
associated with an acquisition, we accrue the estichfuture costs of the lease obligation, nestifreated sublease income, and record fa
exit costs in the statements of operations.

If the real estate and leasing markets ghasublease amounts could vary significantly ftbenamounts estimated, resulting in a mat
change to EarthLink's recorded liability. We recary changes to the liability for facilities assded with an acquisition in the statements of
operations if such change is more than one year fhe date of acquisition. We periodically evaluaté, if necessary, adjust our estimates
based on currently-available information and swjhstments have periodically resulted in
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additional expense. Adjustments to EarthLink's réed liabilities for future lease obligations asated with vacated facilities could advers
or favorably affect future operating results.

Goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets

EarthLink's indefinite life intangible asseonsist primarily of goodwill. As of December, 2D03, the carrying value of goodwill a



other indefinite life intangible assets was $11@&illion. EarthLink accounts for intangible assetsaccordance with SFAS No. 142,

"Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets," which remgsithat goodwill and certain intangible assetsrdekto have indefinite lives, including
those recorded in past business combinations,ngefde amortized through the statement of opemstiout instead be tested for impairment
at least annually. We perform an impairment tesitofgoodwill and other indefinite life intangibdssets annually during the fourth quarte
our fiscal year or when events and circumstanagisate the indefinite life intangible assets migatpermanently impaired. EarthLink is one
reporting unit and, consequently, we test our imitef life intangible assets in the aggregate. iypairment test entails comparing the
aggregate market value of our outstanding secsifities our liabilities to the aggregate carryinfyesof our assets, including goodwill and
other indefinite life intangible assets. Based antesting during the fourth quarter of 2003, waaaded that there was no impairment of our
goodwill and other indefinite life intangible asset

EarthLink's business is subject to competipressures. Therefore, it is possible that tilaes assigned to goodwill and other indefinite
life intangible assets could be adversely impatiatie future by competition or other factors otésof our control. If management
determines that events or circumstances have @ttwrinich resulted in an other than temporary inmpait of indefinite life intangible asse
we may be required to record a significant impamhaejustment, which would reduce earnings.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2002, the EITF reached a cosisenn EITF Issue No. 00-21, "Revenue ArrangemeittsMultiple Deliverables." EITF
Issue No. 00-21 addresses certain aspects of toeirting for arrangements under which a vendorpeétform multiple revenue-generating
activities. EITF Issue No. 00-21 addresses whavarnue arrangement with multiple deliverables sthbel divided into separate units of
accounting and, if separation is appropriate, hmsvarrangement consideration should be allocatétet@entified accounting units. EITF
Issue No. 00-21 is applicable to transactions edtéto in fiscal periods beginning after June2@)3. EarthLink's adoption of EITF Issue
No. 0(-21 on July 1, 2003 did not have a material impecits results of operations or financial position.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. IB@counting for Certain Financial Instruments witharacteristics of both Liabilities and
Equity," which establishes standards for classgyamd measuring as liabilities certain financiatinments that include obligations of the
issuer and have characteristics of both liabiliied equity. SFAS No. 150 requires mandatorily eeagble instruments be classified as
liabilities. SFAS No. 150 is effective at the batjimg of the first interim period beginning aftem&ul5, 2003, including all financial
instruments created or modified after May 31, 2@&thLink's adoption of SFAS No. 150 on July 102@lid not have a material effect on
EarthLink's results of operations or financial piosi.

In January 2003, the Financial Accountitgn8ards Board ("FASB") issued Financial IntergietaNo. 46 ("FIN 46"), "Consolidation
of Variable Interest Entities." In December 200% FASB published revised guidance on FIN 46. FBNaddresses the consolidation of
certain variable interest entities ("VIES"). As nifagtl, FIN 46 is effective immediately for finantiaterests in special purpose entities and is
effective for all other types of VIEs for periodsding after March 15, 2004. EarthLink does not expiee adoption of FIN 46 will have a
material effect on its results of operations oafinial position.
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In December 2003, the Securities and Exgb&@ommission ("SEC") issued Staff Accounting Biill€"SAB") No. 104, "Revenue
Recognition." SAB No. 104 revises or rescinds thielgnce included in Topic B of the Codification@thaff Accounting Bulletins in order to
make this interpretive guidance consistent withrenirauthoritative accounting and auditing guidasceg SEC rules and regulations. The
adoption of SAB No. 104 did not have a materiadetiion EarthLink's results of operations or finahposition.

ltem 7a. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures bhout Market Risk.
Interest Rate Sensitivity

The primary objective of our investmentidties is to preserve principal while at the satinge maximizing the income we receive from
our investments without significantly increasingktiSome of the securities that we have investedan be subject to market risk. This me
that a change in prevailing interest rates maye#us fair value of the investments to fluctuata:. &ample, if we hold a security that was
issued with a fixed interest rate at the then-ptienprate and the prevailing interest rate laises, the fair value of our investment may
decline. To minimize this risk, we have historigaileld many investments until maturity, and assaltewe receive interest and principal
amounts pursuant to the underlying agreementsuitbdr mitigate risk, we maintain our portfoliocdsh equivalents in a variety of
securities. In general, money market funds aresabject to market risk because the interest paisleh funds fluctuates with the prevailing
interest rate. In addition, we invest in relativehort-term securities and, therefore, changebhantgerm interest rates impact the amount of
interest income included in the statements of djfmers. The effect of a hypothetical one percenfamjat increase in interest rates would have
a nominal effect on the fair value of our investisdmecause of the relatively short maturities afiouestments. The following table
summarizes the amortized costs and fair value pfrmestments by security type as of December 8022nd 2003.

As of December 31, 2002 As of December 31, 2003



Estimated Estimated
Amortized Fair Amortized Fair
Cost Value Cost Value

(in thousands)

Asse-backed securitie $ 23252: $ 232,64: $ 165,23° $ 165,14
U.S. corporate note 109,99: 110,41- 92,65¢ 92,62
Government agency not 1,50z 1,49( 23,34¢ 23,35t
Commercial pape 13,47¢ 13,47* 15,781 15,781

$ 357,49: $ 358,02: $ 297,02¢ $ 296,91
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The following table presents the amountswfcash equivalents and short- and long-termsimvents that are subject to market risk by
range of expected maturity and weighted-averageeant rates as of December 31, 2002 and 200318l does not include money market
funds because those funds are not subject to masket

As of December 31, 2002 As of December 31, 2003
Estimated Estimated
Fair Fair
Cost Value Cost Value

(dollars in thousands)

Included in cash and cash equivale $ 224,65( $ 224,65( $ 158,78 $ 158,78’
Weighted average interest r: 1.€% 1.2%

Weighted average maturity (mo 0.4 0.7

Included in marketable securit-current $ 10847: $ 10897t $ 89,20t $ 89,08¢
Weighted average interest r: 3.C% 1.7%

Weighted average maturity (mo 6.1 6.7

Included in marketable securit-long-term $ 24,37C $ 24,39 $ 49,037 $ 49,03!
Weighted average interest r: 2.5% 1.7%

Weighted average maturity (mo 14.2 14.1

Item 8. Financial Statements And Supplementary Data

The information required by this item apjgeia a subsequent section of this Report. Seexltwl€onsolidated Financial Statements on
page F-1.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Account&on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9a. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Pursuant to Rule 13a-15(b) under the SeesifExchange Act of 1934, EarthLink carried oueaaluation, with the participation of
EarthLink's management, including EarthLink's Cligécutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,tbe effectiveness of EarthLink's
disclosure controls and procedures (as definedruRdle 13a-15(e) under the Securities ExchangeoAt934) as of the end of the period
covered by this report. Based upon that evaluafamthLink's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Firwéal Officer concluded that EarthLink's
disclosure controls and procedures are effectivgrialy alerting them to material information rétef to EarthLink (including its consolidat
subsidiaries) required to be included in Earthlsmeriodic filings with the Securities and Excha@enmission



Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There has been no change in EarthLink&sriiad control over financial reporting during tihege months ended December 31, 2003 that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likelyrtaterially affect, EarthLink's internal controlenfinancial reporting.
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PART Il
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Rgistrant.

Information relating to the directors araiinees for directors of EarthLink will be set foinder the captions "Proposal 1—Election of
Directors—Nominees Standing for Election" and "Rregd 1—Election of Directors—Directors Not Standfog Election™ in our Proxy
Statement for our 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockhdd&Proxy Statement") or in a subsequent amendioehis Report. Information
relating to our executive officers will be set forinder the caption "Executive Officers” in the adoeferenced Proxy Statement or in a
subsequent amendment to this Report. Informatigardéng compliance by our directors and executifieers and owners of more than 10%
of EarthLink's common stock with the reporting riegments of Section 16(a) of the Securities Excleafdgt of 1934, as amended, will be set
forth under the caption "Executive Officers—Comptia with Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934" in the above-referenced
Proxy Statement or in a subsequent amendmentgdréiport. Information relating to EarthLink's CarfeEthics for directors and officers w
be set forth under the caption "Proposal 1—EleatibBirectors—Corporate Governance Matters—CodEetbfcs" in the above-referenced
Proxy Statement or in a subsequent amendmentgdripport. Such information is incorporated hergimeference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Information relating to compensation of directors and executive officers will be set fantider the captions "Proposal 1—Election of
Directors—Director Compensation” and "Executive @emsation" in our Proxy Statement referred to@mitLO above or in a subsequent
amendment to this Report. Such information is ipocated herein by reference, except for the inféionaset forth under the caption
"Executive Compensation—Compensation Committee RepoExecutive Officer Compensation,” which spieeifly is not so incorporated
by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @vners and Management.

Information regarding securities authorifedissuance under our equity compensation plat$®®set forth under the caption
"Executive Compensation—Executive Officer Compeiosat-Amended Equity Compensation Plan Informationbur Proxy Statement
referred to in Item 10 above or in a subsequentna@ment to this Report. Information regarding seaguivnership of certain beneficial
owners and management of our voting securitiesheilbet forth under the caption "Executive OffieeBeneficial Ownership of Common
Stock” in our Proxy Statement referred to in IteBrabove or in a subsequent amendment to this Repaeh information is incorporated
herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transaans.

Information regarding certain relationshipal transactions between EarthLink and certaouofaffiliates is set forth under the caption
"Executive Compensation—Compensation Committeelbiks" and "Executive Compensation—Certain Retatfops and Related
Transactions" in our Proxy Statement referred tiham 10 above or in a subsequent amendment t&Rép®rt. Such information is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

Information regarding our principal accdngtfees and services is set forth under the capfooposal 3—Ratification of Appointment
of Independent Auditors” in our Proxy Statemengnefd to in Item 10 above or in a subsequent amentita this Report. Such information
is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedulesnal Reports on Form 8-K.

(@) Documents filed as part of this Report

1)

()

(3)

3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

Financial Statements

1. Report of Independent Auditors

2. Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&802003

3. Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeragled December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003

4. Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity@mmhprehensive Loss for the years ended Decemb&081, 200:.
and 2003

5. Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the ysaidled December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003
6. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial Statement Schedules

The Financial Statement Schedule(s) described guRton S-X are omitted from this Report becatlnss tare either not
required under the related instructions or areptiagble.

Listing of Exhibits

— Second Amended and Restated Certificateanfrporation of EarthLink, Inc. (incorporated byerfnce to Exhibit 3.1 to the

Registration Statement on Forr-3 of EarthLink, Inc—File No. 33-109691).

Amended and Restated Bylaws of EarthLink, Inc.diporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Regi&tn Statement on
Form &3 of EarthLink, In—File No. 33-109691).

Specimen Common Stock Certificate (incorporateddigrence to Exhibit 4.3 of the Registration Stagatron Form S-8 of
EarthLink, Inc—File No. 33:-30024).

Rights Agreement, dated as of August 6, 2002, betviearthLink, Inc. and American Stock Transfer @nast Co.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Eanti,.Inc.'s Form -K, dated August 6, 20—File No. 00-15605).

EarthLink, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan, as amendaddiiporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 of Earthd.iimc.'s Post Effective
Amendment to Registration Statement on Fo-8—File No. 33:-39456).

EarthLink, Inc. Equity Plan for Non-Employee Dirert, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibof
EarthLink, Inc.'s Post Effective Amendment to Régison Statement on Forn-8—File No. 33:-108065).

EarthLink, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan for Bices and Certain Key Employees (incorporated fgremce to
Exhibit 4.5 of EarthLink, Inc.'s Post Effective Amdment to Registration Statement on Fol-8—File No. 33-108065).

1995 Stock Option Plan and Form of Stock Optione®gnent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.EafhLink, Inc.'s
Registration Statement on Forr-8—File No. 33:-30024).

MindSpring Enterprises, Inc. 1995 Stock Option PeEmamended (incorporated by reference to Extibibf EarthLink, Inc.'
Registration Statement on Forr-8—File No. 33:-30024).
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10.6

10.7

MindSpring Enterprises, Inc. 1995 Directors Stogkién Plan, as amended (incorporated by referemé&shibit 4.6 of
EarthLink, Inc.'s Registration Statement on For-8—File No. 33:-30024).

EarthLink, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ipooated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of EarthLilig.'s Registration



10.8

10.9

10.10

21.1*

23.1*

24.1*

31.1*

31.2*

32.1*

32.2*

Statement on Form-8—File No. 33:-83870).

— Office Lease Agreement dated November 16, 1999%vdm Kingston Atlanta Partners, L.P. and MindSpéEingerprises, Inc.,
as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit @EarthLink, Inc.'s Report on Form 10-Q for thearterly period ended
March 31, 200—File No. 00:-15605).

— Office Lease by and between The Mutual Life Insaea@ompany of New York, and EarthLink Network, [rdated
September 20, 1996, as amended (incorporated éserefe to Exhibit 10.2 of EarthLink, Inc.'s RepmitForm 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended March 31, 2—File No. 00:-15605).

— Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefid@muary 28, 2003, between EarthLink, Inc. ahdrgs G. Betty,
President and Chief Executive Officer of EarthLitiG. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.XEafthLink, Inc.'s Report
of Form 1(-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, z—File No. 00-15605).

— Subsidiaries of the Registra

— Consent of Independent Audito

— Power of Attorney (see the Power of Attorney in sigmature page heret

— Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant$ecurities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15&44dopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002

— Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuat $ecurities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15@&4.4dopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbar-Oxley Act of 2002

— Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuantdio8e306 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

— Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuantdtioBe906 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

(b)

Filed herewith.

Reports on Form 8-K

EarthLink furnished a Current Report on Form 8-KedaOctober 21, 2003 in which EarthLink reportedemitem 12 that on
October 21, 2003, EarthLink issued a press relaaseuncing its financial results for the quartestexhSeptember 30, 2003 and
providing guidance for the remainder of 2003 anmd2f@a04 (not incorporated by reference).

EarthLink filed a Current Report on Form 8-K da@cdtober 29, 2003 in which EarthLink reported uniiems 5 and 7 that on
October 23, 2003 EarthLink issued a press releaseumcing its Board of Directors authorized theurepase of an additional
$100 million of EarthLink's common stock pursuamits share repurchase program.

EarthLink filed a Current Report on Form 8-K datéalvember 20, 2003 in which EarthLink reported untiem 5 that its Board of
Directors approved the establishment of a salesipfaSky D. Dayton, Chairman of the Board of Dioestof EarthLink, to sell up to a
maximum of 200,000 shares of
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(©

EarthLink's common stock, par value $.01 per sHaetyeen December 16, 2003 and December 17, 2004.

EarthLink furnished a Current Report on Form 8-KedaDecember 9, 2003 in which EarthLink reportedarritem 9 that on
December 9, 2003, EarthLink issued a press ref@assding updated subscriber guidance for the foguarter of 2003. The
Company also reaffirmed its previously issued firiahguidance for other measures of performancéhf@fourth quarter and full year
2003 and for 2004 (not incorporated by reference).

Exhibits

The response to this portion of Iltem 15 is submiitis a separate section of this Rey



(d) Financial Statement Schedule

The Financial Statement Schedule(s) described guRR#on S-X are omitted from this Report becatlnsg tare either not required
under the related instructions or are inapplicable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectioorlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934jstant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduatyp authorized.

EARTHLINK, INC.

By: /s/ CHARLES G. BETTY

Charles G. Betty,
Chief Executive Officer
Date: March 5, 200

Each person whose signature appears bedogbi constitutes and appoints Charles G. BettyL.aedAdrean, the true and lawful
attorneys-in-fact and agents of the undersigneth fuil power of substitution and resubstitutioar &ind in the name, place and stead of the
undersigned, in any and all capacities, to signaard/all amendments to this Report, and to filesdmae, with all exhibits thereto, and other
documents in connection therewith, with the Semgiand Exchange Commission, and hereby grantsctoattorneys-in-fact and agents full
power and authority to do and perform each andyesetrand thing requisite and necessary to be dmntilly to all intents and purposes as
the undersigned might or could do in person, herabifying and confirming all that said attorneysfact and agents, or their substitute or
substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be dongitiye hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Seeariixchange Act of 1934, this report has beeresidielow by the following persons on bel
of registrant and in the capacities and on thesdatticated.

Date: March 5, 2004 By: /s/ CHARLES G. BETTY

Charles G. Betty, Chief Executive Officer and Dtoac
(principal executive officer

Date: March 5, 2004 By: /s/ LEE ADREAN
Lee Adrean, Chief Financial Officer (principal fimaal
officer)

Date: March 5, 2004 By: /s/ KEVIN M. DOTTS

Kevin M. Dotts, Vice President Finance (principal
accounting officer

Date: March 5, 2004 By: /s/ SKY D. DAYTON

Sky D. Dayton, Chairman of the Boe

Date: March 5, 2004 By: /s/ S. MARCE FULLER

S. Marce Fuller, Directc

Date: March 5, 2004 By: /s/ WILLIAM H. HARRIS, JR.

William H. Harris, Jr., Directo
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Date: March 5, 2004 By: /s/ TERRELL B. JONES

Terrell B. Jones, Directc

Date: March 5, 2004 By: /s/ ROBERT M. KAVNER

Robert M. Kavner, Directc

Date: March 5, 2004 By: /s/ LINWOOD A. LACY, JR.

Linwood A. Lacy, Jr., Directo

Date: March 5, 2004 By: [/s/ THOMAS E. WHEELER

Thomas E. Wheeler, Direct
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EARTHLINK, INC.
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Page
Report of Independent Audito ;
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, &00200: F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeragded December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2 F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity@mohprehensive Loss for the years ended

December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2( F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeradled December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2 F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem F-7

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Board of Directors and
Stockholders of EarthLink, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying cons@litlatlance sheets of EarthLink, Inc. as of Decer@be2002 and 2003, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockhdldgtsty and comprehensive loss, and cash flowsdch of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2003. These financial stateraeathe responsibility of the Company's managen@umt responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based omodits.

We conducted our audits in accordance aiitttiting standards generally accepted in the UrStates. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonablaerasse about whether the financial statementsraeedf material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence stipgdhe amounts and disclosures in the finarsteements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and gignifestimates made by management, as well asatiraj the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provideasonable basis for our opinic



In our opinion, the consolidated finanatdtements referred to above present fairly, imallerial respects, the consolidated financial

position of EarthLink, Inc. at December 31, 2008 @003, and the consolidated results of their djmra and their cash flows for each of the

three years in the period ended December 31, 20@®nformity with accounting principles generadlgcepted in the United States.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidéiteathcial statements, the Company adopted Stateaidfibhancial Accounting Standards
No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets if20and Statement of Financial Accounting StandBims146, Accounting for Cos

Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities in 2003

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
January 26, 2004

F-2

EARTHLINK, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except per share data)

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Investments in marketable securities

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $4,958 $H®&85 at December 31, 2002 and 2003,
respectively
Prepaid expenses

Other current assets

Total current assets

Long-term investments in marketable securi
Other long-term assets

Property and equipment, net

Subscriber bases, r

Goodwill and other indefinite life intangible asset

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Trade accounts payable

Accrued payroll and related expenses
Other accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Current portion of capital lease obligations

Deferred revenue

Total current liabilities

Deferred revenue, net of current portion
Long-term portion of capital lease obligations

Other long-term liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (See Note 14)

Stockholders' equity
Convertible preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 100,$hares authorized, 17,979 and 0 shares issudeousstanding at
December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively, aggregdte upon involuntary liquidation of $326,223&cember 31, 200z

December 31,

2002 2003
$ 382,06! $ 349,74(
108,97¢ 89,08¢
53,49¢ 35,58¢
16,83¢t 12,93«
22,84¢ 13,23(
584,22: 500,57
24,39¢ 49,037
7,32¢ 12,10
168,87" 108,81(
118,35 38,26«
120,38: 118,23:
$ 1,023,55 $ 827,02(
I
$ 46,61( $ 49,88:
28,33t 31,96¢
162,53° 115,48
3,36¢ 884
77,06¢ 69,00:
317,91 267,21
4,64¢ 6,37¢
61¢ 30
8,06¢ 9,73¢
331,25¢ 283,35
18C —



Common stock, $0.01 par value, 300,000 shares de¢lip 157,263 and 176,410 shares issued as ofnire31, 2002 an

2003, respectively, and 154,712 and 159,042 shartssanding at December 31, 2002 and 2003, respéc
Additional paid-in capital

Warrants to purchase common stock

Accumulated deficit

Treasury stock, at cost, 2,551 and 17,368 shaspectively, at December 31, 2002 and 2
Unrealized gains (losses) on investments

Deferred compensation

Total stockholders' equity

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.

Revenues
Narrowband acces

Broadband access

Web hosting

Content, commerce and advertising

Total revenues

Operating costs and expens
Telecommunications service and equipment costs

Sales incentives

Total cost of revenues

Sales and marketir
Operations and customer support

General and administrative
Acquisition-related amortization
Facility exit costs

Intangible asset write-off

Total operating costs and expenses

Loss from operation
Write-off of equity investments in other companies

Interest income and other, net

Net loss

Deductions for accretion dividends

Net loss attributable to common stockholc

EARTHLINK, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

1,57: 1,764
1,939,961 1,949,10!
1,22:¢ 1,22:¢
(1,236,99) (1,303,77)
(14,176 (104,344
531 (117)
— (197)
692,30( 543,66.
$ 1,023,55. $ 827,02(
;. |
Year Ended December 31,
2001 2002 2003
(in thousands, except per share data)
999,25, % 1,037,820 $ 965,02!
167,93! 250,59: 361,12
59,26: 53,21( 49,90:
18,47¢ 15,79: 25,87¢
1,244,92| 1,357,42 1,401,93
509,51 543,98: 519,14¢
67,91¢ 37,66¢ 21,17¢
577,43; 581,65( 540,32!
327,95: 373,48: 382,96!
339,49( 324,55! 297,04!
127,84¢ 123,37¢ 127,66«
217,48; 110,88 84,29¢
— 3,49: 36,59¢
11,25: — —
1,601,45! 1,517,44. 1,468,89.
(356,53() (160,02) (66,964
(10,000) (650) (202)
25,46¢ 12,63¢ 4,972
(341,06) (148,03)) (62,199
(29,88() (19,98 (4,586)
(370,94) $ (168,020 $ (66,780)



Basic and diluted net loss per share

Weighted average common shares outstanding

©

.79

135,73t

$ (1.1

151,35}

@

(0.49)

157,32:

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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EARTHLINK, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Preferred Stock Common Stock

Shares Amount Shares Amount

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Treasury St

Accumulated

Warrants Deficit Shares Am

Balance at December 31, 2000

Conversion of Series A convertible preferred sttuck
common stock

Conversion of Series B convertible preferred stimck
common stocl

Conversion of Series C convertible preferred stock
common stock

Accretion of convertible preferred stock

Issuance of common stock pursuant to acquisit
Issuance of common stock pursuant to exerciseooks
options and warrants

Net loss

43,38t $ 130,06: $ 1,301

(3,139 3,00( 30

(6,219 5,88¢ 59

(7,089

7,08:

14C

[y

1,81¢ 18

$ 1,877,13
1

3

29,88(

1,87¢

8,15¢

(in thousands)

$ 141: $ (698,03

(29,880

(341,0_6:)

Total comprehensive loss

Balance at December 31, 2001 26,95 27C 147,99«

1,917,05:

1,22 (1,068,97)

Conversions of Series A convertible preferred stock
common stock

Issuance of common stock pursuant to acquisitions
Accretion of convertible preferred sto

Issuance of common stock pursuant to exerciseooks
options

Issuance of common stock pursuant to employee st
purchase pla

Repurchase of common stock

Unrealized holding gains on certain investments
Net loss

(8,972) (90) 8,75(

11C 1

1,34(
19,98

1,06¢

51C

(19,9?3

(148,03)

Total comprehensive loss

Balance at December 31, 2002 17,97¢ 18C 1,572

1,939,961

1,22t (1,236,99) 2,551 |

Conversions of Series A convertible preferred stock
common stock

Conversions of Series B convertible preferred stock
common stocl

Accretion of convertible preferred stock

Issuance of common stock pursuant to exerciseooks
options

Issuance of common stock pursuant to employee st
purchase plan

Issuance of restricted stock units

Amortization of deferred compensati

Repurchase of common stock

Unrealized holding losses on certain investments
Net loss

(1,149 (12) 11

(16,836 (16 16¢

10

Total comprehensive loss

Balance at December 31, 20 — $ 176,41( $ 1,76¢

$ 1,949,10!
——

$ 1,22: $ (1,303,77) 17,36¢ $ (I



The accompanying notes are an integral part obthessolidated financial statements
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EARTHLINK, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activitie
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash plexviby operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortizatic
Loss on disposal of fixed assi
Loss on equity investments in other compa
Write-off of intangible asset
Deferred compensatic
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable

Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and abets
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and acangeother
liabilities

Decrease in deferred rever

Net cash provided by operating activit

Cash flows from investing activitie
Purchases of property and equipment,
Proceeds from the sale of fixed as:
Investments in marketable securit

Purchase

Sales and maturitie
Equity investments in other compan
Purchases of businesses, net of cash acq
Purchases of subscriber ba

Net cash used in investing activiti

Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from seé-leaseback transactio

Principal payments under capital lease obligat
Proceeds from stock options and warrants exereiedcemployee
stock purchase plan purcha:

Purchases of treasury stc

Net cash used in financing activiti

Net decrease in cash and cash equiva
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of -

Cash and cash equivalents, end of \

Acquisitions of businesse
Cash paid and transaction costs, net of cash act

Year Ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003
(in thousands)

$ (341,06) $ (148,03) $ (62,199
329,21( 217,62: 164,24
— 1,04¢ 7,79¢
10,00( 65C 20z
11,252 — —
— — 13
9,801 (7,319 17,61¢
9,952 (51¢) 8,53:
30,76¢ (30,05() (27,599
(12,539 (14,44 (6,887
47,38¢ 18,95¢ 101,72¢
(69,45() (32,53)) (28,445
— 1,03¢ 54z
(192,62)) (144,64 (159,55
22,62¢ 181,79¢ 154,15¢
(2,000) — —
(5,859 (20,379 —
(40,689 (21,719 (11,867
(287,98 (36,43)) (45,177
87z = =
(18,980 (11,89) (3,079
7,98¢ 1,58: 4,36(
— (14,176) (90,169
(10,119 (24,485 (88,887
(250,71) (41,964 (32,329
674,74¢ 424,02¢ 382,06
$ 424,02¢ $ 382,06 $ 349,74(
IEEEEEEEE—— S
$ 585 $ 20,372 $ —



Net liabilities assume 12,58: 34,00 —

Intangible assets acquir $ 18,43t $ 54,37¢ $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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EARTHLINK, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization

EarthLink, Inc. ("EarthLink" or the "Compgh is a leading Internet service provider ("ISR¥)oviding nationwide Internet access and
related value-added services to its individual lamsiness customers. EarthLink's primary serviceroffjs are narrowband, broadband or
high-speed, and wireless Internet access serviashosting services; and advertising and relatadketing services. The Company provides
a broad range of products and services to moreftbamillion paying customers through a nationwidstwork of dial-up points of presence
("POPs"), a nationwide broadband footprint and le@ss technologies.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements ithelthe accounts of all wholly-owned subsidiariethefCompany. All intercompany
transactions and balances have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates in Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statementsdnformity with accounting principles generally apted in the United States requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfiztttae reported amounts of assets and lialslitiee disclosure of contingent assets
liabilities at the date of the financial statemeatsd the reported amounts of revenues and expduoseg the reporting period. These
estimates include, but are not limited to, assgsia collectibility of accounts receivable; the usecoverability, and/or realizability of cert.
assets, including deferred tax and other assetsrves established for contractual commitmentéudirtg non-cancelable leases and
telecommunications services; useful lives for dejatéon and amortization periods of tangible artdmgible assets; the fair values of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in acquisitionbudinesses; and long-lived asset impairments.ahcésults could differ from those
estimates.

Revenues

EarthLink recognizes revenue when perseaswdence of an arrangement exists, delivery basroed, the sales price is fixed or
determinable and collectibility is probable. Getigrahese criteria are met monthly as EarthLirdésvice is provided on a month-to-month
basis and collection for the service is generalydmwithin 30 days of the service being providegvdtues are recorded as earned.

Narrowband access revenues consist of riyofaés charged to customers for dial-up Intermeeas and wireless access services.
Narrowband access revenues also include revensesiated with the activation and sale of Intermpgtliances, including personal comput
handheld devices and other equipment used to obt'met access services. Broadband access reveansist of fees charged for high-
speed, high-capacity access services includingadliglibscriber line ("DSL"), cable, satellite, fikevireless and dedicated circuit services.
Broadband access revenues also include installaiopping, and equipment revenues as well asatiiivand early termination fees. Web
hosting revenues consist of fees earned by leaginger space and providing web services to comgpamd individuals wishing to present a
web or e-commerce presence. Content, commercedsedtising revenues consist of revenues from Eamitis partnerships, which are
promotional arrangements with advertisers, retgjleervice providers and content providers.
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Revenues from multiple element arrangemientghich EarthLink provides equipment, activatamd Internet access services are
recognized as each element is earned based oeldtige fair value of each element and when thezena undelivered elements that are
essential to the functionality of the deliverednedmts. When the Company's Internet access semeesssential to the functionality of 1



equipment, activation and equipment revenues datkrbecosts are recognized over the estimatedfiifee customer.

EarthLink maintains relationships with eénttelecommunications partners (including cablaganies) in which it provides services to
customers using the "last mile" element of thecmdemunication providers' networks. The term "ladetrgenerally refers to the element of
telecommunications networks that is directly coneédo homes and businesses. In these instanagis|_ilB& evaluates the criteria outlined
Emerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") Issue No. 99*R@porting Revenue Gross as a Principal versusdlan Agent," in determining
whether it is appropriate to record the gross amofirevenue and related costs or the net amounitdtom the telecommunications partner.
Generally, when EarthLink is the primary obligortire transaction with the subscriber, has latifadestablishing prices, is the party
determining the service specifications or has sdvart not all of these indicators, EarthLink regothe revenue at the amount billed the
subscriber. If EarthLink is not the primary obligard/or the telecommunications partner has latitndstablishing prices, EarthLink records
revenue associated with the related subscribeesrmt basis, netting the cost of revenue associtbdhe service against the gross amount
billed the customer and recording the net amounéasnue.

Content, commerce and advertising revemadsde amounts derived from selling other compsirpeoducts and/or services to Earthl
subscribers, subscribers using and/or buying atbedors' products and/or services, and allowingpzomes to advertise to EarthLink's
subscribers, among other activities. Content, cornenand advertising revenues are recorded basttegrer unit contractual rate and the
number of units sold, number of subscriber impssi or number of subscriber purchases or actions.

Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenues include telecommunicatg®rsice and equipment costs and sales incenfiedscommunications service and
equipment costs include telecommunications feesahdork operations costs incurred to provide tbenfBany's Internet access services;
paid to content providers for information providemthe Company's online properties, including tben@any's Personal Start Page™; the
costs of equipment sold to customers for use wighGQompany's narrowband and broadband Internesssegvices; and activation and
deactivation fees paid to the Company's networkigess for the provisioning and disconnection avgms.

Sales incentives include the cost of proomatl products and services provided to potentiksribers as introductory offers, including
free Internet access on a trial basis; free cameradems and other hardware; and starter kitshEiak accounts for sales incentives in
accordance with EITF Issue No. 01-09, "AccountiogGonsideration Given by a Vendor to a Customael@iding a Reseller of the Vendor's
Products)," which requires the costs of sales itiees to be classified as cost of revenues. Poithé adoption of EITF Issue No. 00-14,
"Accounting for Certain Sales Incentives," on Jagua 2002, EarthLink classified the costs of theakes incentives as sales and marketing
expenses. As required by EITF Issue No. 01-09¢tists of sales incentives in prior periods havenlreelassified to cost of revenues to
conform to the current year presentation.
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Regulatory Risk

EarthLink purchases broadband access fneomibent local exchange carriers, competitive legahange carriers and cable providers.
Please refer to "Regulatory Environment" in theiBess section of this 10-K for a discussion ofrigulatory environment as well as a
discussion regarding the Company's contracts witadband access providers.

Source of Supplies

The Company's business substantially dependhe capacity, affordability, reliability anecsirity of third-party telecommunications
and data service providers. Only a small numbera¥iders offer the network services the Compamyires, and the majority of its
telecommunications services are currently purch&sed several telecommunications service providersaddition, several
telecommunications services providers have expegifinancial difficulties and have filed for banktcy and, consequently, may be unable
to perform satisfactorily or to continue to offleir services. Although management believes thatrate telecommunications providers
could be found in a timely manner, any disruptibthese services could have a material adverseteifethe Company's financial position,
results of operations and cash flows.

The Company also relies on the reliabiligpacity and effectiveness of its outsourced abrtanter service providers. The Company
purchases contact center services from severakggligally dispersed service providers. The contanter service providers may become
subject to financial and political risks beyond @mpany's or the providers' control which coulgpjgrdize their ability to deliver services.
Although management believes that alternate contuter service providers could be found in a tynmeanner, any disruption of these
services could have a material adverse effect @i€Cdmpany's financial position, results of operatiand cash flows.

Advertising

Advertising costs are included in sales aradketing. Advertising expense includes a vargdtgrograms and strategies including
broadcast campaigns in television and radio, direit, cc-marketing and bundling agreements, print publicetj@nd online promotion ai



co-branding with a wide variety of interactive pents. Direct mail advertising consists of produttiprinting, mailing and postage related to
disks and coupons distributed through the mailasmgromotional inserts in packages, periodicalsrevespapers. Advertising costs are
expensed as incurred. Advertising expenses weré.318illion, $145.8 million and $173.0 million dag the years ended December 31,
2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively.

Softwar e Development Costs

EarthLink accounts for research and devekaqt costs in accordance with several accountioggamcements, including Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 2, "Aonting for Research and Development Costs," aS3Fo. 86, "Accounting for the
Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased tbet@ise Marketed." SFAS No. 86 specifies thatxasturred internally in creating a
computer software product should be charged tores@perhen incurred as research and developmenteucttihological feasibility has been
established for the product. Once technologicadifslity is established, all software costs shduddcapitalized until the product is available
for general release to customers. Judgment isnextjin determining when the technological feagipitif a product is established. The
Company has determined that technological feasilfdr its products is reached very shortly befire
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products are released. Costs incurred after teobiuwall feasibility is established are not matewaid, accordingly, the Company expenses
research and development costs when incurred.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under #iwlily method. Under this method, deferred tavetssand liabilities are recognized for
operating loss carryforwards, tax credit carryfamgaand the estimated future tax consequencebuddtile to differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of existingess and liabilities and their respective tax baBeserred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rates in effect foye¢he in which the temporary differences are expkftticbe recovered or settled. A valuation
allowance is recorded to reduce the carrying ansohtleferred tax assets if there is uncertainjamding their realization.

Net Loss per Share

Net loss per share has been computed danga@ SFAS No. 128, "Earnings per Share," whidurees disclosure of basic and diluted
net loss per share. Basic and diluted net losshpame for all periods is calculated by dividing loss by the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding during the period. Dale@Company's net losses, the effect of potentifilitive securities or common stock
equivalents that could be issued was excluded fhendiluted net loss per share calculation dudecanti-dilutive effect. Such potentially
dilutive securities consist of the following:

As of December 31,

2001 2002 2003

(in thousands)

Convertible preferred stoc 26,95 17,97¢ —
Options and warran 21,02: 28,35¢ 22,74
Restricted stock unil — — 24

Total 47,97 46,33t 22,76¢

The options and warrants amounts includetié above table represent all options and warauiistanding. However, certain of these
options and warrants have exercise prices greserthe market value of the Company's common siodk consequently, are anti-dilutive.
Additionally, in accordance with SFAS No. 128, thempany would utilize the treasury stock methodedtermine the dilution attributable to
options and warrants, and the application of suethod generally results in a number of optionsweadants included in diluted weighted
average shares outstanding being less than th&usgoantity outstanding. Using the applicatiorihaf treasury stock method, potentially
dilutive options and warrants during the year endedember 31, 2003 would have resulted in apprain&.4 million shares included in
diluted weighted average shares outstanding, ti securities would have had a dilutive effect.

Sock-Based Compensation

As of December 31, 2003, EarthLink had masistock-based compensation plans and the Eakthlhie. Employee Stock Purchase Plan
("ESPP"), which are more fully described in Note "IStock Compensation Plans and Warrants." Earthhgtounts for those plans under the
intrinsic value
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method, which follows the recognition and measummpeinciples of Accounting Principles Board ("APBDpinion No. 25, "Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees," and Financial AccognBtandards Board ("FASB") Interpretation ("FIN"d.Ni4, "Accounting for Certain
Transactions Involving Stock Compensation." Stautt ather equity instruments issued to non-emplogeesiccounted for in accordance
with SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based C@mgation," and EITF Issue No. 96-18, "AccountingEquity Instruments That Are
Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, o€onjunction with Selling, Goods or Services," and valued using the Black-Scholes
model.

No stock-based employee compensation eteed to stock options is reflected in net lossalhoptions granted under stock-based
compensation plans had an exercise price equaktmarket value of the underlying common stockhengrant date. Further, the ESPP
qualifies as a noncompensatory plan under APB ©piMo. 25, and, as such, no compensation costecagnized for ESPP awards.
Compensation cost related to restricted stock gmnaated to non-employee directors in the year @mkrember 31, 2003 is reflected in net
loss as the deferred compensation is amortizedtbeeresting period. If the Company had electeaidmpt the optional recognition provisic
of SFAS No. 123, which uses the fair value basethatefor stockbased compensation, and amortized the fair valgergpensation expen
on a straight-line basis over the vesting peried loss attributable to common stockholders anitlza®l diluted net loss per share would
have been changed to the pro forma amounts indidew:

Year Ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003

(in thousands, except per share data)

Net loss attributable to common stockholders, pented $ (370,94) $ (168,020 $ (66,780)
Stock-based compensation expense determined usaig a

value based method for all awal (57,607 (58,099 (40,687
Pro forma net loss attributable to common stockéal $ (428,549 $ (226,119 $ (107,46

Basic and diluted net loss per shz

As reportec $ (279 $ 111 $ (0.42)
Pro forma $ (3.1¢) $ (1.49 $ (0.6¢)

The fair value of stock options used to pate pro forma net loss is the estimated fair valuhe date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model with the following assumptions

Year Ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003
Annual dividends zerc zerc zerc
Expected volatility 93% 76% 70%
Risk free interest rai 4.62% 3.6% 3.35%
Expected life 6.6 year 6.6 year 5.6 year

For options granted during the years efdiecember 31, 2002 and 2003, the Company's assunmydtExpected volatility for valuing
options using the Black-Scholes model was basatehistorical volatility of the Company's stockaer for the period January 1, 2001
through the date of option grant because managebediates the historical volatility since Januar®@01 is more representative of
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prospective volatility. Volatility estimates for tipns granted during the year ended December 311, 2@re based on historical volatility o'
periods of five to seven years.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss as presented in thedlidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity and @refmensive Loss includes unreali:



gains and losses which are excluded from the Cafetetl Statements of Operations in accordance SHAS No. 130, "Reporting
Comprehensive Income." For the years ended Dece®&Ih&002 and 2003, these amounts included unegbdjains and losses on certain
investments classified as available-for-sale. Theunts are presented net of t@kated effects which management estimates to ttue dee t(
losses incurred by the Company and uncertaintyrdéggrealization of deferred tax assets.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

All highly liquid investments with originahaturities of three months or less at the datcqtiisition are considered cash equivalents.
These investments primarily consist of money mattieds, asset-backed securities and commerciakpape

Investments

Investments in marketable securities acewaated for in accordance with SFAS No. 115, "Actimg for Certain Investments in Debt
and Equity Securities." All investments with originmaturities greater than three months and witturitees less than one year from the
balance sheet date are considered short-term meess. Investments with maturities greater thanyeae from the balance sheet date are
considered long-term investments. The investmarteiinvestment grade and include corporate boasket-backed securities and
government agency notes.

The Company has classified all short- amdjiterm investments in marketable securities adable-for-sale. Available-for-sale
securities are carried at fair value, with any afized gains and losses, net of tax, included nealized gains (losses) on investments as a
separate component of stockholders' equity. Rehtizins and losses are included in interest incamaeother, net, in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations and are determined oadfispgdentification basis.

Equity investments in other companies,udirlg investments in venture capital funds, areanted for under the cost method.
Management regularly evaluates the recoverabifiiyseequity investments in other companies basethe performance and the financial
position of those companies as well as other evidef market value. During the years ended Dece®be?001, 2002 and 2003, the
Company recognized losses of $10.0 million, $0.Boniand $0.2 million, respectively, to write dowts equity investments in other
companies to their estimated realizable value. & hesses are included in write-off of equity invaehts in other companies in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Accounts Receivable and Deferred Revenue

The Company generally bills for Internetess services monthly in advance for customersamthrto-month service plans. The
Company offers prepay plans that allow customemépay for services for periods of up to two yedate Company's wholly-owned
subsidiary, PeoplePC Inc. ("PeoplePC"), offersckpge that includes a personal computer and prépthet access services for
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a period of up to four years. The Company defevsiaded billings and prepayments and recognizes andunts as revenues as services are
delivered. Deferred revenue associated with pemodie than one year from the date of the finarstatlements is classified as long-term.

EarthLink maintains allowances for doubtiotounts for estimated losses resulting fromrhéility of EarthLink's customers to make
required payments. In assessing the adequacy afltveance for doubtful accounts, management censithultiple factors including the
aging of its receivables, historical bad debt eigrere and the general economic environment. Ifitteacial condition of EarthLink's
customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impent of their ability to make payments, additibabowances may be required. With
respect to receivables due from consumers, the @oygpolicy is to specifically reserve for all ed@bles 60 days or more past due and
provide a general reserve for receivables less@Battays past due. EarthLink provides a generarvesor commercial accounts receivable
and periodically evaluates commercial accountsivabée and provides specific reserves when accanmstsleemed uncollectible. The
Company has recorded an allowance for doubtful @isoof $5.0 million and $5.9 million at Decemb@r 3002 and 2003, respectively. The
Company recorded bad debt expense of $29.1 milfiaf,1 million and $33.4 million during the yearsled December 31, 2001, 2002 and
2003, respectively.

Financial Instruments

By their nature, all financial instrumeirsolve risk, including credit risk for non-perfoance by counterparties. Financial instruments
that potentially subject the Company to credit Gsksist principally of cash, cash equivalentsegtments in marketable securities and trade
receivables. The Company's cash investment palinysl investments to shorter-term, investment giadeguments. Credit risk with respect
to trade receivables is limited due to the largeber of customers comprising the Company's custdase. The carrying values reported in
the Consolidated Balance Sheets for cash, cashiadgois, investments in marketable securities eawktreceivables approximate their fair
values.



Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at egstdccumulated depreciation. Depreciation experdatermined using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the weriasset classes, which are generally three toyiges for computers and
telecommunications equipment and five years foeiotton-computer furniture and equipment. Leaseimopdovements are depreciated using
the straight-line method over the shorter of tlestimated useful lives or the term of the leas@daxitures for maintenance and repairs are
charged to operating expense as incurred. At the &if retirements, sales, impairments, or othgyadigions of property, the original cost and
related accumulated depreciation are removed flemaspective accounts, and the gains and lossgsesented as depreciation expense or
as facility exit costs, as appropriate.

Equipment Under Capital Lease

The Company leases certain of its data conications and other equipment under capital lagseements. The assets under capital
lease and related liabilities are recorded atebedr of the present value of aggregate futurenmaimi lease payments, including estimated
bargain purchase options, or the fair value ofasmets under lease. Assets under capital leasenartized over the lesser of their estimated
useful lives of three to five years or the ternmhsf lease.
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Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist primarily of dcepli subscriber bases and goodwill. Subscribersbasgquired directly are valued at cost plus
assumed service liabilities, which approximatesvalue at the time of purchase. Goodwill is theess of the purchase price over the fair
value of identifiable net assets acquired in bussr@mbinations accounted for as purchases. Whaagament determines material
intangible assets, such as customer bases and dlpadevacquired in conjunction with the purcha$ea company, EarthLink undertakes a
study by an independent third party to determireatfocation of the purchase price to the intargéssets acquired.

On January 1, 2002, the Company adoptedSIRé 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assetstiich requires that goodwill and
certain intangible assets, including those recordgrast business combinations, no longer be amsattihrough the statement of operations,
but instead be tested for impairment at least diyn@ther intangible assets continue to be amediaver their useful lives. In connection
with the adoption, the Company reviewed the clasgibn of its goodwill and other intangible assétscordingly, on January 1, 2002, the
Company discontinued the amortization of intangdseets with indefinite lives, which consisted ity of goodwill. Intangible assets
determined to have definite lives, which consigtarrily of subscriber bases, are amortized over #stimated useful lives of three years.

The Company performs an impairment testsaoodwill and other indefinite life intangiblssets annually during the fourth quarter of
its fiscal year or when events and circumstancéisate the indefinite life intangible assets mightpermanently impaired. The Company is
one reporting unit and, consequently, tests itefinite life intangible assets in the aggregates Tompany's impairment test entails
comparing the aggregate market value of the Companystanding securities plus its liabilitieshe taggregate carrying value of the
Company's assets, including goodwill and otherfinde life intangible assets. If the aggregate keawvalue of the Company's outstanding
securities plus its liabilities is less than thgmgate carrying value of the Company's assetiidimy goodwill and other indefinite life
intangible assets, the Company would compare ttia&ed fair value of goodwill and other indefiniiie intangible assets to the
corresponding book value of goodwill and other firdee life intangible assets and record an impa&intioss to the extent the book value
exceeds the estimated fair value.

Long-Lived Assets

The Company accounts for long-lived assetecordance with SFAS No. 144, "Accounting fae tmpairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets," which addresses financial accourding reporting for the impairment and dispositibfoag-lived assetsThe Company
evaluates the recoverability of long-lived assetiser than indefinite lived intangible assets,ifopairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amoumtnodisset may not be recoverable. Conditions thatdrgecessitate an impairment
assessment include a significant decline in themiadble market value of an asset, a significanbglan the extent or manner in which an
asset is used, or a significant adverse changevihalt! indicate that the carrying amount of an aesgroup of assets is not recoverable. For
long-lived assets to be held and used, EarthLinkgrizes an impairment loss only if its carryingoamt is not recoverable through its
undiscounted cash flows and measures the impairtoestif any, based on the difference betweerténg/ing amount and fair value. Long-
lived assets held for sale are reported at therdafveost or fair value less costs to sell.
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Facility Exit Costs



The Company accounts for facility exit @oist accordance with SFAS No. 144 and SFAS No. écounting for Costs Associated
with Exit or Disposal Activities," which requirekdt a liability for a cost associated with an exitlisposal activity be recognized when the
liability is incurred and nullifies EITF Issue N®4-3, "Liability Recognition for Certain EmployeeiMmination Benefits and Other Costs to
Exit an Activity (Including Certain Costs Incurr@da Restructuring)."”

Reclassifications
Certain amounts in the prior year finansialtements have been reclassified to conformgatirent year presentation.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2002, the EITF reached a casisenn EITF Issue No. 00-21, "Revenue ArrangemeitiisMultiple Deliverables." EITF
Issue No. 00-21 addresses certain aspects of toeirmiting for arrangements under which a vendorpétform multiple revenue-generating
activities. EITF Issue No. 00-21 addresses whezvanue arrangement with multiple deliverables sthbel divided into separate units of
accounting and, if separation is appropriate, Hoevarrangement consideration should be allocatéuketaentified accounting units. EITF
Issue No. 00-21 is applicable to transactions edtérto in fiscal periods beginning after June2@)3. The Company's adoption of EITF
Issue No. 00-21 on July 1, 2003 did not have a rnizdteffect on its results of operations or finalgiosition.

In January 2003, the Financial Accountitgn8ards Board ("FASB") issued Interpretation N®(4IN 46"). In December 2003, the
FASB published revised guidance on FIN 46. FIN d@rasses the consolidation of certain variable@steentities ("VIES"). As modified,
FIN 46 is effective immediately for financial ingsts in special purpose entities and is effectvall other types of VIEs for periods ending
after March 15, 2004. The Company does not expecatioption of FIN 46 will have a material effentits results of operations or financial
position.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. I3@counting for Certain Financial Instruments witharacteristics of both Liabilities and
Equity," which establishes standards for classgyamd measuring as liabilities certain financiatinments that include obligations of the
issuer and have characteristics of both liabiliied equity. SFAS No. 150 requires mandatorily eatkble instruments be classified as
liabilities. SFAS No. 150 is effective at the batjimg of the first interim period beginning aftem&ul5, 2003, including all financial
instruments created or modified after May 31, 2008 Company's adoption of SFAS No. 150 on JuB0D3 did not have a material effect
on its results of operations or financial position.

In December 2003, the Securities and Exgd&@ommission ("SEC") issued Staff Accounting Biidl€"SAB") No. 104, "Revenue
Recognition." SAB No. 104 revises or rescinds thielgnce included in Topic B of the Codification@thaff Accounting Bulletins in order to
make this interpretive guidance consistent withrenirauthoritative accounting and auditing guidasmeg SEC rules and regulations. The
adoption of SAB No. 104 did not have a materia¢effon the Company's results of operations or @ii@position.
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3. Acquisitions and Asset Purchases
Cidco Incorporated

In December 2001, EarthLink acquired 80%hefoutstanding common stock of Cidco Incorporgt&idco”), a developer, distributor
and provider of email appliances and related sesvior $5.8 million in cash. In February 2002, Ehittk completed its acquisition of Cidco
by purchasing the remaining 20% of Cidco's commooksfor $1.1 million in cash. The Cidco acquisitivas accounted for using the
purchase method of accounting, and accordinglyrekelts of operations of Cidco have been includegte accompanying consolidated
financial statements since the date of acquisifimgember 1, 2001.

Since the Company's acquisition of Cidc®acember 2001, EarthLink has provided Cidco's kapgiliances such as the MailStation
and related Internet services. During the year éfzkrember 31, 2003, the Company ceased activeetiraglof the MailStation products a
services but intends to continue providing serviodglailStation customers that are currently a¢édeor may activate in the future.
Consequently, the Company reduced the carryingevatlits MailStation hardware, including inventany hand and in the retail channels, to
its estimated net realizable value. The resultingendown of MailStation hardware of $4.8 milliosincluded in telecommunications service
and equipment costs in the Company's ConsolidatgdiSent of Operations for the year ended Decelibe2003.

OmniSky Corporation

In January 2002, the Company acquired thprpetary software platform of OmniSky Corporati@®mniSky") in a Bankruptcy Code
Section 363 purchase of assets. OmniSky was admowef wireless data applications and servicesi$eron mobile devices. The aggregate
cost to acquire the OmniSky platform consisted#$nillion in cash, transaction charges of $0.8iom and the assumption of $2.7 million
in liabilities. In connection with the acquisitiari the OmniSky platform, the Company recorded $6illilon in computer software ar



hardware and $0.2 million in other assets.

During the year ended December 31, 20@8Cihmpany decided to discontinue providing servicertain customers supported by and
to cease adding subscribers to the OmniSky platféeunordingly, the Company reduced the carryingigadf the acquired software and
hardware by $2.4 million based on the estimatedréutash flows of the customers who continue tsupported with the OmniSky platform,
and the write-down is included in telecommunicagiservice and equipment costs in the Company'sdlldaged Statement of Operations for
the year ended December 31, 2003.

PeoplePC

In July 2002, EarthLink purchased the ariding stock of PeoplePC. PeoplePC provides valisegpInternet access using a cost-
efficient technology platform and a start page amstable for marketing partners. PeoplePC alsoigesva membership package that
includes a brand-name computer, unlimited Inteaiceess, customer support and an in-home warraktignibership Package"). EarthLink
paid $0.0221 per share in cash, or a total of afprately $12.9 million, and paid transaction cast$1.3 million. The cash used to purchase
businesses as presented in the Consolidated Statefmeéash Flows for the year ended December 302 2tcludes approximately
$7.5 million for the payment of acquisition-relatad other liabilities assumed in the transactidre Company has accounted for the
acquisition of PeoplePC using the purchase methadamunting, and accordingly, the results of opena of PeoplePC have been included
in the accompanying consolidated financial statémsince the date of acquisition, July 31, 2002.
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EarthLink assumed approximately $24.6 wnillin deferred service liabilities to PeoplePC subgrs who purchased prepaid Internet
access services and a personal computer as pakiwfdled package prior to the acquisition dateeffiiership Customers"). The Company
determined the deferred service liability assumeskd on the present value of the direct costajditay telecommunications and customer
support costs, expected to be incurred over the bdeship Customers' remaining prepaid terms. Thegamyrecognized approximately
$9.1 million and $14.0 million during the years eddecember 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively, atsdcivith providing services to
acquired Membership Customers. The Company alsovess other liabilities of $24.5 million.

In the transaction, EarthLink acquired apgmately 518,000 Membership Customers and appratdin 55,000 value-priced, monthly
billed subscribers. EarthLink allocated approxirhagi 1.0 million of the purchase price to the acgdiPeoplePC subscriber base and
$2.0 million to fixed assets for proprietary tectogies and software acquired in the transactionrandrded goodwill and other indefinite life
intangible assets of approximately $41.9 million.

Pro forma disclosures of financial information

The unaudited pro forma condensed combstetements of operations for the years ended Deme®ih 2001 and 2002 combine the
results of EarthLink, Cidco and PeoplePC as ifabguisitions of Cidco and PeoplePC had occurredaomary 1, 2001. The unaudited pro
forma condensed combined statements of operatirensaged on the historical consolidated combineahfiial statements of EarthLink,
Cidco and PeoplePC. The unaudited pro forma cordiecsmbined statements of operations are not remilgsadicative of the results that
would have been achieved had such transactionsdmsummated as of the date indicated, the rethatsvould have been realized had the
entities been a single entity during these period#he results that may be achieved in the future.

Year Ended December 31,

2001 2002

(in thousands, except per share data)
(unaudited)

Statement of operations data

Total revenue

$ 1,336,08. $ 1,411,87!

Net loss (491,18() (170,512
Deductions for accretion dividends (Note . (29,88() (19,987
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $ (521,06() $ (190,499
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ (3.8 $ (1.26)

I I
Weighted average common shares outstan 135,73t 151,35!

I I

4. Restructuring Charges and Facility Exit Costs



PeoplePC

EarthLink's acquisition of PeoplePC inclda®sts related to a formal EarthLink plan (thediitePC Plan") to integrate PeoplePC's
operations into EarthLink's operations and to BrioplePC's international operations. The Peopld&Cdalled for the net reduction of 13
positions in operations and
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customer support, sales and marketing, and in geard administrative departments. The origindaheses for costs associated with the
PeoplePC Plan included $2.1 million related towhige-off of duplicative and abandoned assets, $filBon related to employee termination
benefits and $1.8 million related to exiting Pe®flés international operations, including $0.6 roilfor the writeeff of abandoned assets ¢
$1.2 million related to costs associated with a-cancelable lease. The costs of the PeoplePC Réancduded in the purchase price of
PeoplePC and are included in the fair values dfitda assets acquired and liabilities assumedaratiyuisition. The costs associated with the
PeoplePC Plan were less than original estimatesasnal result, the Company decreased its lialbdigted to severance costs and the non-
cancelable lease during the year ended Decemb@083,by $0.5 million resulting in a decrease indwill. The following table summarizes
the status of the restructuring and exit coststhadelated reserves for the PeoplePC Plan asdofoaithe years ended December 31, 2002
and 2003:

Balance Balance

Purchase December 31 December 31

Related Non-Cash

Costs Iltems Payments 2002 Payments Adjustments 2003
(in thousands)
Write-off duplicative and abandoned softw $ 2,13¢ $ (2,136 $ — & — & — & — $ —
Severance cos 76¢ — (57¢) 191 (62) (129) —
International operations exit costs

Write-off abandoned assets 57€ (57€) — — — — —
Non-cancelable lease 1,19¢ — (600) 59€ (2393 (369) —
Total international exit cos 1,772 (57€) (600) 59¢€ (233 (369) —
$ 4,671 $ (2,719 $ 1,179 $ 787 $ (295) $ (492) $ —]

Facility exit costs

On November 15, 2002, EarthLink closedPit®enix, Arizona contact center facility. The ptanthe closure of the Phoenix facility
called for the elimination of 259 positions, printacustomer support personnel. In connection i closing, EarthLink recorded facility
exit costs of $3.5 million in the fourth quarter2f02. These costs included approximately $1.7anillor employee, personnel and related
costs; $0.5 million for real estate and telecommoations contract termination costs; and approximdaie.3 million in asset write-downs. As
of December 31, 2002, EarthLink had eliminated8B positions and had accrued but unpaid severataied to the eliminated positions of
$0.3 million. The Company has paid all exit costd aritten off the impaired assets associated thighPhoenix facility.

On January 28, 2003, EarthLink announcplhaa to streamline its contact center facilitidge(tContact Center Plan"). In connection \
the Contact Center Plan, EarthLink closed contanter facilities in Dallas, Texas; Sacramento, foalia; Pasadena, California; and Seattle,
Washington during the months of February and M&@03. The closure of the four contact center fiediresulted in the termination of
1,220 employees, primarily customer support persbis of March 31, 2003, the Company had commuedtdetails of the Contact Center
Plan, including termination dates, to all 1,22Caféd employees and all affected employees' positiad been eliminated. The Contact
Center Plan resulted in a net reduction of 920 eyg#s, primarily customer support personnel, bex&asthLink hired customer support
personnel at its remaining facilities to suppatitoadband service offerings. In connection with€ontact Center Plan, EarthLink recorded
facility exit costs of $36.6 million. These
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costs included approximately $10.7 million for eoy#le, personnel and related costs, $18.2 milliomefal estate and telecommunications
service termination costs and $7.7 million in asege-downs.

The following table summarizes the statuthe accrued costs associated with the Phoenitacboenter facility exit costs as well as the
facility exit costs associated with the Contact t€elan as of and for the years ended Decembe&(BP, and 200:



Facility Balance Balance
Exit Non-Cash December 31, December 31,
Costs Items Payments 2002 Payments 2003

(in thousands)

Phoenix contact center facility exit cos

Severance and personnel related costs $ 1,72¢ $ — $ (1,42¢ $ 29€ $ (296) $ —
Real estate and telecommunications contract tetiimaosts 48€ — (48€) — — —
Write-off abandoned and disposed assets 1,282 (1,282) — — — —
$ 3,49z $ (1,289 $ (1,919 $ 29€ $ (296) $ —
;5§ 5§ B ___§
Facility Balance
Exit Non-Cash December 31,
Costs ltems Payments Adjustments 2003

(in thousands)

Facility exit costs associated with the Contactt€eRlan:

Severance and personnel related costs $ 10,737 $ — $ (11,220 $ 48 $ —

Real estate and telecommunications contract tetinmaosts, including

nor-cancelable leas¢ 18,207 — (7,839 (48%) 9,89

Write-off abandoned and disposed assets 7,652 (7,652 — — —
$ 36,59 $ (7,652 $ (19,057 $ — 3 9,89z

5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The following table presents the componehts® Company's acquired definite life intangibésets and goodwill and other indefinite life
intangible assets included in the accompanying Glateged Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2002G01@I

As of December 31, 2002 As of December 31, 2003
Gross Net Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated  Carrying Carrying Accumulated  Carrying
Value Amortization Value Value Amortization Value

(in thousands)

Acquired subscriber bas $ 326,29t $ (207,949 $ 118,35¢ $ 330,51 $ (292,246 $ 38,26
I S S S B

Goodwill and other indefinite life intangible ass $ 120,38: $ 118,23
— —

During the year ended December 31, 2008dwgdl decreased $2.2 million as a result of adpestts to the preliminarily estimated
amounts of liabilities assumed and identifiablesgsacquired, primarily related to accrued lialgiitrecorded in connection with acquisitions
for which actual costs were less than originalnestes.

Pursuant to SFAS No. 142, the Company p&$an impairment test annually during the fourhrter of its fiscal year or when events
and circumstances indicate the goodwill and othéefinite life intangible assets might be permalyeintpaired. During the years ended
December 31, 2002 and 2003, the
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Company's test indicated its goodwill and otheefirdte life intangible assets were not impairedeTCompany wrote-off approximately
$288.6 million in fully amortized definite life iahgible assets during the year ended Decembei082, 2

Acquisition-related amortization in the Gofidated Statements of Operations for the yeate@December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003
was $217.5 million, $110.9 million and $84.3 milliaespectively. For the year ended December 31,280 ortization of goodwill and other
indefinite life intangible assets amounted to $48iion. If EarthLink had adopted SFAS No. 142ddslanuary 1, 2001 and discontinued
amortization of goodwill and other indefinite lif@angible assets, the Company's net loss andsgter share on a pro forma basis would
have been as follows:



Year Ended
December 31, 2001

(in thousands, except per share
data)
(unaudited)

Net loss attributable to common stockhold:
As reported

L5

(370,94

©

As adjusted (328,669

Basic and diluted net loss per sh
As reported

©

.79

&

As adjusted (2.42)

The Company's definite life intangible dsg@imarily consist of subscriber bases and adiseets that are not deemed to have indefinite
lives acquired in conjunction with the purchasebudinesses and subscriber bases from other 18Psxtlude any acquired software.
Generally, definite life intangible assets are aimed on a straight-line basis over three yeamnftioe date of their respective acquisitions.
Based on the current amount of definite life inihtegassets, the Company expects to record ambatizexpense of approximately
$26.0 million, $11.0 million and $1.3 million dugrthe years ending December 31, 2004, 2005 and, 28§@ectively. Actual amortization
expense to be reported in future periods couleédffiom these estimates as a result of asset digpss changes in useful lives and other

relevant factors.
6. Investments in Marketable Securities

Short- and long-term investments in manletaecurities consist of debt securities clagbifie available-for-sale and have maturities
greater than 90 days from the date of acquisifit'e Company has invested primarily in U.S. corporaites and asset-backed securities, all
of which have a minimum investment rating of A, ajibernment agency notes. The Company determiadized gains and losses on a
specific identification basis. The realized gaind ésses are included in interest income and piiety in the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Operations. The following table sunzea
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proceeds received from the sale of available-fte-sacurities and realized gains and losses frensalhe of available-fosale securities for tt
years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and :

Year Ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003

(in thousands)

Proceeds from the sale of investme $ — $ 6269 $ 52,85
Realized gains from the sale of investme — 371 33€
Realized losses from the sale of investm — (329 (20

The following table summarizes unrealizaihg and losses on the Company's investments iketadnie securities based primarily on
guoted market prices at December 31, 2002 and 2003:

As of December 31, 2002 As of December 31, 2003
Gross Gross Estimated Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Losses Gains Value Cost Losses Gains Value

(in thousands)

Less than 12 months

U.S. corporate notes $ 87,427 $ (15 $ 414 $ 87,82¢ $ 67,31¢ $ 42 $ — $ 67,2T7%
Government agency not 1,502 12 — 1,49( 3,10(¢ — — 3,10(
Asset-backed securities 19,54: — 12C 19,66: 18,78¢ (75) — 18,71:

$ 108,47: $ 27 $ 534 $ 108,97¢ $ 89,20 $ (117 $ — $ 89,08t



12 months or longer

U.S. corporate notes $ 22,56¢ $ 12 $ 34 $ 22,58t $ 23,33« $ — 3 11 $ 23,34¢
Government agency notes — — — — 20,25( — 6 20,25¢
Asse-backed securitie 1,804 ) 4 1,80¢ 5,457 a7 — 5,43¢
$ 24,37 $ (14) $ 38 3 24,39: $ 49,03" $ 1a7n s 17 $ 49,03]
¥ ¥ ___§F __§F§ ¥ N N |
Total
U.S. corporate notes $ 109,99 $ 27 % 448 $ 110,41 $ 90,65 $ 42) $ 11 $ 90,62:
Government agency notes 1,502 12) — 1,49( 23,35( — 6 23,35¢
Asse-backed securitie 21,34¢ ) 124 21,46¢ 24,23¢ (92) — 24,14
$ 132,84. $ 41) $ 57z $ 133,37. $ 138,24. $ (134 $ 17 $ 138,12!
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7. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is recorded at cadtcansists of the following at December 31, 200@ 2003:

As of December 31,

2002 2003

(in thousands)

Data center and network equipm $ 21458. $ 232,50¢
Office and other equipme 208,78: 206,36t
Land and building: 13,51¢ 13,53¢
Leasehold improvemen 90,42: 80,37:
Construction in progres 202 11

527,50! 532,79:
Less accumulated depreciati (358,63)) (423,98)

$ 168,87 $ 108,81(

During the year ended December 31, 20@3Cimpany wrote-down and retired abandoned anaskspproperty and equipment
associated with the Contact Center Plan with ameggge net book value of $8.2 million. The retipedperty and equipment associated with
the Contact Center Plan, primarily leasehold imprognts and office equipment, had a cost basis&B3%tillion and accumulated
depreciation of $10.1 million. During the year edd®ecember 31, 2003, the Company reduced the ogriadlue of the OmniSky platform
$2.4 million, which had a cost basis of approxirha$6.0 million, and retired the asset.

Property under capital leases, primarifadammunications equipment, aggregated $22.9amidind $3.1 million at December 31, 2(
and 2003, respectively. Included in accumulatedeat2ation are amounts related to property undeitaldpase of $18.1 million and
$1.9 million at December 31, 2002 and 2003, re$pelgt Depreciation expense charged to operatismhich includes depreciation expense
associated with property under capital leases,$448.1 million, $106.7 million and $79.9 millionrfthe years ended December 31, 2001,
2002 and 2003, respectively.

8. Other Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Other accounts payable and accrued lisdslitonsist of the following at December 31, 200& 2003:

As of December 31,

2002 2003

(in thousands)

Accrued communications cos $ 59,83 $ 29,69¢
Accrued advertisin 28,87: 16,25(
Accrued taxe: 15,59¢ 16,397
Accrued bountie 9,41¢ 8,087

Liabilities associated with n-cancelable operating leas 6,05¢ 8,571



Accrued outsourced customer supf 5,84« 7,78(
Subscriber base and fixed asset purch 13,44: 4,90z
Other 23,48( 23,79t

$ 162,53 $ 115,48
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9. Common Stock
Shareholder Rights Plan

On August 6, 2002, the Board of Directatsgated a shareholder rights plan (the "Rights Bladii August 6, 2002, in connection with
the Rights Plan, the Board of Directors also dedlar dividend of one right for each outstandingsslof EarthLink's common stock for
stockholders of record at the close of busines&ugyust 5, 2002.

Each right entitles the holder to purchase one-thousandtht( 1000) of a share (a "Unit") of EarthLink's Series D igurPreferred
Stock at a price of $60.00 per Unit upon certaierds. Generally, in the event a person or entityges, or initiates a tender offer to acquire,
at least 15% of EarthLink's then outstanding comstoak, the rights will become exercisable for camnmstock having a value equal to two
times the exercise price of the right, or effedinast one-half of EarthLink's then-current stockcpr The rights are redeemable under certain
circumstances at $0.01 per right and will expirdess earlier redeemed, on August 6, 2012.

Common Stock Issuances for Other Than Cash

In March 2001, EarthLink agreed to issu@,@80 shares of its common stock to acquire soéweenses and development services 1
certain individuals over a period of nine monthader the agreement, the shares were issued amacaiastones were met. During the years
ended December 31, 2001 and 2002, the Companydid<iz000 shares and 110,000 shares of its comtnok, sespectively, valued at
$1.9 million and $1.3 million, respectively, basmdthe fair value of EarthLink's common stock oa tlates of issuance.

Share Repurchases

On August 6, 2002, the Board of Directqupraved a share repurchase program (the "Repuréhrageam") and authorized an initial
repurchase of up to $25.0 million of the Compangisimon stock. During the year ended December 313,28e Board of Directors
increased the amount authorized to repurchasedh®@ny's common stock by $125.0 million to a tof&$150.0 million. The Company mi
repurchase its common stock from time to time implance with the Securities and Exchange CommigsigSEC") regulations and other
legal requirements, and subject to market conditeomd other factors. The Repurchase Program daesdwire the Company to acquire any
specific number of shares and may be terminatadytime. During the years ended December 31, 20022003, the Company repurchased
2.6 million and 5.8 million shares, respectivelf/ite common stock for an aggregate purchase fidi4.2 million and $37.1 million,
respectively, pursuant to the Repurchase Progrdmchivhave been recorded as treasury stock in tengganying Consolidated Balance
Sheets as of December 31, 2002 and 2003.

In April 2003, the Company repurchasedrillion shares of its common stock from Sprint Gargtion ("Sprint") for $53.1 million,
which was executed pursuant to a separate auttiorizay the Board of Directors.

In October 2003, the Company filed a regitgin statement with the SEC with respect to aiss#on offer for approximately 0.2 million
unregistered shares of EarthLink common stockénBarthLink, Inc. 401(k) Plan. The estimated maximamount the Company would be
subject to pay is approximately $2.8 million. Tlesaission offer commenced subsequent to Decemb@0838 and is expected to close
during the second quarter of 2004. Amounts paigymmt to the rescission offer will be recorded as
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treasury stock based on the fair value of commocksacquired on the date the rescission offer egpand as expense to the extent that
amounts paid exceed amounts recorded as treasaky st

10. Convertible Preferred Stock

All issued and outstanding shares of Sekiasd Series B convertible preferred stock weild bg Sprint. Each share of Series A



Series B convertible preferred stock was convextitilo such number of shares of common stock asie@smined by dividing the

liquidation value per share in effect at such timehe conversion value per share in effect at $imeb. Sprint received dividends on Series A
and Series B convertible preferred stock at an almatie of 3% of the stated liquidation value geare, compounded quarterly. Through
June 2003, such dividends were payable "in kindivay of an increase in the liquidation value parshThe increase in the liquidation va
per share resulted in an increase in the converatimof the preferred stock, such that in Jun@32éhe liquidation value per share would
have been equal to the conversion value per singreach share of outstanding preferred stock wioaleg been convertible into one share of
common stock. Prior to June 30, 2003, the shar&eoés A and Series B convertible preferred steele converted into common stock at
less than a one to one ratio.

During the year ended December 31, 200&8nSgonverted approximately 9.0 million sharesSefies A convertible preferred stock into
8.8 million shares of the Company's common stoakir the year ended December 31, 2003, Sprinterded approximately 1.1 million a
16.8 million shares of Series A and Series B catitMerpreferred stock, respectively, into an apjrately equivalent number of shares of
common stock. The conversions represented alleobthistanding shares of Series A and Series B ctilofeepreferred stock. Consequently,
there are currently no shares of Series A or S&iesnvertible preferred stock outstanding andpetiagly, no associated dividend
obligations.

11. Deductions for Accretion Dividends

Increases in the liquidation value per shrasulting from the payment "in kind" of dividenais the Series A and Series B convertible
preferred stock are included in deductions for etden dividends and reduce the amount of earnittgbatable to common stockholders.
Deductions for accretion dividends includes apprately $20.4 million, $13.0 million and $3.0 miltidor the years ended December 31,
2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively, related to as®s in the liquidation value per share pursuatite@rovisions of the convertible preferred
stock.

Deductions for accretion dividends alsdudes amounts related to the beneficial converfg@atures of the Series A and Series B
convertible preferred stock recognized in accordamith EITF Issue No. 98-5, "Accounting for Convele¢ Securities with Beneficial
Conversion Features or Contingently Adjustable @osion Ratios," based upon the rate at which theemed stock becomes convertible. In
effect, the Series A and Series B convertible pretestock were issued at a discount to fair vadnel, the discounts were being accreted
through deductions for accretion dividends overgéegod from the date of issuance to the date éineersion ratio was equal to one to one in
June 2003. Deductions for accretion dividends ietuapproximately $9.5 million, $7.0 million and &nillion for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectivelgte@lto amounts recognized pursuant to EITF Issueé8BL5.

Because Sprint converted all of its Sefiesd Series B convertible preferred stock durlmgytear ended December 31, 2003, the
Company will not record any dividends associatetth wie Series A and Series B convertible prefestedk in future periods. See Note 10,
"Convertible Preferred Stock."
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12. Stock Compensation Plans and Warrants
Option Plans

The Company has granted options to purcties€ompany's common stock to employees and dieahder various stock incentive
plans. Under the plans, employees and non-empldiyeetors are eligible to receive awards of variforsns of equity-based incentive
compensation, including stock options, restrictetls restricted stock units and performance awdrls plans are administered by the B
of Directors or the Compensation Committee of tlearf8 of Directors, which determine the terms ofahards granted. Stock options are
generally granted with an exercise price equahéomarket value of a share of common stock on &lte of grant, have a term of ten years or
less, and vest over terms of four to six years fthendate of grant.

The Company has reserved 32.8 million shafeommon stock for the issuance of equity-baseentive compensation under its
various stock incentive plans, and 10.6 million evavailable for grant as of December 31, 2003.

Warrants

The Company has historically issued toaiennembers of its Board of Directors, customenssaltants, lessors, creditors and others
warrants to purchase shares of the Company's corstook. The Company did not issue warrants dutiegyears ended December 31, 2001,
2002 and 2003. As of December 31, 2003, warranpsitchase a total of 241,750 shares of common steck outstanding.

Options and Warrants Outstanding

The following table summarizes informatmoncerning stock option and warrant activity durihg years ended December 31, 2(



2002 and 2003:

Year Ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Stock Options Exercise Stock Options Exercise Stock Options Exercise
and Warrants Price and Warrants Price and Warrants Price
(shares in thousands)

Outstanding at beginning of ye 22,16¢ $ 15.07 21,02: $ 15.6¢ 28,35¢ $ 12.62
Granted 4,151 13.37 10,92¢ 7.2€ 2,43: 7.07
Exercised (1,82)) 4.4t (307) 3.08 (1,010 3.34
Canceled (3,479 15.6: (3,289 15.1¢ (7,037) 14.2¢

Outstanding at end of ye 21,022 15.6¢ 28,35¢ 12.62 22,74 11.9¢

—— —— ——

Options exercisable at year-end 8,40¢ 11,68¢ 12,757

Weighted average grant date fair value of opticasigd during

the year $ 10.7¢ $ 5.17 $ 4.3¢
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The following table summarizes the statuhe Company's stock options and warrants as cebder 31, 2003:

Stock Options and Warrants Outstanding Stock Options and

Warrants Exercisable

Weighted
Average Weighted
Range of Number Remaining Weighted Average Number Average

Exercise Prices Outstanding Contractual Life Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price

(in thousands) (in thousands)

$ 1.06t0$ 5.1 2,36¢ 681 $ 4.2¢ 861 $ 2.8¢€
531to 5.9 3,531 8.84 5.6¢ 79¢ 5.54
6.13to0 7.9 2,41¢ 8.3C 6.9¢ 73€ 6.9¢
8.00to 9.6 3,622 8.21 9.41 1,451 9.4:
9.83t0 10.0 4,214 6.5¢ 10.0¢ 3,39¢ 10.0¢
10.38to 15.0 1,88( 6.7¢ 12.6¢ 1,27¢ 12.5(
15.63to 24.2 2,07 6.27 19.5¢ 1,67: 20.1¢
2492to 514 2,63¢ 5.6¢€ 31.7¢ 2,56¢ 31.9(
$ 1.06 to $51.4 22,74: 727 $ 11.9¢ 12,757 $ 14.9¢
I I

Restricted Stock Units

During the year ended December 31, 20@8Cimpany issued 23,597 restricted stock unitsstodn-employee directors in
consideration of the non-employee directors' seraie directors. The weighted average grant dategdhie of the restricted stock units was
$8.90 per unit. The restricted stock units vestlagtbme exercisable over four years from the dageamt. The grant resulted in deferred
compensation of $0.2 million, which is includedstockholders' equity in the Consolidated BalanceeSat December 31, 2003. The
Company is amortizing the deferred compensatiom theevesting period of the restricted stock units.

Employee Sock Purchase Plan

During the year ended December 31, 20@2Cimpany adopted the ESPP. Under the terms &3P, eligible employees may have
up to 15% of eligible compensation deducted frogirthay to purchase EarthLink common stock. UnderESPP, withholdings are used to
purchase shares at the beginning of each quardepeit share purchase price equal to 85% of tisered the closing price on the first trading
day of the just completed quarter or the closirigepon the last trading day of the just completedrtgr. As of January 1, 2004, the Company
was authorized to issue up to 700,000 shares dfilEak common stock pursuant to the ESPP. Durimgytbars ended December 31, 2002
and 2003, employees purchased approximately 1020@®s and 221,000 shares, respectively, at veeigiverage purchase prices of $¢



per share and $5.13 per share, respectively.
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13. Income Taxes

The following table summarizes the sigrifitdifferences between the U.S. federal statutotyate and the Company's effective tax

for financial statement purposes for the years émcember 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003:

Year Ended December 31,

2001 2002

(in thousands)

Federal income tax benefit at statutory | $ (119,37) $ (51,81) $
State income taxes, net of federal ber (12,637 (6,69¢)
Nondeductible goodwill, acquisition costs and othermanen
items 13,38¢ —
Net change to valuation allowan 121,63: 58,22t
Other (3,019 28¢€

$ — $ — $

The Company acquired $49.4 million and 838illion of deferred tax assets, primarily relatedhet operating loss carryforwards, in
conjunction with the acquisitions of Cidco in Dedmn 2001 and PeoplePC in July 2002, respectivélgs& additional deferred tax assets

liabilities impact the net change to the valuatidiowance.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities incltitkfollowing as of December 31, 2002 and 2003:

As of December 31,

2002
(in thousands)
Deferred tax asset
Net operating loss carryforwar $ 283,25: %
Accrued liabilities and reserves 21,72¢
Subscriber base and other intangible assets 95,37:
Depreciation and other 30,31:
Total deferred tax assets 430,66
Valuation allowanct (430,66
Net deferred taxe $ — 8

At December 31, 2002 and 2003, the Comlynet operating loss carryforwards for federabine tax purposes totaling
approximately $671.9 million and $639.5 millionspectively, which begin to expire in 2010. At Dedem31, 2002 and 2003, the Company
had net operating loss carryforwards for statenmetax purposes totaling approximately $523.5 aniliand $404.7 million, respectively,
which started to expire in 2002. The Company aksh $35.5 million and $35.6 million of foreign ngdemating loss carryforwards at
December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively. UndetfaxeReform Act of 1986, the Company's ability telits federal, state and foreign net
operating loss carryforwards and federal and séateredit carryforwards to reduce future taxahtmime and future taxes, respectively, is
subject to restrictions attributable to equity sactions that have resulted in a change of owneeshdefined in Internal Revenue Code
Section 382. During the year ended December 313,286 Company reduced the net operating lossfcawsird deferred tax asset and the

associated valuation allowance by $28.8 million
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based on an analysis of Section 382 limitations@ated with acquired federal and state net opegdtiss carryforwards. As a result, the net
operating loss carryforward amount at DecembefB@3 reflects the restriction on the Company'stghiib use its federal and state net
operating loss carryforwards. The utilization aésb carryforwards could be further restricted tnrie periods which could result in
significant amounts of these carryforwards expipnigr to benefiting the Company. At December 3102and 2003, the net operating loss
carryforwards include $75.2 million and $76.8 noitlj respectively, related to the exercise of emgxostock options and warrants. Any
benefit resulting from the utilization of this piom of the net operating loss carryforward will dredited directly to equity. The Company has
provided a valuation allowance for its deferreddasets, including net operating loss carryforwasdsause of uncertainty regarding their
realization.

14. Commitments and Contingencies
Leases

The Company leases certain of its facd#ia®@d equipment under non-cancelable operatingsdeairing in various years through 2011.
Total rent expense in the years ended Decemb&081,, 2002 and 2003 for all operating leases anedutat $31.0 million, $29.7 million and
$26.2 million, respectively. The Company also Isasguipment, primarily data communications equiptn@mder non-cancelable capital
leases. Most of the Company's capital leases irahsdalation clauses and purchase options at theféhe lease term.

Minimum lease commitments under non-caridelieases at December 31, 2003 are as follows:

Capital Operating
Year Ending December 31, Leases Leases

(in thousands)

2004 $ 89 $ 28,87:
2005 30 22,58«
2006 — 19,43:
2007 — 14,91(
2008 — 6,547
Thereafte — 7,054
Total minimum lease paymer 928 99,39¢
Less aggregate sublease incc (12,487
Less amount representing inter 9)
Present value of future lease payme 914
Less current portio (889

$ 3¢ 3% 86,91:

Sgnificant Agreements

Access to the Internet for customers oetsitithe Company's base of owned POPs is providedgh capacity leased from a number of
third-party providers such as Level 3 and Spri@trtBL_ink is, in effect, buying this capacity in kudt a discount, and providing access to
EarthLink's customer base at
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EarthLink's normal rates. Amounts payable at Death, 2002 and 2003 under such agreements atsl@ttin accrued communications
costs in Note 8.

Minimum commitments under non-cancelablevoek service agreements are as follows at Dece®be?003:

Year Ending December 31,

2004 $ 117,49¢
2005 16,50¢
2006 2,65¢€
2007 81¢

2008 251



Total $ 137,72°

Telecommunications service costs from thesecancelable network service agreements to#d8.5 million, $263.3 million and
$212.0 million for the years ended December 31120002 and 2003, respectively.

15. Profit Sharing Plans

In January 2001, the Company consolidaieddgacy 401(k) savings plans of EarthLink Netwdnk. and MindSpring Enterprises, Inc.
into the EarthLink, Inc. 401(k) Plan ("Plan"). TR&n qualifies as a deferred salary arrangemergrudection 401(k) of the Internal Revenue
Code. Under the Plan, participating employees nedgrca portion of their pretax earnings up to thterdnal Revenue Service annual
contribution limit. Under the Plan, the Company sl discretionary matching contribution of 50%hef first 2% of base compensation and
33% of the next 4% of base compensation that écpaht contributes to the Plan. Subsequent to Bes 31, 2003, the Company increased
its matching contribution to 50% of the first 6%liEse compensation contributed to the Plan. Thep@agis matching contributions vest ¢
four years from the participant's date of hire.al abntributions for the years ended December 82122002 and 2003 were $1.3 million,
$2.3 million and $2.3 million, respectively.

16. Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Informatio

Year Ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003

(in thousands)
Issuance of common stock in conjuction with acdjiss $ 187¢ $ 1,341 $ =
Assets acquired pursuant to capital le: — 2,101 —
Cash paid during the year for inter 2,211 1,04t 877
Non-cash adjustments related to accretion divide 29,88( 19,981 4,58¢
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17. Related Party Transactions

Sorint

Through its ownership interest in EarthLiSlprint is considered a related party. The Comgesya marketing relationship with Sprint.
During the years ended December 31, 2002 and 200& ompany's relationship with Sprint generatqut@gmately 10% of EarthLink's
total gross organic subscriber additions. Spring marsue relationships with other ISPs, and a gt decrease in the number of gross
subscriber additions generated through the Comgpaelgtionship with Sprint would adversely affdet Company's results of operations.
During the year ended December 31, 2001, the Coygarclusive marketing and co-branding arrangesneith Sprint were terminated
which resulted in a non-cash charge of approximgaiel.3 million to write-off unamortized assetsated to the arrangements.

In connection with the Company's wholesadd customer referral arrangements with SprintCibmpany received approximately
$22.0 million, $26.4 million and $27.3 million dog the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and g&ctively. As of December 31,
2002 and 2003, the Company had accounts receivelbked to these arrangements with Sprint of $6lBomand $5.2 million, respectively.

EarthLink paid Sprint approximately $75.8lion, $75.4 million and $74.0 million during theears ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and
2003, respectively, associated with network seragpeements. The aggregate amount due to Spristigmirto these network service
agreements was $11.0 million and $15.8 million ac@mber 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively.

Apple

In connection with its multi-year partnagsivith Apple Computer, Inc. ("Apple"), EarthLinla Apple approximately $32.5 million
and $29.1 million during the years ended DecembiePB01 and 2002, respectively. The amount due &ppder the multi-year partnership
was $2.4 million at December 31, 2002. As of andlie year ended December 31, 2003, managemenbtwbnsider Apple to be a related
party based on its ownership interest.

ITC Holding Company, Inc.



Mr. Campbell B. Lanier and Mr. William Hc&t, who prior to February 16, 2001 served onGbenpany's Board of Directors, were
members of the Board of Directors of ITC Holdingn@gmany, Inc. ("ITC Holding"), which was a substahimvestor in EarthLink. ITC
Holding sold its 10.7 million shares of EarthLinBrmemon stock during February 2001. The Company edti&to certain business
relationships with several subsidiaries and affiésof ITC Holding. The Company purchased longadiise telephone services and wide area
network transport service from ITC DeltaCom, INtTC DeltaCom"), a related party through relatiopshwith ITC Holding. Long-distance
charges from ITC DeltaCom totaled approximately$8illion during the year ended December 31, 2001.

Officers and Directors

At December 31, 2002, the Company had neiesivable from one officer and one former offiaggregating $1.1 million. At
December 31, 2003, the Company had a note receifiavh one officer of $0.7 million. The notes re@dile at December 31, 2002 and 2003
are included in other current or long-term asspending on their respective maturities, in treoagpanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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The Company had commercial arrangements @iterture Services, Inc. (formerly known as Godmg ("Overture"), which was
acquired by Yahoo! Inc. in October 2003. A memidfehe Company's Board of Directors was the Chairofathe Board of Directors of
Overture. Overture was (but no longer is) Earthldrdefault search engine provider, and during #eyended December 31, 2001 and 2
Overture paid the Company approximately $6.8 mlimd $0.3 million, respectively, in connectiontwiihe commercial arrangements.

As of December 31, 2001, the Company hadenegjuity capital investments totaling $10.0 millia eCompanies Venture Group, L.P.
("EVG"), an affiliate of eCompanies, LLC ("eCompaesil). The carrying value of the investment in EMG&December 31, 2002 and 2003
was $0.9 million and $0.6 million, respectively.yShayton, EarthLink's Chairman of the Board of Bims, is a founding partner in EVG, a
limited partnership formed to invest in domesticeeging Internet-related companies, and a foundérdéector of eCompanies. The
Company recorded adjustments of $10.0 million, $6ilon and $0.2 million during the years endedcBber 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003,
respectively, to write equity investments in othempanies, including EVG, down to their estimatealizable values. During the year ended
December 31, 2001, the Company paid consultingdadsxpenses to eCompanies of approximately $MibrmThe Company made no
payments to eCompanies during the years ended eredth, 2002 and 2003 and has paid all amountsidder the contract with
eCompanies.

During the year ended December 31, 20@L.Cibmpany had commercial arrangements with a#iaif 4Sure.com, Inc. ("4Sure”). A
member of EarthLink's Board of Directors was thai@han of the Board of Directors of 4Sure througly 2001. The amount received from
4Sure during the year ended December 31, 2001 atavaterial.

During the year ended December 31, 20@2Cimpany entered into a commercial arrangemehtBatngo Wireless, Inc. ("Boingo™).
Sky Dayton, EarthLink's Chairman of the Board ofdators, is the founder and Chief Executive OfficEBoingo. The amounts paid to and
received from Boingo during the years ended Decer@be2002 and 2003 were not material.

18. Subsequent Event (Unaudited)

On January 6, 2004, EarthLink announcedmaprehensive plan to restructure its contact caygerations and further utilize outsourced
contact center service providers. Under the planthEink will close contact center operations inrtiEburg, Pennsylvania; Roseville,
California; San Jose, California; and Pasadenafd@ai and reduce its contact center operationstianta, Georgia by the end of the first
quarter of 2004. Approximately 1,300 employees hdldirectly impacted. The Company expects to ckaxcility exit costs of approximate
$36.0 million in the first quarter of 2004 assoedhtvith this plan. These costs include approxinyg®&B.0 million for employee, personnel
and related costs, $14.0 million for lease termamatosts and $9.0 million for non-cash asset wafts.

19. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following table sets forth certain udied quarterly consolidated financial data for éght quarters in the period ended
December 31, 2003. In the opinion of the Compamgaagement, this unaudited information has bequapee on the same basis as the
audited consolidated financial statements contalreedin and includes all adjustments (consistingasial recurring adjustments) necessary
to present fairly the information set forth theraihen read in conjunction with the consolidated
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financial statements and notes thereto. The operatisults for any quarter are not necessarilycatéie of results for any future period.

Three Months Ended



Mar. 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31, Mar. 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31,
2002 2002 2002 2002 2003 2003 2003 2003

(unaudited)
(in thousands, except per share data)

Revenue: $ 333,41( $ 335,45¢ $ 340,69¢ $ 347,85: $ 353,74¢ $ 352,250 $ 347,35. $ 348,57t
Operating costs and expenses 391,70° 374,01 369,09: 382,63 417,73¢ 368,19: 345,06: 337,90:
Income (loss) from operations (58,297 (38,557) (28,395 (34,777 (63,989 (15,940 2,291 10,67+
Interest income and other, r 3,72(C 3,702 2,69¢ 1,87( 2,05¢ 1,461 1,20¢ 44
Net income (loss (54,577 (34,850 (25,699 (32,907 (61,937 (14,479 3,50( 10,71¢
Deductions for accretion dividends (1) (6,117 (5,509 (4,369 (3,99¢6) (3,749 (842) — —
Net income (loss) attributable to comm
stockholders $ (60,690 $ (40,359 $ (30,069 $ (36,909 $ (65,677 $ (15,32) $ 3,50C $ 10,71¢

5§ 5§ B 5§y B B N |
Basic net income (loss) per share $ 0.47) $ 0.27) $ 0.20) $ 0.29 $ 0.4% $ 0.10) $ 0.0z $ 0.07
Diluted net income (loss) per share (2) $ 0.41) $ 0.27) $ 0.20) $ 0.29 $ 0.49 $ 0.10) $ 0.0z $ 0.07
Basic weighted average common shares
outstanding 148,40° 150,22¢ 152,23: 154,47: 153,40° 156,38t 159,99¢ 159,39¢
Diluted weighted average common shares
outstanding 148,40° 150,22t 152,23: 154,47 153,40° 156,38 162,74° 162,77:
) Reflects the accretion of the liquidation value pleare on the Series A and Series B convertibliepesl stock at a 3% annual rate, compounded glgréad dividends related

to the beneficial conversion features of the Sekiesd Series B convertible preferred stock in adance with EITF Issue No. 98-5.
@) Because of the method used in calculating per dletee the quarterly net income (loss) per shareuauts will not necessarily add to the net lossghere computed for the year.
F-32
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Exhibit Description
3.1 — Second Amended and Restated Certificaieamirporation of EarthLink, Inc. (incorporated ference to Exhibit 3.1 to the

Registration Statement on Forr-3 of EarthLink, Inc—File No. 33-109691).

3.2 — Amended and Restated Bylaws of EarthLink, Inc.diporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Reaiigin Statement on
Form &3 of EarthLink, In—File No. 33-109691).

4.1 — Specimen Common Stock Certificate (incorporateddigrence to Exhibit 4.3 of the Registration Staetron Form S-8 of
EarthLink, Inc—File No. 33:-30024).

4.2 — Rights Agreement, dated as of August 6, 2002, betviEarthLink, Inc. and American Stock Transfer @&nast Co.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Eantiid.Inc.'s Form -K, dated August 6, 20—File No. 00-15605).

10.1 — EarthLink, Inc. Stock Incentive Plan, as amendeddiiporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 of Eartlid imc.'s Post Effective
Amendment to Registration Statement on Fo-8—File No. 33:-39456).

10.2 — EarthLink, Inc. Equity Plan for Non-Employee Dirert, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibof EarthLink,
Inc.'s Post Effective Amendment to RegistratiorteSteent on Form -8—File No. 33:-108065).

10.3 — EarthLink, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan for Dioes and Certain Key Employees (incorporated fsremce to Exhibit
4.5 of EarthLink, Inc.'s Post Effective AmendmenRegistration Statement on Fori-8—File No. 33:-108065).

10.4 — 1995 Stock Option Plan and Form of Stock Optione®gnent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.&EafthLink, Inc.'s
Registration Statement on Forr-8—File No. 33:-30024).

105 — MindSpring Enterprises, Inc. 1995 Stock Option PEsamended (incorporated by reference to Ex4ibibf EarthLink,
Inc.'s Registration Statement on For-8—File No. 33--30024).

10.6 — MindSpring Enterprises, Inc. 1995 Directors Stogki@n Plan, as amended (incorporated by refereméxhibit 4.6 of
EarthLink, Inc.'s Registration Statement on For-8—File No. 33:-30024).



10.7 — EarthLink, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Rlacorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of Bhihk, Inc.'s Registration
Statement on Form-8—File No. 33:-83870).

10.8 — Office Lease Agreement dated November 16, 199%vdm Kingston Atlanta Partners, L.P. and MindSpéEingerprises,
Inc., as amended (incorporated by reference toliixh®.1 of EarthLink, Inc.'s Report on Form 10-@ the quarterly period
ended March 31, 20—File No. 00:-15605).

10.9 — Office Lease by and between The Mutual Life Insaea@ompany of New York, and EarthLink Network, [rdated
September 20, 1996, as amended (incorporated éserefe to Exhibit 10.2 of EarthLink, Inc.'s RepmitForm 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended March 31, 2—File No. 00:-15605).

10.10 — Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefl@suary 28, 2003, between EarthLink, Inc. ahdr@s G. Betty,
President and Chief Executive Officer of EarthLiiig. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.JEafthLink, Inc.'s
Report of Form 1-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, z—File No. 00--15605).
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21.1* — Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23.1* — Consent of Independent Auditors.

24.1* — Power of Attorney (see the Power of Attorney in signature page hereto).

31.1* — Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant$ecurities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and I%4das adopted pursuan
Section 302 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2* — Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant $ecurities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15&44dopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbar-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1* — Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuantdiio8e906 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2% — Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuantdido8e906 of the

Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

*

Filed herewith.

E-2

QuickLinks

EARTHLINK, INC. Annual Report on Form 10-K For tieear Ended December 31, 2003
TABLE OF CONTENTS
PART |

Item 1. Business.

Item 2. Properties.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Secudbjders.

PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity areda®ed Stockholder Matters.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data.
Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis ofufréial Condition and Results of Operations.

Item 7a. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosuresud Market Risk



Item 8. Financial Statements And Supplementary Data
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accotsitam Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
Item 9a. Controls and Procedures.

PART IlI

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of thegR&ant.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficiali@rs and Management.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Traiwmast

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Scheduled,Reports on Form 8-K.

SIGNATURES

EARTHLINK, INC. INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

EARTHLINK, INC. CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (in thesands, except per share data)
EARTHLINK, INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATINS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY ANDOMPREHENSIVE LOSS
EARTHLINK, INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FL®/'S

EXHIBIT INDEX

QuickLinks-- Click here to rapidly navigate through this domnt

Exhibit 21.1
Subsidiaries of the Registrant
Jurisdiction of
Name Incorporation
EarthLink/OneMain, Inc Delaware
PeoplePC Inc Delaware
Cidco Incorporate: Delaware
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-80823-34810, 333-39456, 383870,
333-96553, 333-108065) and Form S-3 (Nos. 333-59358-48100, 333-109691) of EarthLink, Inc. andhie related Prospectuses of our
report dated January 26, 2004, with respect tedmsolidated financial statements of EarthLink, included in this Annual Report

(Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2003.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
March 4, 2004
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CEO PURSUANT TO
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14 AND 15d-14
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Charles G. Betty, the Chief Executive OfficerkdrthLink, Inc., certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-Ktfier year ended December 31, 2003 of EarthLink; Inc
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtajnuntrue statement of a material fact or om#itéde a material fact

necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements odimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaaral for, the periods
presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disete controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and1Hgd)) for the registrant and have:

(@) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures tlesigned
under our supervision, to ensure that materialrinégion relating to the registrant, including itnsolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others with@se entities, particularly during the period ihigh this report is
being prepared,;

(b) [Omitted in reliance on SEC Release No. 33-823848486 Section III.E.];

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantdatsire controls and procedures and presentedsimeport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discisantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the regi¢ganternal control over financial reporting tleacurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regists fourth quarter in the case of an annualrtgftat has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the registrant's internal control over finahceporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | kalisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatidhgtregistrant's auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant's board téators (or persons performing the equivalent fions):

@ all significant deficiencies and material weaknedsehe design or operation of internal controlécl are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's abilibyrecord, process, summarize and report finamntiaimation; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesnagement or other employees who have a significéain the
registrant's internal control over financial repugt

Date: March 5, 2004 By: /s/ CHARLES G. BETTY

Charles G. Betty
Chief Executive Office
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Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CFO PURSUANT TO
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14 AND 15d-14
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Lee Adrean, the Chief Financial Officer of Eduithk, Inc., certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-Ktfier year ended December 31, 2003 of EarthLink; Inc
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not coraynuntrue statement of a material fact or oméitate a material fact

necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementswade, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsodimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaaral for, the periods
presented in this report;

4, The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disgte controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and1Bd)) for the registrant and have:

(@) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures tlesigned
under our supervision, to ensure that materialrinégion relating to the registrant, including itnsolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others with@se entities, particularly during the period ihigh this report is
being prepared;

(b) [Omitted in reliance on SEC Release No. 33-823848486 Section III.E.];

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantdatsire controls and procedures and presentedsimeport our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discisantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change in the regi$ganternal control over financial reporting tloatcurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regis's fourth quarter in the case of an annualrtgfwat has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registrant's internal control over finahceporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | kalisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatidhgtregistrant's auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant's board tators (or persons performing the equivalent fions):

(@) all significant deficiencies and material weaknsssahe design or operation of internal controfécl are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's abilibyrecord, process, summarize and report finamnti@imation; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involveanagement or other employees who have a significéain the
registrant's internal control over financial repugt

Date: March 5, 2004 By: /s/ LEE ADREAN

Lee Adrean
Chief Financial Officel
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CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT T O
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report ondt0-K of EarthLink, Inc. (the "Company") for thear ended December 31, 2003 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#tte hereof (the "Report"), I, Charles G. Bettyig€Executive Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, agp#stbpursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxewf 2002, to my knowledge that:

(1)  the Report fully complies with the requirementsSefiction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly pmets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operations
of the Company.

/sl CHARLES G. BETTY

Charles G. Betty
Chief Executive Officer
March 5, 2004
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CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANTT O
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report onRdt0-K of EarthLink, Inc. (the "Company") for thear ended December 31, 2003 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#te hereof (the "Report"), I, Lee Adrean, Chiefdricial Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, agpsstbpursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxtewpf 2002, to my knowledge that:

(1)  the Report fully complies with the requirementsSefiction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchangeoA 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly @ets, in all material respects, the financial cbodiand results of operations
of the Company.

/sl LEE ADREAN

Lee Adrean
Chief Financial Officer
March 5, 2004
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SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

End of Filing



Pmudﬂym J A ‘m

© 2005 | EDGAR Online, Inc.



